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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

2300 Wilshire Blvd., |
Santa Monica

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present, as the chairman of the board
of directors (the “Board”) of GR Properties Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
the report for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the
“Year”).

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group began an entirely new era in its history
during 2018, following the successful transformation of
the Company from one that was engaged in property
investment, hotel management and the sale of dye-
sublimation printed products since 2014 into a company
engaging in (i) the provision of property management
services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”);
(ii) property development and investment worldwide, and
iii) operation and management of a leisure and lifestyle
ience centre in the PRC.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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In recent years, numerous acquisitions such as Juxon
House, Boundary House in London, Santa Monica project
in Los Angeles together with property management
and leisure and lifestyle experience business brought
significant contributions to the development of the Group.
The management team illustrated a more dynamic and
professional business style. The main direction of the
management team has been to build on the Group’s long
and extensive experience and excellent track record in
property development and investment industry in the PRC,
in order to channel its capabilities in new directions that
will create greater value for its shareholders. All these
efforts have begun to produce a significant improvement
in the Group’s financial performance in 2018.

During 2018, the Company has made two important
strategic moves, namely (i) an open offer, which raised
around HK$728.05 million and (ii) acquisition of the entire
capital of Wise Expert Investment Limited, which indirectly
held a portions of office units at Guorui Square Block B,
Beijing, the PRC. The open offer further strengthened the
Group’s solid financial base and the acquisition provides a
stable revenue stream to the Group in future.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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In future, we will explore different equity and debt fund-
raising opportunities to fund our future projects provided
that the costs of funding is reasonable. Other than the
investment in Culver City of Los Angeles, we will continue
to seek investment opportunities for property development
and investment in the USA or Europe given the return is
reasonable. Nevertheless, the Group will not rule out any
other possibilities to divest its investment with decent
return. The Board will continue the strategy to expand the
Group in future.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to the fellow members of the Board, and on
behalf of the Board, the management and entire staff of
the Group for their diligent work and contribution in the
past year. Last but not the least, | would like to extend my
sincerest appreciation to the investors and shareholders
of the Company for their continuing confidence in and
support for the Group over the years. In 2019, the business
portfolio of the Group will continue to be optimised and
rationalised to provide the Company’s future development
and business growth with a motive force. We will devote
our best efforts to generate encouraging returns for our
supportive shareholders.

Yours faithfully,
WEI CHUNXIAN
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019

\
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

The Company has taken a big stride forward in year
2018. Our management is pleased to share with
our supportive shareholders that we have made two
strategic moves in 2018 which further expands our
asset portfolio and equity base.

Open Offer

On 24 May 2018, the Company proposed to raise
approximately HK$728.05 million by way of open offer
(the “Open Offer”), whereby 910,932,662 shares of the
Company (“Shares”) shall be allotted and issued on
the basis of one (1) offer Share for every (2) existing
Shares held by the Shareholders on the record date.
The Open Offer will only be available to the qualifying
Shareholders. The Open Offer is fully underwritten
by Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited, a
company ultimately controlled by Mr. Wei Chunxian
(“Mr. Wei”), Chairman of the Board and director of the
Company (“Director(s)”) pursuant to the underwriting
agreement.

Given the proceeds from Open Offer will be used to
repay the outstanding liabilities and to finance the
working capital of the Group, the Open Offer shall
increase the total assets of the Group by approximately
HK$176.13 million and decrease the total liabilities of
the Group by HK$551.92 million. As such, the gearing
ratio of the Group, as expressed as the ratio of total
debts to total equities, would potentially decrease
after completion of the Open Offer.

Hence, the Directors are of the view that the decrease
of the gearing ratio could (1) strengthen the negotiation
power of the Company to renew or obtain banking
facilities; and (2) improve the financial position of the
Group, which in turn will benefit the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole. The Open Offer was
completed on 24 July 2018.

For the details of the Open Offer, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 24 May 2018 and
circular dated 29 June 2018.
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Acquisition of the entire issued share
capital of Wise Expert Investment Limited,
which indirectly held a property, comprising
offices and basement of Guorui Square
Block B in Beijing, the PRC

On 30 May 2018 (after trading hours), the Company,
Winluck Global Limited, (“Vendor A”), being a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei, and Silky Apex
Limited, (“Vendor B”), being a company wholly-owned
by Mr. Sun Zhongmin, a Director (collectively defined
as the “Vendors”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell and the
Company has conditionally agreed to purchase the
entire issued share capital of Wise Expert Investment
Limited at the consideration of HK$1,541,320,000.
Since Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun Zhongmin are Directors,
the Agreement constituted a connected transaction of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Consideration shall be paid to the Vendors in the
following manner:

(i) as to HK$361,260,800, by the allotment and
issuance of consideration Shares at the issue
price of HK$0.80 per Share, being 410,934,160
new Shares to Vendor A (or to its designated
nominee(s)) and 40,641,840 new Shares to
Vendor B (or to its designated nominee(s)), by
the Company pursuant to the payment schedule
as set out in the Agreement; and

(i) as to the balance of HK$1,180,059,200, by the
issuance of convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$1,073,853,872 to
Vendor A (or to its designated nominee(s))
and HK$106,205,328 to Vendor B (or to its
designated nominee(s)), by the Company
pursuant to the payment schedule as set out
in the Agreement. The convertible bonds are
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company
at an initial conversion price of HK$0.80 per
share.

GR PROPEIE{TIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Wise Expert Investment Limited and its subsidiaries
are the sole owner of the property (the “Property”),
located at Ronghua South Road, Daxing District,
Beijing, the PRC, with a gross floor area of
approximately 21,856.46 square meters, which is
a composite residential/commercial development,
comprising of residential, hotel, services apartment
and office. Guorui Square Block B (the “Building”) is
a 36-storey office building over a 3-storey basement
for storage and plant room purposes. The Property
comprises the whole of the basements, the whole of
Levels 2 to 11, Unit 108 on Level 1M and Units 1201,
1202 and 1203 on Level 12M of the Building.

The Board considers the acquisition will allow the
Group to strengthen its asset base and further develop
its existing property management business. The
Directors believe that the acquisition can optimise the
property portfolio of the Group and broaden its income
base through the stable rental incomes generated
from the Property.

The transaction was first completed on 17 August
2018 upon fulfillment of the first set of conditions
precedent under the Agreement.

For the details of this acquisition, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 30 May 2018 and
circular dated 20 July 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE WL

2. BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year”),
the Group’s operations are organised into business
units based on the nature of their operations. There
are three reportable operating segments, including (i)
the property management segment; (ii) the property
development and investment segment; and (iii) the
operation and management of a leisure and lifestyle
experience centre. The first and third segments are
located in the PRC, the second segment is located in

the USA, UK and the PRC.

2.1 Property management segment
IR EEERBR A A(Beijing AOCEAN
Property Management Company Limited*, or
“AOCEAN Property Management”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, was
engaged in the property management segment.
As at 31 December 2018, AOCEAN Property
Management managed 21 major residential and
commercial property projects, which 15 projects
were located in Beijing, the PRC and 6 newly
added projects during the second half of 2018
were located in Hebei, the PRC. The services
provided by AOCEAN Property Management
under the management agreements thereof
include, inter alia (i) provision of heat supply
and maintenance services of heat exchange
stations and pipeline network; (ii) provision of
management services to car parks such as
maintenance of various facilities and equipment
in the car parks; and (iii) provision of property
management services to vacant properties and
general management services such as repair
and maintenance of buildings and fire safety
equipment and was facilities for residential and

commercial property projects.

Adhering to the principle of human-oriented, and
seeing from the perspective of customers and
market needs, AOCEAN Property Management
has been improving and perfecting
management system and service products
so as to embed management into services
and provide quality services wholeheartedly.
AOCEAN Property Management
dedicated to establishing community service
network, enhancing Online to Online (“0207)
development for the community and providing
attentive services in order to improve customer

satisfaction.

.

for identification purpose only.
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2.2

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property development and investment
segment

During the Year, the property development and
investment segment is located in the USA, UK
and the PRC.

Santa Monica Project

2.2

THEB W Lo
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In August 2015, the Group acquired a parcel of
land located in Santa Monica, the County of Los
Angeles, State of California, the USA. The parcel
of land has a total site area of approximately
40,615 square feet. Total rentable/saleable
floor area is approximately 38,000 square feet
for residential use and approximately 25,000
square feet for commercial use and 190 on-site
subterranean parking spaces upon completion
of the development. The development cost
of the land had been funded by way of
construction loan from bank in the USA and
internal resources of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE WL

\

For the commercial area, lease agreement
with a famous supermarket has been entered
into, representing approximately 60% of total
commercial rentable area. We are actively
negotiating with several potential tenants to
lease up the remaining areas. Property leasing
agent has been appointed for the residential
lease. Marketing campaign will be launched to
market in the first half of 2019 tentatively.

The infrastructure work of Santa Monica Project
has been completed and interior work is
conducted underway. This project is expected
to be completed in first half of 2019. The delay
can be attributable to the shortage of labour in
the construction industry in Los Angeles. The
plan of Santa Monica Project was to lease the
commercial units and the residential units.

Culver City Project

BREODRTENZABNAHM
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B H60% ° HAEREEREET
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On 14 September 2018, the Group and the
Sellers entered into an agreement in relation
to the acquisition of the entire partnership
interests, which indirectly owns a parcel of
land in Culver City of Los Angeles in the United
States.

\ \
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Upon completion and subject to the relevant
governmental approval(s), the Group intends
to develop this land into: (i) one hundred and
eight (108) multi-family residential apartment
units, including eleven (11) rent-restricted
affordable housing units, with such residential
units containing 132,589 gross square feet; (ii)
3,600 gross square feet of retail space; and (iii)
two levels of subterranean parking consisting of
184 parking spaces. The consideration for the
acquisition of the entire partnership interests
finally adjusted to US$24,000,000.

The completion took place on 26 March 2019.

The Directors consider the acquisition to be an
attractive investment opportunity to broaden the
Group’s property development operations in
the United States, as this land is located within
walking distances to the heart of Culver City,
Los Angeles, which is the hub of a number of
motion pictures and other production studios
and is close to transportation network. This
project is expected to mark the Group’s further
entrenchment in the western United States
and enhance the Group's overall geographical
diversification of business.

For the details of this acquisition, please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 14
September 2018, 9 November 2018, 1 February
2019 and 27 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE WL

Boundary House

Boundary House

Boundary House is located at the crossover
between the increasingly vibrant Aldgate
district popular with technology media
telecommunications occupiers and the
established city of London financial and
insurance heartland. Boundary House is also
close to numerous mainline and underground
stations with convenient access of rail
transportation, including the new Crossrail,
which is a high speed train expected to be
delivered and in service in second half of
2019 connecting the East-West of London.
Boundary House is an office building with a
net internal floor area of approximately 45,062
square feet, which comprises a ground floor
and seven upper floors, basement storage and
seven car park spaces. As at 31 December
2018, Boundary House is 89% occupied and
is currently let to 12 office tenants. The leases
can contribute approximately £1.1 million rental
income to the Group annually, disregarding the
rent free period provided to tenants.

The Group will study the feasibility of the
redevelopment plan of Boundary House,
assuming taking place in 2021. If the
redevelopment is to proceed, it is believed that
the gross floor area shall be increased subject
to government approval.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Juxon House

THEB W Lo

Juxon House

Juxon House is located at 100 St Pauls
Churchyard, London, the UK. It situates in a
prominent position on the northern-western
side of St Pauls Cathedral, on the corner
of Ludgate Hill/St Paul’'s Churchyard to
the south and Ave Maria Lane to the west,
with Paternoster Square to the east, which
is a prime professional and financial district
with the London Stock Exchange and some
multinational organizations having offices in
the near vicinity. Juxon House is a grade A
commercial building with a net lettable floor
area of approximately 123,781 square feet,
among which the office accommodation, the
retail accommodation, and the ancillary and
storage area have a net lettable floor area of
100,774 square feet, 20,083 square feet and
2,924 square feet respectively. Juxon House
comprises a lower ground floor, a ground floor
and five upper floors, basement storage and
20 car park spaces. As at 31 December 2018,
Juxon House was fully let to four office tenants
and four retail tenants, which contributed
approximately £6.1 million rental income to
the Group annually, disregarding the rent free
period provided to tenants.

Juxon HousefiZ % & B fa 3
ERBENEEME1005 - K
PEREBRERLZHEI A
Z #E &M - B E AlLudgate
Hil, " BRBEHEZEW AE
AAve Maria Lane - i % & &)
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AP E IR ° Juxon HouseB
—EAGEERF AL BEE
FBEELHA123,781FF R -
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mfE 5 5l A100,774F 5 R -
20,083 F 5 R & 2924 F 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRw N

Portion of offices and basement of Guorui 1 B 3f B £ B 5B 2 38 5
Square Block B in Beijing, the PRC WARERM T Z

For the transaction detail, please refer to BRARSH1E  H2HEEE
“Overview of the year” under Management AmkoME TN AFER
Discussion and Analysis. B -

As at 31 December 2018, this property is RZE—NFF+ZA=+—
currently under renovation. It is estimated this B ZYMEFTERBIEER -
property will be handed over to the Group in I B ZWEBR _Z
the first half of 2019 accordingly. Pre-leasing —NFL¥EFXITFAER - fE
activities shall commence afterwards. EReERABMEES -
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2.3

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operation and management of leisure
and lifestyle experience centre

2.3

THEB W Lo

KA R B 1 4 5E 88 B P O
ZEERERE

Operation and management of leisure and
lifestyle experience centre

Wholly Express Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Wholly Express Group”) are principally
engaged in the operation and management
of leisure and lifestyle experience centre,
including but not limited to provision of
catering, banquet, fitness and sport facilities
services. Such services are provided in a
property located at Ronghua South Road,
Economic-Technological Development Area,
Beijing, the PRC, which is self-owned by Wholly
Express Group.

The property is located in Economic
Technological Development Area located in
Yizhuang (%) at the southeast of Beijing,
the PRC, which is surrounded by an area of
large construction site under development.
The construction site includes hotel,
offices, residential and retail properties.
The development of the remaining area is
estimated to be completed gradually until 2022.
During the period under review, the turnover
increased dramatically from HK$77,489,000 to
HK$90,158,000 in 2017 and 2018 respectively.
Although the Wholly Express Group incurred
net loss in the period under review which was
mainly due to the surrounding area still being
under development, the Company expects that
the operation of leisure and lifestyle experience
centre by the Wholly Express Group will
gradually improve with the effect of increasing
population and flow of people in surrounding
area upon the completion of the construction
site.

KBRS ETRERAP O ZE
EREE

Wholly Express Limited%
Bf B8 A & ([Wholly Expresst
EDxZRE=—EARARRE
MAEEERTLZEEREE
(BREETRAREENR =
g @B@AREERERE) -
% % Bk % T 5 — 18 HWholly
Express&E BB & ~ L A A
Jb A BT B B (S A EE T B
2 FE AR o

ZMEMRFEILERTRE I
A ERMRAERE - BB
ORI IEFE R3S - 3232
STHKHEBRE  HAZE - F
ENTEME-BHTREZ
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ERZE—tFR=ZFT—N
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90,158,0007% 7T ° & EWholly
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HEASREMERZmEE
B 1B F 58 - AR A FEFTWholly
Expresss B /9K ) & B & 4
EERBRA L ZEERABERE
LTREXBHBEREZREA
A& ARG N EFRA -

FERE 2018 EBIHERRAE

| d

-/

A

7

X



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

T 2A aNy
EBE WAoo
3. FINANCIAL REVIEW B4 7% O] B8
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
5= H=
—E-N\F§ —E—+tF
+=-—A=+-8 +=ZA=+—8H
IEEE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Turnover 20 361,282 229,822
Profit/(Loss) for the year FRAE(FHE) 9,430 (65,014)
Assets and liabilities EEREE 2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Total assets BEHRE 5,030,079 2,415,782
Total liabilities BERTE 1,575,564 1,306,958
Net assets EERE 3,454,515 1,108,824
Total debts BIETS 1,023,094 826,757
Capital liquidity ratio® B AN Eh B 0.54 1.28
Gearing ratio* BEEBEXR 29.6% 74.6%

Bank balances and cash divided by current liabilities

# Total debts divided by total equity

\

~/ |

Ny |
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3.1

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial analysis

During the Year, the Group achieved a revenue
of approximately HK$361,282,000 (year
ended 31 December 2017: approximately
HK$229,822,000). The substantial increase in
revenue is mainly attributable to the completion
of the acquisition of Juxon House in January
2018 which has contributed almost full year
rental income of approximately HK$63,945,000
to the Group during the Year. The increase in
revenue during the Year was also contributed
from the property management segment. During
the Year, 21 major residential and commercial
projects were managed by the Group in
Beijing and Hebei while only 13 projects under
management in 2017.

The Group recorded profit for the Year of
approximately HK$9,430,000 (year ended
31 December 2017: loss of approximately
HK$65,014,000). The profit for the Year was
mainly due to:

(i) The net profit generated from Juxon
House, located at 100 St Pauls
Churchyard, London, the UK. Juxon
House was acquired at £134,500,000
in November 2017 and completed
in January 2018, which contributed
rental income of HK$63,945,000 from
the lease of Juxon House. During the
Year, its net profit before fair value loss
was approximately HK$23,086,000,
which was offset by the fair value loss
of HK$33,716,000 in Juxon House.
After taking into account of 5% stamp
duty and other transaction costs, the
carrying value of Juxon House became
approximately £142,200,000. Pursuant
to the independent valuer's appraisal
report, its fair value was £139,000,000.
As such, fair value loss was made
accordingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MEEF ﬂL Gl & Tﬁ

(i) The recognition of the aggregate of fair
value gain and fair value gain upon
transfer of a property under development
to investment property under
construction of HK$53,326,000 on Santa
Monica Project located at Los Angeles of
USA. Following the construction status
of a property development project
approaching completion, fair value gain
will be recognized accordingly.

(i) The segment result of HK$36,851,000
contributed by property management
segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
construction loan for Santa Monica Project had
a balance of approximately US$14,485,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$113,440,000)
(year ended 31 December 2017:
HK$55,121,000). In addition, the Group had two
loans in aggregate of £91,051,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$909,654,000) (year
ended 31 December 2017: HK$146,356,000)
with Boundary House and Juxon House being
charged as security for the loan. During the
Year, the Group has no other new borrowings.

During the vyear ended 31 December
2016, the Company and Wintime Company
Limited, an immediate holding company of
the Company, entered into a shareholder
loan facility agreement, pursuant to which
Wintime Company Limited agrees to provide
a facility with amount up to HK$250,000,000
to the Company. This shareholder’s loan is
unsecured, interest bearing at 2% per annum
and repayable on 36 months after drawdown.
During the year ended 31 December 2017,
the Company and Wintime Company Limited,
entered into another shareholder loan facility
agreement, pursuant to which Wintime
Company Limited agrees to provide a facility
with amount up to HK$1,500,000,000 to the
Company for financing the working capital
requirements of the Group in connection with
its property acquisition and development. This
shareholder loan is also unsecured, interest
bearing at 2% per annum and repayable on 36
months after drawdown.

GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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3.2

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash flow management and liquidity risk

Management of the Group’s cash flows is
the responsibility of the Group’s treasury
function at the corporate level. Our objective
is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through a combination
of internal resources, bank borrowings, debts
and equity securities, where appropriate. We
are comfortable with our present financial
and liquidity position, and will continue to
maintain a reasonable liquidity buffer to ensure
sufficient funds are available to meet liquidity
requirements at all times.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure of the Group by using a gearing ratio,
which is calculated on the basis of dividing
the total debts by total equity. The review is
conducted at least semi-annually and before
each major financing or investment decision
is made. The Group objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and
the flexibility through the use of borrowings
including bank and other borrowings,
shareholder’s loan and other bond instruments,
if any. The Group also monitors the current
and expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants regularly
to ensure that it maintains sufficient working
capital and adequate committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirement.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had unutilised
facilities of approximately HK$1,500,000,000
(831 December 2017: approximately
HK$1,124,720,000) from Wintime Company
Limited. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group has cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$345,163,000 (31 December
2017: approximately HK$723,891,000) and
total debts of approximately HK$1,023,094,000
(31 December 2017: approximately
HK$826,757,000), which is considered as a
healthy level of liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRw N

3.3

3.4

3.5

\

Foreign currency exposure

During the Year, the Group’s business
operations were principally in the PRC, UK and
the USA and the main operational currencies
are HK$, RMB, £ and United States dollars
(“US$”). The Group’s transactions were mainly
denominated in RMB, £ and US$. The majority
of assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$, RMB, £ and US$. Any significant
exchange rate fluctuations of foreign currencies
against HK$ may have financial impact to the
Group. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy at present. However,
the Group will closely monitor the exchange
rate movement trend and take corresponding
measures in a timely manner to reduce foreign
currency exchange risk and exposure.

Human resources and remuneration
policy

As at 31 December 2018, the total number of
employees of the Group (excluding Directors)
was 724 (31 December 2017: 370). Most of
them were located in the PRC.

Remuneration offered by the Group was
determined in accordance with the relevant
policies in Hong Kong, the PRC and the USA
and with reference to market trend, as well
as individual competence and performance
of the staff. Other related benefits included
contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes, social insurance and medical
insurance funds.

Final dividend

The Board resolved not to declare any final
dividend for the Year (year ended 31 December
2017: Nil)

| \
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3.6

3.7

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
investment properties with an amount of
approximately HK$2,175,670,000 (31 December
2017: approximately HK$470,948,000) and
properties held for sale with an amount of
approximately HK$Nil (31 December 2017:
approximately HK$154,980,000) to secure bank
borrowings of approximately HK$1,023,094,000
(31 December 2017: approximately
HK$201,477,000). Such bank borrowings
comprise of the construction loan for Santa
Monica Project and the loan with Boundary
House and Juxon House being charged as
security.

As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables of
approximately HK$3,321,000 (31 December
2017: approximately HK$61,000) in total was
pledged to secure a bank loan granted to the
Group.

As at 31 December 2018, deposit amounting to
approximately HK$39,230,000 (31 December
2017: HK$39,636,000) has been pledged to
secure standby letter of credit issued to the
general contractor for Santa Monica Project.

Capital and other development related
commitment and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group
had no material contingent liabilities. As at 31
December 2018, the Group had contracted but
not provided for commitments for development
costs and capital expenditure in amount of
approximately HK$26,033,000 (31 December
2017: approximately HK$103,548,000)
and acquisition of partnership interest in a
parcel of land in Los Angeles in amount of
approximately HK$184,040,000 (31 December
2017 approximately HK$1,358,420,000 in
relating to the acquisition of Juxon House),
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BERBwm LD

3.8

3.9

Property valuations

Property valuations on the Group’s investment
properties located in the UK and the USA
and the property located in the PRC as at
31 December 2018 have been carried out
by independent qualified professional valuers,
Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, Knight Frank LLP,
Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc and Knight
Frank Petty Limited, respectively. The property
valuations were used in preparing 2018 annual
results. The valuations were based on income
capitalisation approach and sales comparison
approach.

Significant investments and Material
acquisitions and disposals of

subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures

For significant investments held, their
performance during the year and their

future prospects, please refer to Section 2
“Business Review” in this announcement. Save
as disclosed, the Group had no significant
investments during the year.

For acquisitions during the Year, please refer
to Section 1 “Overview of The Year” in this
announcement. Save as disclosed, there
were no other acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECT

It is generally believed that the international outlook
will remain positive as economic fundamentals remain
in good shape and it is expected that there will be
a mild growth in the global economy. However, the
ongoing trade war between the United States and the
PRC, the UK Brexit status, the anticipated increase in
interest rate are expected to be the main risks inherent
to the global economy in 2019.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to engage
prominently in property development and investment,
and the relevant asset management services.
However, the Group would be more cautious in
considering investments in the international markets
such as the USA and Europe in accordance with the
future development strategy of the Group. This should
give diversification and a hedge against the future
domestic businesses of the Group with a reasonable
return to the Shareholders. Other than capturing
investment opportunities to establish the position
and engage in the property market in Los Angeles
and London for income generating real estates with
potential of capital appreciation in the long term and
re-development in future, the Group’s focus will also
be on the execution of existing projects, including but
not limited to enhancement of operating performance
as well as facilitation of projects developments.
Besides, the Group will not rule out any possibilities
to divest its investment with decent return so as to
create value for Shareholders in the longer term. The
Directors believe that after those potential acquisitions
and execution of existing projects, the Group will be
able to broaden its income base through the stable
rental incomes generated from the properties.
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Apart from the Group’s core businesses in property
development and investments in the PRC, the
USA and the UK, and the provision of property
management services in Beijing, the Group will
continue to place its efforts in searching for suitable
investment opportunities which may strategically fit
into its diversification moves and generate a steady
source of income.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold, redeemed or cancelled any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board of the Company is committed to maintain
and ensure high standards of corporate governance
practice. The Company stresses the importance of
maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring that
the directors possess a wide range of expertise and
the effective implementation of an accountability
system, so as to ensure that business activities
and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as stated in Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 December
2018.

The Company will seek to improve its management
and raise its control level to enhance the Company’s
competitiveness and operating efficiency, to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater
returns for the shareholders.

\
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 as contained in the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry to all directors of the Company,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance
with the Model Code regarding the trading of
the Company’s securities for the year ended 31
December 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed the annual
results and has no dissenting view on the
accounting policies adopted by the Group and on
the Group’s internal controls and risk management,
accounting and financial reporting functions.

SCOPE OF WORK OF THE
COMPANY’S AUDITOR

The figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the related notes
thereto for the year ended 31 December 2018 as
set out in the preliminary announcement have been
agreed by the Company’s auditor to the amounts
set out in the Group’s draft consolidated financial
statements for the Year. The work performed by the
Company’s auditor in this respect did not constitute
an assurance engagement in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, Hong Kong Standards
on Review Engagements or Hong Kong Standards
on Assurance Engagements issued by the HKICPA
and consequently no assurance has been expressed
by the Company’s auditor on the preliminary
announcement.

THEB W Lo

BFEEETESXHZE
% 5F A

AABBEA ETRANEE+ATEH N
B TAEBETEFRH2IZE
SFRI([ZAESFR]) - ERA R AT
EESREBFEERE  ARRTFR
MEREZE_ZE—N\F+=_A=+—
HEFER REEARBESFHE
EEREZESTABFENBR -

BZERE
ERZASCENRFRE  MAY
AEBRPNEHBFEARFEED

NEEZERARER g5t RV BE
WRELRE N MR -
EAFHMGZIHRE

AEERE-_FT-N\F+_A=+—
BIEFEHRNF MR ZEE T
ARAEK  HEBRER  Heazmia
REEBRMEZET  EAARAZ
BERAEEARFEESYBRRE
RAMBzeRETRHYARE -
RARZBEBLUETZ T - RIE
BEREMASMBEM I BEEERE
A BEEHELERXFESES
ERAD TBRZEFEET  AULAR
BIZBED AL R B V) 20 D B RAZE o

FEHE 2018 ERBEERAT

| e\

27



\\
\\

~J

NG

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIR - tekEnms

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Purpose of This Report

This is the third Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “Report”) of GR Properties Limited (“GR
Properties” or the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group” or “We” or “Us”) to stakeholders,
which reviews our guiding principles, policies and
performance as to sustainable development in the past
year.

Reporting Period and Scope

The Reporting Period commenced on 1 January 2018 and
ended on 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting Period”). Our
reporting scope for the year covers property management
businesses of the Group located in Beijing (including six
major property management projects) and was extended
in the year to cover the business of the leisure and
lifestyle experience center (the “Recreational Center”)
successfully acquired by the Group in 2017, which was
mainly engaged in catering, banquet, fitness and sport
facilities services. Information regarding the sustainability
performance of the Recreational Center in 2017 prior to the
Group’s acquisition was not available and is therefore not
presented in this Report.

Reporting Standards

This Report is prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

Feedback

We highly value opinions of each stakeholder and treat
them as the cornerstone for the development of the Group.
If you have any opinions or suggestion on this Report and
our sustainable development performance, please send us
your comments to info@grproperties.com.hk.

Note: The property management business in this Report only
includes our six property management projects, namely
the Fortune Street project”, the Yigou project®, In-Beijing
project*, the GOLDEN TOWER project*, the Kingdom
Guorui project* and the North Garden project*. In
particular, the total chargeable area of Kingdom Guorui
project has increased during the Reporting Period as
compared to 2017.
~_ The English name is an unofficial translation for
\\ identification purpose only.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B A2 MERWRE

SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE AFERRRGER
SUMMARY
2018 2017
2018%F 20174
Property Recreational Property
Category management Center Total management  Unit
5 NEERE N Rt NEEE EBEf
Air emissions
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) 59.52 241.93 301.45 246.53  Kg
REAILMNOK) N
Sulfur oxides (SOx) 11.01 51.72 62.73 56.15  Kg
i &1L ¥(SOx) NI
Pamoulate matter (PM) 1.16 2.27 3.43 95.63  Kg
OFRLF(PM) N
Greenhouse gas (GHG)
RERE
Total greenhouse gas emission 8,662.32 5,918.21 14,580.53 15,841.27  tCOx
(scope 1and 2)'
BERBHNAS(EEI1REE2)" /N t-Rq e
EEI E
Direct emissions (scope 1) 108.84 279.58 388.42 8,097.98  tCOe
EERHM(EET) N@f:%ﬁtﬁﬁ
=
Indirect emissions (scope 2)? 8,553.48 5,638.62 14,192.10 7,743.29  tCO.e
R (& E2)? R LB
2
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity 638.34 N/A N/A 1,938.96  Kg CO»e/
(average by number of household) household
RERBHNEE(EP&TY) &R TER N
E8/8F
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity 6.55 210.94 N/A 13.05  Kg CO.e/m?
(average by area)?
BERBHENEE(ERETH)S TER A&
CEVE S22
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BE g MEARSE

2018 2017
2018% 20175
Property Recreational Property
Category management Center Total management  Unit
£l NMEERE NN A&t MEEE EBEf
Hazardous waste Nil Nil Nil Nil
BEREY RE RE RE RE
Non-hazardous waste*
BEBEY
Total non-hazardous waste 28.95 117.00 145.95 28.95  tonnes
REEMES AHE
Intensity of non-hazardous waste 2.13 N/A N/A 3.54  Kg/household
(average by number of household)
BEERENEE(EFPETH) TER TER RT/8P
Intensity of non-hazardous waste 0.02 417 N/A 0.02  Kg/m?
(average by area)?
BEEEVMEE(HETY)S TER R/ BFAK
Total waste disposed to landfill 28.95 117.00 145.95 28.95  tonnes
REREDREEEAS AHE
Energy consumption
BERH#
Total energy consumption 10,136.69 10,052.95 20,189.64 49,254.06  MWh
BaRE=E FETRE
Energy consumption for purchased 9,672.60 4,528.77 14,201.37 8,756.41  MWh
electricity
NBEHRRRE TETRE
Steam consumption for purchased® N/A 4,125.84 4,125.84 N/A MWh
INEE AR A TER  TETRE
Energy consumption for non-renewable 464.10 1,398.34 1,862.44 40,497.66  MWh
fuels?
B ERE R 22 TETFRE
Energy consumption intensity (average by 0.75 N/A N/A 6.03  MWh/household
number of household)
RRERTE(EPETY) T@Em TER TERTEK/8F
Energy consumption intensity (average by 0.01 0.36 N/A 0.04  MWh/m?
area)®
ERERRE(EETY)S TER FTRFRE/GF
7K

\
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= A ER A=
RE - Ti & e
2018 2017
2018 2017
Property Recreational Property

Category management Center Total management  Unit

HH NEER RE D &t MEEE Ef

Water consumption

¥k

Total water consumption 213,443.96 55,079.00 268,522.96 243,559.81 m3

BREKE K

Water consumption intensity (average by 15.73 N/A N/A 29.81  mdhousehold
number of household)

BKEE(EPETH) TEA TER YRR/ EGP

Water consumption intensity (average by 0.16 1.96 N/A 020 m3m?
area)®

HKEE(EETH) TER AR/ BERK

Packaging material Nil Nil Nil Nil

BEMH 2H hg) RE RE

T According to the revised edition of the GHG Protocol: 1 BEAEACEXKERER S Mt RER
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard published by MEAMBITHNEEREREETE — ¥
the World Business Council For Sustainable Development SEHEREEA(BETR) SE1EEHER
and the World Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions BMEAAEBEBRERTHNEBERES
include greenhouse gas emissions directly generated by HEEREH N MEERES BT
businesses owned or controlled by the Group, and Scope 2 KERNEBRITEE(ERRMSKEEH)
indirect emissions include “indirect energy” greenhouse gas B BEL - RRRARASIBA[EEEE
emissions from the consumption of electricity (purchased or RIBERBEBEEM -
acquired), heat energy, refrigeration and steam within the
Group.

2 Since operation and management of boilers in certain 2 MR EERESBO>EENRERRS
projects in the property management segment were HEINBEE=FLERER  2018F X
outsourced to third parties during the Reporting Period, the RRANEBERPESELZYEENFERE -
natural gas data for 2018 only includes the consumption for
the GOLDEN TOWER project.

3. For the property management segment, the intensity 3 MEEEBEFKNAYEEBEWERETE
(emissions/resource consumption) is based on the total B BRFERZEE » MARE 08
chargeable area, while for the Recreational Center, the BEMBEAEHN BRERBZEZE
intensity (emissions/resource consumption) is based on the
area of operation

4 As the non-hazardous waste data did not include waste ¢ HREZEEYVNHEBETIREMEEIE
generated by owners in the property management segment, BEHETITESNEEY  HIL2017E /8
the data for 2017 were adjusted for the amount of waste YEDEBERAZELRALBREHAOEEZEYE
generated in offices and public areas. HEELFAE -

5. The consumption of steam purchased only included the 5 INEXAEERBEARBER LB ETFEA
amount of steam used in the Recreational Centre. & o

SUSTAINABLE OPERATIONS POLICY

Sustainable development is a long-term commitment of
a responsible enterprise, and is deeply rooted in our
people-oriented businesses. We have been implementing
sustainable operations and worked towards a better

life for the public,

through continuously enhancing the

sustainability of the environment, ensuring a high quality
of services, building an outstanding and strong service
team, carrying out rigorous supply chain management,
maintaining a high level of ethics and integrity, caring for
disadvantaged groups in the community and otherwise.

AFEEER&

AHEEREAEECENRE AR
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B - e LEAmE

Caring for
disadvantaged
groups in the
community

RAEAL RSP AT

BAA B

High level of ethics
and integrity
= E B E R

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE RISK MANAGEMENT

We manage our environmental, social and governance
risks according to the Group’s risk management system.
The Board sets out environmental, social and governance
objectives and risk tolerance levels. The management
formulates various policies and measures based on
relevant objectives. Employees at all levels in the Group
identify potential risks and report to the management in
day-to-day operations. The management report to the
Board on the materiality and changes of environmental,
social and governance risks in a timely manner. Through
regular communication with stakeholders, continuous
collection of environmental, social and governance
indicator data, and preparation of annual environmental,
social and governance reports, the management assist
the Board in overseeing and implementing the Group’s

environmental, social and governance risk management.

Sustainability of
the environment

RENAIE N

People oriented

Rigorous supply
chain management

B REm s EIE

Ensuring
a high quality of
services

FEORBRTS dn E 2 1

Outstanding and
strong service team
BFHE AR RS
S

BRE UHEREIRAKRER
HMBREEEMNREREEEEZETERMY
RE e kErEk EFZRHITCRE
HekEREERRERERIEE ERE
BREEHEEHN ETSBEREER &5
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FRRBITMEEERE BEERKER
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QUALITY, ENVIRONMENT,
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

For our property management business, we have a sound
environment, occupational health and safety, and quality
management system, have established the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to perfect
our management system and define responsibilities of
the management and departments, and has passed
ISO14001: 2015 environmental management system,
OHSAS18001: 2007 occupational health and safety
management system and ISO9001: 2015 quality
management system certifications. We spare no effort to
maintain the quality of our services and protect the health
and safety of the households, tenants and employees.
During the Reporting Period, we engaged a third-party
inspection agency to supervise and review our three
standard systems and confirmed that we complied with
relevant requirements of the three standards, namely GB/
T19001-2015 Quality Management System Requirements,
GB/T24001-2015 Environmental Management Systems —
Requirements with Guidance for Use and GB/T28001-2011
Occupational Health and Safety Management System
Specifications. We are committed to the sustainable
development of the enterprise, environment and society by
strengthening the management of daily operations.

BE g MEARSE
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BER g kEaWmE

AWARDS AND HONORS BREREE

China Golden Key Beijing Low-cost Housing Construction and
Investment Center

HE SR EtRTREMEEERRED L

China Excellent Service Team 2018 Excellent Property Management
Enterprise Award

Bl AR 75 18 55 AR 755 [ B 018 FEEFMEEELRE

China Service Model Enterprise — GOLDEN TOWER
TERBEREEE —SREAE

=B B

et b2t UL R
L Dbt =t

TE 9 49 Al JE |
seotinngne.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We understand that stakeholders, including employees,
owners and households, suppliers and business
partners, shareholders and investors, government and
the local community, are key to realizing the above
sustainable development policy. Therefore, we treat the
communication with stakeholders in paramount importance
in our daily operations and business development.
Through a variety of formal and informal channels,
we maintain a close contact with our stakeholders to
understand their opinions and recommendations on the
Group’s business and sustainability, so as to continuously
improve our policies and performance in response to their
needs.

Our channels of daily communication with stakeholders are
as follows:

BE g MEARSE

R in & BB

RFVRSE - BT - $XHEP - HEHRE
HAEBE BRERRES HHARE
WHESRHELERALIRERRY
SteoBAse - Bl RMBESHZBER
BEREENEBEROEST 2 E AB
FEEAMEEANEE MFNERS
kNS SGEES ES I e
BRROERMEE TG R R M
W5 ARE - BB MAE -

HMPEFOENBRBEBREBNOT ¢

Local community Eémj?loyees
AL -
. Website Employee meeting
s ., BTed
. Social media Training
AR N =l
. Mass media Annual meeting
RBEE o Fg
. Visit Notice board
REEE o NE
. Mobile application Internal system
FiermAER RS
Government ;V\E/Eg?;;d households
¢ Qualification review . . . i
i Communication Houne.
. Mt?:tmg with Stakeholders *  Mobile application
Sl 2523 . ) t *irt % %%%%*iit
 Direct communication 2 SE# ° Social media
BERES nERE R RS
4 Website
A
° Satisfaction survey
WEERE
° Direct communication
HAER

Shareholders and investors

Hﬁ?&&ﬁ%
Shareholders’ meeting
BREREH

° Annual report, financial statement
and announcement
FW - PBBERAE

° Social media
AR

4 Website

4 Mass media

KRB

Suppliers and business partners

R M A ER R

° Direct communication
HEBA

° On-site inspection

RIGER

Regular review

TEHRTE

° Performance evaluation

[ #FH A
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BE g MEARSE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to better understand the opinions and
expectations of our stakeholders, we engage a third
party to conduct materiality assessment for us each
year. Through opinion survey, we invite stakeholders to
score and rank a total of 25 environmental, social and
governance issues grouped into five main categories
(namely “Quality of Working Environment”, “Environmental
Protection and Green Operations”, “Operational
Practices”, “Product and Service Responsibilities” and
“Contribution to Communities”, thereby understanding
their degree and change of attention to each significant
issue, and enabling us to more comprehensively plan
sustainable development work in the future.

Materiality Analysis of Issues

EEMFMG

RTEEREBRFNENBERLMYPE - ;K
MEBFREE =T RRMETEERLFMGE
TE BBERAL  BREEEINENE
HhBET2EB (A ITFERREER] (R
BRENGELE] [2EBFER] TEM
HREEEIARIERBER]) - & #2251
R -#HehBaadETTo RS
BAEMBERFOERSEARENE T
RERAEREBE  URABERMERK
HIERIFEER TIER AEZENORE -

Treatment of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste

R kIFERENRERE
Disaster emergency plan
KBESHER

Exhaust emission

& SR BE R
Anti-corruption
[ 25 8% B8

Sewage discharge

3 IKEER

Prevention of child and forced labour
PilbZET RatlsE

Supplier selection procedure
MEREERET

Employment relationship and
communication with employees
EEBERETIRR
Occupational safety and health
BEZ2RER

Diversity and equal opportunity
ZrltRHE#RE

ERBECEENSN
Rankings

Rankings for the
Category Change for the Year Last Year
gsE 21t XEEHE EFEHSR
Environmental protection and 1 2
green operations
RRERENGZELE
Operational practices 2 1
2ERER
Environmental protection and 3 3
green operations
RRERENGZEEE
Operational practices 4 8
LEEH
Environmental protection and 5 7
green operations
RERENGZEEE
Quality of working environment 6 10
ITERRER
Operational practices 7 25
LEEH
Quality of working environment 8 20
IERFEER
Quality of working environment 9 12
IERRER
Quality of working environment 10 11

TFRBER

|
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BE -tglkE

Charity donation

RERE

Trainings and development
Fol kB R

Employee turnover rate
BIRKE
Customer/consumer privacy

RE/HEELE

Greenhouse gas emission

REREHEN
Complaint handling

R RE
Participation in volunteer activities
e /\%I/EE

Product safety

EmTE

Intellectual property rights

A EE

Carbon trading mechanism

fik 32 5 # il
Energy and water conservation

£ 482 TR ) A3 K

Evaluation of suppliers’ environmental
and social performance
HEBRFEREERA TG

Natural resource utilization (including
energy and water utilization)
AAERNA(BFEEREAK)
Employee benefits/leisure activities
EIRA/RLEY

Technology research and development

i 7 5% 2 5 3

Category
R

Contribution to Communities
it & B R

Quality of working environment
THREER

Quality of working environment
THERBEER

Product and service
responsibilities
EmERBEE
Environmental protection and
green operations
RERENGZEZE
Product and service
responsibilities
EmEREEL
Contribution to Communities
& F R

Product and service
responsibilities
EmEREEE

Product and service
responsibilities
EmBERBEE
Environmental protection and
green operations
RERENGZEE
Environmental protectlon and
green operations
RERENGCES
Environmental protection and
green operations
RERENGZCE
Environmental protectlon and
green operations
RERENGCES
Quality of working environment
THERBEER

Product and service
responsibilities
EmEREEL

Rankings

Change for the Year

21

€ 5> > >

rEEHS
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14
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BE g MEARSE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

We actively advocate the management policy of “pollution
prevention, energy saving, emission reduction, and
environmental protection by all employees” in our
businesses. We carry out environmental protection work
through green management, the use of environmentally
friendly equipment and the promotion of environmental
awareness. We have formulated the Quality, Environment
and OHS Management Manual to direct employees to
strictly control the pollutant discharge and sources of
pollution. We also actively adopt more environmentally

IR IR R €

BMEXRBHREBEEATG ISR - &R
o 2ERRINEESH  RMABEHET
REERE RASKEXRBUEERRERER
“ETAETRANRERETHE - RMA
BUYT(EE BRE BEEFEL2EET
) - 58 8 TBARIE BT R BEIR - 45
SRR - RPIMBEERAERR - B

MEBERNRE  BIEREEIRKTE MR
HREFRENHE  SEMBEI - ATE

BRET BFEPULEHEAEERHAOR

friendly and resource-saving equipment to reduce the RE:#H EFEEAHEELRIIE-
waste of resources and continuously strengthen the
education, promotion and training on environmental
protection to continuously enhance the environmental
awareness of our employees, customers and business

partners to implement sustainable development

collectively.

Category Environmental Protection Tasks

g BRERETLHE

Green management e Develop energy and water saving plan every year
HEER s BEHITERLE KGR

e Organize monthly energy consumption analysis meeting to discuss
and analyze the energy consumption data, status of indicators, and
the remaining energy consumption quota

s HHEBHERONTER  HYLERERE BEREER -
EITD WA

e Cooperate with local suppliers as far as possible to reduce carbon
emissions caused by transportation

s BEHEAMMHEEESIE B EHBIZFE RN

e Maintain the temperature of air conditioning in office and public area
at 26°C in summer and 22°C in winter

e BMAENMAXEFHNWEFAEHEFERN : EX26E - £ R22F

e Regularly inspect and repair equipment to reduce energy and water
wastage

s THREE®BR

BERFSBREE

CEFEERE O RAEBEMREKE

N \
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Category Environmental Protection Tasks
gHE BRRERETLHE
Environmentally friendly e Install voice or infrared sensors to control the level of regional
equipment Iighting
mEREB o LRBIENAIMNERIERLG - EHRIHE S KF

o Replace ordinary lamps in garage of each project with LED lamps

o UALEDEEEBERZBEEEANLTREE

e Adjust time switch in a timely manner based on the level of sunlight
for lights and roof advertisement words

e EXHAYERE BEERSFREARBELANHABRKERD

e Purchase appliances with at least Grade Two Energy Label as far as
possible

e RUMKRBER _MEENLEMRERR

e Replace boiler burners to increase operational efficiency and
reduce emission

o FIMAIMMEMEEDS - RS E TR RORIE B

e Use central control system for energy management, and adjust such
system seasonally to save energy

e BMBPTAZGERRRNGEA ESZHETHAE  UEHERR

e Adopt rainwater recycling system for irrigation

o EIBFKME U RGO WK ETTER

e Use non-negative pressure fresh water supply system to save
energy

s FREABRKXKEERS HOER

Environmental awareness e Provide environmental protection training for employees to improve
RREH# their attention to environmental protection issues, and require
them to apply energy saving measures into their daily work,
including considering the necessity of energy dissipation and
water consumption, turning off lights, powering off when leaving,
keeping an eye on water and electricity waste caused by equipment
damage, and arranging maintenance in case of any damage
e REIRMRRMEBARY RAVRREREFENWT ERKET
EEREERARBTIEES BEZEAERKOVENE BF
e TR IERGARBEBEMREKENBR - KER
& -
e Install sub-meter and implement “user/polluter-pays” policy to
encourage water and electricity savings
e BRLERKENK REIMA/FEEBNINERR  HEEFPEHL
e Promote environmental awareness and provide guidelines to
encourage better behaviours
s EERARER IRMHES BHBFTABE

;
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B tglEARWRE

Emissions
Exhaust gas

Our exhaust gas emissions are mainly caused by the fuel
use for vehicles and the consumption of natural gas and
steam for heating, cooking, domestic hot water supply and
otherwise.

BB

57
BHANEREREIERBREHOREE
RBIARBERE RR S£EBRKEAR
POBEREHRARMBTMESL -

=

2017

Property  Recreational 2018 Property

Category management Center Total management

20185 20175

<Yl NEERE RE A D &% NEER
Nitrogen oxides (NOy) 59.52 241.93 301.45 246.53 Kg
REILINOK) NI
Sulfur oxides (SOx) 11.01 51.72 62.73 56.15 Kg
Hi A1 ¥(SO0x) NS
Particulate matter (PM) 1.16 2.27 3.43 95.63 Kg
% R (PM) NI

Greenhouse gas BERE

Our greenhouse gas emissions are mainly direct or
indirect emissions caused by the use of purchased
electricity, the fuel use for vehicles and the consumption of
natural gas and steam for heating, cooking, domestic hot
water supply and otherwise.

BMANEERRHIERRRREIBES
BEWOMBERARBERE BER &
EEKEREERNRARMEURTE
EHERREEBER -

2018 2017

Property  Recreational Property

Category management Center Total management

2018% 20175

£l NEER KRB A D BF NEEE
Total greenhouse gas emission (scope 1 and 2) 8,662.32 5,918.21 14,580.53 15,841.27 tCO2e
RERBHNEE (BEI1REE?) N
—& ﬁiéi
Direct emissions (scope 1) 108.84 279.58 388.42 8,097.98 tCOQe
BEEHH(EE) N
“afliRES
Indirect emissions (scope 2) 8,553.48 5,638.62 14,192.10 7,743.29 tC0O2e
R (8 E2) N
—4&rt %;?E
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2018 2017

Property  Recreational Property

Category management Center Total management

20185 20175

<Yl NEER VN LR A% NEEE
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity 638.34 N/A N/A 1,938.96 Kg COz¢/
(average by number of household) household
BERBHREE(EPHTH) TER TEfm NTZERE
g/8F
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity 6.55 210.94 N/A 13.056  Kg COq¢ per
(average by area?) square meter
RERBHREE (HETH) TEm AT Z&EIHE

In order to reduce air emissions, we carried out the boiler
low-nitrogen combustion technology transformation project
in the North Garden and GOLDEN TOWER property
management projects in 2017. After the transformation, the
boilers were able to continuously reduce nitrogen oxide
emissions from combustion during the Reporting Period.

Non-hazardous waste

We do not produce significant amount of hazardous
waste, while non-hazardous waste is mainly general refuse

2/8¥nk

BT RAERERGEN - RFAE2017FRILTE
BReRZMEEERBHET THEER

BMERMBGETE - RIELBICER -
KRS R A ER D R R BRE T AT

ELENASLYHERE -

HEERY
BPYTLBEELERENEEERY  ME
EEEVEIBRARBZYMEETEERE MK

BARLARERBEN —REEY UKk
HPBMAREMEEZER ZFETEER

collected from various property management projects
and public spaces in the Recreational Center, as well as

waste papers from our offices which were collected and YHFE=ZFWERBELIFE—FERE -
transported by third party for further handling.
2 For the property management business, the intensity (emissions/resource consumption) is based on the total

chargeable area, while for the Recreational Center, the intensity (emissions/resource consumption) is based
on the area of operation

2 MECEXEBNBXERRBABEAESWEREACEE  MABFR LN EEDESEHFRERER
ZHEE

/
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2017
Property  Recreational Property
Category management Center management
017§
5 NEER RE A D NEER
Hazardous waste Nil Nil Nil Nil
BERED RE A RE RE
Non-hazardous waste
BREBREY
Total non-hazardous waste 28.95 117.00 145.95 28.95 tonnes
BEENAE N
Intensity of non-hazardous waste 2.13 N/A N/A 3.54  Kg/household
(average by number of household)
EEERNTE(EPHTY) TERm TER Nfr/8P
Intensity of non-hazardous waste 0.02 0.02 N/A 0.02 Kg/m2
(average by area)
EEEERVEE(EETY) @A RT/BERK
Total waste disposed to landfill 28.95 117.00 145.95 28.95 tonnes
RERYNEERAE N

We promote the practice of waste reduction at the source
to owners, households and customers, by encouraging
them to use environmentally friendly bags instead of
plastic bags, classifying general refuse and recyclable
waste, donating unwanted items to others instead of
discard, and choosing environmentally friendly products
and otherwise. In addition, we encourage employees
to classify wastes, and require that construction waste
generated by contractors or builders during decoration or
maintenance should not be mixed into general refuse but
should be separately treated and transferred in a timely
manner. Meanwhile, we are also committed to enhancing
employees’ awareness of emission reduction, encouraging
them to use electronic channels for communication, giving
priority to the use of double-sided printing and recycling
paper as far as possible, in the hope of achieving a
“paperless” office.

|
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RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Our energy consumption includes purchased electricity,
fuel consumed by vehicles and natural gas and steam
consumed for domestic hot water supply, cooking and
heating purposes. The relevant consumption data are as
follows:

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE g MEARSE

fE iR E B

RMHERENET D - EEOM Y
RURBEEERK  BER{ERRY
RARRENR ARRANBENT :

A

2018 2017
Property  Recreational Property
Category management center Total management
2018% 2017%
5l NEERE KA 8% NEEE
Total energy consumption 10,136.69 10,052.95 20,189.64 49,254.06 MWh
BeREE TETRE
Energy consumption for purchased electricity 9,672.60 4528.77 14,201.37 8,756.41 MWh
NEENREE TETFRE
Stream consumption for purchased N/A 4,125.84 4,125.84 N/A MWh
MEEAER TER NEA TRTFRE
Energy consumption for non-renewable fuels 464.10 1,398.34 1,862.44 40,497.66 MWh
FEEMBERES TRFRE
Energy consumption intensity 0.75 N/A N/A 6.03 MWh/
(average by number of household) household
ERERRE(EPHTY) T~ER AR FRTRE/
BF
Energy consumption intensity (average by area) 0.01 0.36 N/A 0.04 MWh/m?
EhRERZE(EETY) ~ER FEFRE/
BEAK
In order to improve the energy efficiency of our property A TIEF RS RN YWESIEER
management business, we have formulated the “Energy D #IECETREIRIRE IR E) » h1o& I 4R &0
Conservation and Environmental Protection Management & %8 RMEETETE  BETHE
Policy” to strengthen and standardize the management of % - 7% HEANBEZBREREWHEAE - 288
energy conservation and emission reduction in properties, & - ZEFELE - LA RITHI AR 8 R

including regular inspection, cleaning and maintenance
of equipment and facilities such as units, cooling towers
and air conditioning systems, so as to effectively control
energy consumption and avoid energy waste. In addition
to daily maintenance, we have developed the 2018 Energy
Saving Plan to supervise and urge the implementation
of various energy saving measures in properties through
modification works during the Reporting Period, with
the hope of reducing energy consumption on an annual
basis. The energy saving scheme implemented for various
property management projects during the Reporting
Period mainly covers the upgrade and transformation of
lighting and air conditioning systems including:

ﬁ%ﬁ&% BT A ERE - RAITEE
TC018FERMETR)  BREVER R
iHHFEJﬁzEE&ﬁIETSEXEEﬁﬁﬁ i

PRRFREERER -SMEERRA
E%i&%%ﬁf‘aﬁ?ﬁﬁ@ﬂ”ﬂﬂ’]”*ﬁ%f%/@%

B Be

REBMZER RS T RBEERTE -
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BE g MEARSE

Lighting o
ez
L[]
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
°
L]
°
Air conditioning .
38

Replacement of original lights with LED lights in the underground
parking lot and floors of IN Beijing helped reduce the electricity
consumption by approximately 2,900 kWh per month

RIndt Rt TEESMIER NG RAEEF N RLEDE - 8 AFHE
DH2900FEENAEE

In Yigou (% %) and Kingdom Guorui (B §% € 78), lighting switches in
the public areas or staircases were replaced with voice sensors
REHE BHeESARIELHANRATHLLSBE I ERXS
Luminaires were reduced or replaced with those with lower energy
consumption in certain parking lots, dormitories, floors, corridors,
lobbies, elevators, etc., without affecting the household
ETNHEBEFPBATREDFES B BB -EB KE B
ERLBESBESIHNARERENEA

Switches of street lamps and advertising lamps were replaced
with time switches, and the turn on and turn off time were adjusted
according to the weather and seasonal change in Fortune Street,
Kingdom Guorui (B % & &) and Yigou (% &) projects

REwmE BEReBENSBEHEKL I  BEIBESEFRURARIER
B WARE KRR A EE F M RN E

The temperature was adjusted according the weather change, and
refrigerating units were not turned on when the outdoor temperature
did not reach the specified temperature

BRERXRBEHABRBE ZIBERERTRETSRAXR KA
Integrated controllers were used for the air conditioning in
dormitories, to unify the control of room temperature, and turn-on
and turn-off

MEEERGMERES R  HEBAREETHR —ZEH A

The indoor temperature was maintained above 26 degrees in
summer

REZHENREZERE NER26E

The air conditioning temperature of the elevator machine room was
controlled according to seasonal change and indoor temperature
REHEHRRBENREEFHNERREZFREE

Meanwhile, we enhance the promotion of energy saving R @ BRI eESWENBEHESTE £
in properties, including posting energy-saving and RS EMEL FETERERMAE ~ B NED
environmental protection messages on the bulletin board, fEEREFENETEFM  WEE 7 FHEEHRE
distributing energy-saving and environmental protection N FHETEE REEIEHMHNEILIES
brochures, regularly promoting on official mobile FIEEE  SEAEEBEAEIUZTEINETL
application, and reminding employees to turn off the lights HEieeEH - BEFABERE—5 1 o

when leaving the workplace with an aim of improving

the energy-saving awareness of

employees and even

the owners and households, to collectively contribute to

environmental protection.

\
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WATER RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The water consumed by the Group daily is derived from
the municipal water supply by the local water supply
department, and the Group has not experienced any

material issues in sourcing water that is fit for purpose
and such sourcing has no impact on the groundwater or
water resources in the natural environment. Our water
consumption data during the Reporting Period are as
follows:

BE g MEARSE

KEFRER

EEREMERMNKERSBRERE E HH
K EBPTIR A T B K - B SkEE A K
VR 5 E BT E A E  SREUKR
BAATEHM T KB ARARBENKERE
EFE - UTREMPBS BENEKE

o

2018 2017
Property  Recreational Property
Category management Center Total management
201845 201745
£l NEER o B A oy Rt NEEE
Total water consumption 213,443.96 55,079.00 268,522.96 243,559.81 m3
BEKE AR
Water consumption intensity (average by number of 15.73 N/A N/A 29.81  m3household
household)
RKEE(EFPETH) TER TER ARK/GF
Water consumption intensity (average by area) 0.16 1.96 N/A 0.20 m3/m?2
BKEE(ERTY) TEA THER/
R
We closely monitor the water consumption of properties FH{PIERZELEZSWEMAKB R OLBOFEKIE
and the Recreational Center and implement various water i - 5 E X TEEE B/KAEE -

conservation measures:

° In the North Garden project, we adjusted the time of
water use for greening purposes to consume water
at intervals

o In the office area of Kingdom Guorui, pressure
reducing valves were installed to control the water
flow

° In the Yigou project, public toilets were equipped

with a water card system to control the duration of
water consumption to reduce waste

° In the GOLDEN TOWER project, the cooling towers
were upgraded to control the water flow

. RILTEETR B #HE
7 B K

AR AL PR 7K # B ] BA

. REREENR AR E
ZHIKE

R JEE [ LA

. ﬂ—r%%lﬁﬁﬁﬁ’& BELEKKER
BRI AKER O RAORE

. K& R%IEB 8L BB ETITRBCE
T EHERE

/
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B - e LEAmE

Swimming pool renovation

The Recreational Center has two adult and children’s
swimming pools. The pipelines of the two pools were
connected, so when either pool was cleaned or repaired,
it was necessary to close the other pool and drain and
refill the water, contributing to a large amount of water
consumption. In order to reduce waste, we renovated the
swimming pools during the Reporting Period, separating
the pipelines of the two pools into independent ones. After
the renovation, cleaning of either swimming pool will not
affect the operation of the other pool, which helps greatly
reduce the water consumption.

COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION REGULATIONS

Being responsible for the environment is undoubtedly the
utmost and foremost step in sustainable development.
We promise to comply with all environmental laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’'s Republic of China, the
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China and
etc., striving to building a green community. We actively
integrate the elements of energy conservation and
emission reduction into operations to reduce the carbon
footprint of our operations, so that our next generation can
continue to live and work in peace and contentment in
the community. During the Reporting Period, we were not
subject to any complaint or charge in relation to violation
of environmental protection regulations.

46| GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

VK b 2R 3

WEFRLAZEMERARTEXE A
PR E XD H B BHE - AT E AR — X
MRS REF - SIN— (B INE =
IEEEWHETHRREFR K HEHAEK
BMK-BTRIRE  HMARBREHM
EITTHRBBETR  BMELENEE
ERBYEE Bk E% B —1{E

AoBERSTRYES —EAOLEE 7
RAREFEKR -

1 o 5 1k 38 1 i
HREARERIRARRMS  RRE
ERBEEN S - RIMAHBEMAEE
SARBIEUABIER - BERTRACREA

REMBREREL) (PEARKMNE
KIBRAE) (PEARKMBE AR
RRE)E - ENRBRFEHE  BERN

LEBETRAMERMNTE B EE
BmiERELWIREE %ﬁﬁmT fRBE
MEEGEFHABLRESEX RBEHE -

H AL A W B E AT B BRE IR AR 15 B 89
BaF RIS -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B - tg RERRE

EXCELLENT QUALITY EERHE
Property management MEERE

Arrange customer service
specialists to take care of the
needs of the owners and
Customer household; in a timely manner
SEEE tg ease thelerobIems
ZHERER LR IREEERN
&R PR - ERMb MR

Responsible for routine
maintenance of public areas,
while handling the request of Engineering

owners and residents for repair I
BEAKEEN A BEE
RRNEEEENEPHREEK

Conduct daily green

maintenance and sanitation

Environment work to build a clean and
BiE hygienic community

HITH B RENFETIE -

BERFEENLE

Perform security duties,
maintain public security
and order in the community, Security
and protect public safety
BITREZRE -

HER AR IIKT
RIEXABAHLE
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BRIR - tekEnms

In order to provide the highest quality services to
owners and households and to realize the business
philosophy of “creating high-quality products, providing
prominent services”, we have formulated the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual, established
the management policy of “making quality products and
providing value-added services”, and strictly implemented
the “Six Clear Principles” treating each task rigorously,
and serving every customer with care.

RTAEINEFRHEKEEANRY B
BIR%HEE DEBEINEEED R
MRE(EE RELABEEFELZZ2EET
) ELTIMEBLEM  =RBEMR
BIMERTE - BRBITIANARA - &
BUGE-EEK RALRBEE-—UEP -

Clear Task
B ILEER

Clear Standard
BEBIZE

Clear Timeframe

BT EEH

Clear Responsibility
BEEA

Clear Monitoring
ﬁ BE -}‘-X ﬁ

2182157

Clear Result

BIIR&E

[0 [® @

To guarantee the quality of service, we conduct daily
inspection and weekly sampling inspection. We also
conduct more than 900 quality inspections in all projects
each year, including file management, machine room
management, elevator operation, fire-fighting equipment,
and sanitary conditions of the public areas etc., so as
to ensure the service quality in four aspects, namely
customer service, engineering, environment and security
in all properties. In addition to internal inspections, we
conduct performance assessments of business partners
in charge of security, cleaning, parking lot management,
maintenance, and green maintenance and otherwise,
including the professionalism of personnel, use of
materials, quality of site work, timeliness of service,
occupational health and safety, customer praise and
complaints, and select outstanding, good, qualified
and unqualified partners. We will terminate the contract
with any partner once it is identified as unqualified, and
blacklist and permanently terminate the contract with any
partner which has been identified as unqualified for two
times.

\
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Weekly sampling
inspection
BEMERE

Daily inspection

BEKE

Semi-annual
performance

FEERDFE

iﬁfu N Ti = &kk;m #& =

Annual quality
inspection

FEMERE

evaluation

Working with Golden Key to provide international-
level property management services

The property management business of the Group has
become a member of Golden Key International Alliance,
an internationally recognized brand service organization,
since 2013, and has always adhered to the high-end
service philosophy, and provided owners and households
with international top-ranking property management
services. During the Reporting Period, certain employees
of the Group have passed rigorous review and evaluation,
obtaining a Golden Key certificate and becoming more
professional and excellent property management talents,
further improving our service quality.

In order to continuously improve our service level, we have
worked with International Golden Key Service (Bl &8 &
BR #) to arrange a number of customer service employees
of the Group to participate in the “Golden Key High-end
Marketing On-site Service Certification Class” training, so
as to cultivate high-quality customer service professionals,
through simulation training, team game and otherwise.

oo
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BE g MEARSE

Recreational Center

We pay special attention to the quality of services, so
that customers can enjoy every service and facility with a
good memory. Therefore, we have formulated the Quality
Inspection Scheme to perfect the quality inspection
system and standard in which we carry out weekly service
quality and safety inspection, covering environmental
sanitation, appearance, facilities and equipment,
code of conduct, food safety, fire safety, dormitory
management, work procedures, operations and etc., and
monthly inspection, irregular comprehensive inspection,
unannounced visit and otherwise, in the form of:

o Departmental self-inspection: Quality inspectors
carry out inspection twice a week and supervise the
rectification of problems in respective departments,
summarize the problems identified, prepare a
quality inspection report and submit it to the HR
Department.

o Review by the Service Quality Department: The
Service Quality Department, together with quality
inspectors of departments, reviews the contents
of quality inspection and safety reports of the
departments every week, so as to ensure that
problems are rectified properly

o Key department inspection: Inspections, follow-up
actions, communications and urge work are carried
out every week for key inspection departments, so
as to improve the quality of services

\

50‘\ GR PROPEF{TIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

~

7 \\\

1k B A A0

BB IERBME  BREBEFHE
W EXG-ERE  S-EBEXRE  Z
T—EXFEE - Bt - REIGIECER T
EAR) ZE=mEREBRMMAE - &M
BREETRERELRZERE  #BE
ERBEHE  BERER  RERE  1TAH
# RmielE L2HEh BEEEE T
FREFMBREESE  TEUBAKE T
EHFARE ETREMEGH S TR A
RETER  RABRE

. MAER: EREEEAENSET
FETTRR R E MEB M B -
ZHWHEEERAY RS ERES - £
RANNERE -

Dk
3

R

. R BERER : REBEHSBRF
EHMINEREE RS MG R
REREATHES - BRBBEREN

Elfiva

. BEXHNMIRE  SEAMEHEMRSE
MPIFEAENERE - BE - BE -
BROIIE URASERERE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Service Quality Department summarizes the
inspections and prepares a report, which will be sent to
department directors, who are required to make a reply
for rectification, within 3 working days, including recording
the rectified items in photos, or indicating the time needed
for rectification. We organize a service quality meeting
every week, analyze and summarize the problems of
various departments identified in the quality inspection
conducted in the previous week, and formulate corrective
and preventive measures to continuously improve
the service quality of each department for continuous
improvement.

Mystery Shopper Scheme

In order to ensure the quality of services, the Recreational
Center will, every six months, engage a testing agency,
which will appoint a mystery shopper to carry out quality
inspection of the Center’s restaurants, SPA and fitness
centers, which is divided into 25 processes with a total
of 156 test indicators, including telephone booking, meal
ordering, serving of dishes, payment and etc., to test
the qualification of the service personnel, and record the
specific test processes by recording or photographing, so
as to report to managers items which require improvement.
During the Reporting Period, the average score for the two
inspections was 77.7%.

iﬁfu N Ti = &kk;m #& =
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B i8R EARE

CONTACTING CUSTOMERS

Property Management

E‘HEHEFJ

SWBERES )

5 a8 @ L2
bR e R e
2 ©
E-RUL ] EERE
s

BR

We have always advocated the service philosophy of
“customer first”, and are committed to providing the
most complete and considerate service for the owners,
households and surrounding residents to provide a
feeling of home. There are customer service specialists
for all of the Group’s property projects to take care of the
customers’ needs at all hours, including repair requests,
comments on the services or complaints. If necessary
or in case of any problems, owners and households can
contact their corresponding customer service specialists
through the 24-hour service hotline, the on-site customer
service center of the project or the “Aocean Life” mobile
application.
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Customers may make a repair request through “Aocean
Life” mobile application of the Group. According to our
“Customer Repair Request Management System”, the
Engineering Department shall dispatch an engineer within
5 minutes to ensure the timeless of repair, and ensure
the personal safety of customers and the safety of the
community.
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With regard to customer complaints, we have formulated
the Complaint Management System, pursuant to which we
shall make a reply to a complaint in the system within 4
hours, an oral complaint within 1 working day and a written
complaint within 3 working days. In order to ensure that all
complaints are handled in the most appropriate manner
to the satisfaction of customers, we follow up customers
by telephone or in person, which shall cover all customers
every year. In addition, we carry out at least one customer
satisfaction survey each year to collect customer feedback
and suggestions on the property projects and the quality
of services, so as to continuously improve the quality
of our services and “create high-quality products and
provide prominent services”.
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BE g MEARSE

In order to better understand customers’ views about us,
we have specially added a “criticize and praise” function
to the “Aocean Life” application, allowing customers to
instantly upload photos and give a praise or suggestion for
improvement so that our service team can make immediate
response.

Recreational Center

For the business of the Recreational Center, in addition
to our efforts to ensure the quality of services, we have
always adhered to the philosophy of “treating customers
with integrity and honesty” and treat every customer with
care. In order to continuously improve our services, with
regard to facilities and services of the Recreational Center,
we invite customers to complete a satisfaction survey
after daily service for giving a score and comment on the
food of restaurants, the quality of service staff, dining
environment, treatment methods, skills and otherwise, and
regularly summarize and analyze the results of the survey,
and identify the items that require improvement, and carry
out corresponding improvement measures for continuous
enhancement.

Health and Safety

As a constructor of the community, we must shoulder the
responsibility to protect the safety of the community, and
are committed to protecting the lives and properties of
the public, so that every owner, households and customer
can live and work in peace and contentment in the
communities we manage.

As the property management business of the Group
involves equipment maintenance, machine room
management, power distribution, etc., in order to
strengthen safety production management, we have,
in accordance with the Safety Production Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on the
Reporting, Investigation and Handling of Work Safety
Accidents, and the Safety Production Regulations of
Beijing, formulated the Safety Production Management
Manual, which sets out the safety policies and objectives
of each property project, and identified safety risks and
formulated appropriate response plans, including routine
inspection and maintenance of equipment, regular safety
drills, and strengthening of safety training, with the
hope of completely eliminating potential safety hazards
in properties and ensuring personal and environmental

—safety.
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Safety

With regard to fire safety, for the property management
business, we have improved the maintenance and
repair system for fire-fighting equipment, including daily
inspection of the alarm system and fire-fighting equipment
room, monthly random inspection of smoke detectors,
temperature detectors, audible and visual alarms, monthly
inspection of fire-fighting facilities, equipment, escape
routes, safety exit and otherwise, and testing water supply
pumps to ensure normal operation, and annual inspection
of water supply and drainage systems. In addition, the
safety officers of each property project regularly check the
status of fire hydrants, pumps, fire controllers and other
equipment to ensure that all facilities and equipment are in
good condition and will not pose a safety risk.

In addition to daily inspection and examination, we have
developed a detailed emergency plan, which defines
the duties of members of the leading team, the order
maintenance team, the evacuation team, the engineering
team and otherwise, handling and post-emergency
procedures, required materials and precautions, for
emergencies such as fire, water logging, power outage,
storm and electric shock, so as to ensure proper handling
on site and ensure the personal safety of employees,
owners and surrounding residents in case of an accident.

In addition to the property management business, the
Recreational Center attaches great importance to fire
safety and has formulated inspection and fire emergency
systems for various equipment systems such as oil
separator, power distribution rooms, swimming pool
systems, machine rooms, boilers and etc., to standardize
daily inspection procedures and maintenance systems,
fire prevention measures and emergency measures in
case of fires, power outage, natural disaster and etc.
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Developing drill plans to improve fire safety

In response to the national Fire Prevention Day on 9
November, we develop fire drill plans for all property
projects each year, specifying the specific time, place,
division of labour among emergency teams, drill
procedures and etc., and carry out fire drills, with an aim
of improving the fire prevention awareness of residents
and the ability of employees to deal with emergencies.

Hygiene

For the property management business, environmental
officers of each property project carry out centralized
cleaning and maintenance work in each area, beautifying
the environment of the community and improving the
appearance and image of the community every day,
in accordance with the green maintenance standards.
In addition, we engage a third-party testing agency to
inspect the drinking water in projects every year to ensure
that the water quality meets relevant requirements of the
Hygienic Standards of Drinking Water and that drinking
water is not contaminated or harmful to health.

Since the business of the Recreational Center involves
fitness centers and SPA, personal items including beds,
towels, slippers, cosmetics and otherwise are used. We
pay special attention to environmental and personal
hygiene, and require our employees to clean and
disinfect all facilities, equipment and supplies including
all fitness equipment, fitness products, furniture, towels,
gymnasiums, sauna rooms, massage couches, beauty
beds, slippers, changing rooms every day. In addition, we
require that all cosmetics including powder puffs, cotton
swabs and eyebrow brushes should not be shared, and
require employees to keep cosmetics including lotion, face
cream and loose powder in clean and sealed containers.

\

56‘\ GR PROPEF{TIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

~

7 \\\

= 33

BHEERELNR BAEMZEKRYF

AEANMAIEWNE2BEIEN A - IEMER
BEFEHEHENEBTR JIHABNE
BB B EST  EREFE #

THBEE BEREESERMNHATSE
FRSNEETREREEMFHRES -

HEMEEEXD SEVMEEBENRR
ANEERBEICEERE SBEANEHER
HETETFEME#E TIF  XCERR
B oOREEERER  RARRER o U
BPEFTeZAEE =T RAlKENIER
MR A ARETT IR - RERAKE ZBICATR
RAKBEERE)NEER - BRKAK
WREXEBZHR HERBEXEE -

B PR R L Y S 7508 I 62 & R L FISPA
SEMEKE  EM  BE  LHRFEBEA
Mo RPERENMBAAGTELRER -
ERETIBRBRLESMART RE -
EAm RE EN HE REE R
MAm e BRIz - BPITRERBRE -
WIEE BERFAMITEHEA BB
KETHIR HE ENFERRFERE
HEFEHORSS -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In addition to the hygiene of the environment and supplies,
food hygiene is an issue to which we attach great
importance. For the catering service of the Recreational
Center, we have formulated a personal and environmental
hygiene system, which specifies the separation of raw and
cooked food, finished and semi-finished products, food
and medicines and debris, and have frequently cleaned
and disinfected the surrounding environment, tableware
and utensils, and strictly managed the environment,
refrigerator and food hygiene, so as to meet the relevant
requirements of the Food Safety Law, the Measures for
the Supervision and Administration of Food Safety in
Catering Services and other laws and regulations. In
addition, we carry out daily kitchen hygiene inspection,
and weekly comprehensive site inspection by the food
safety manager, and develop a food safety inspection
plan every month to systematize the procedures and
standards of kitchen hygiene inspection. For food safety,
we have strict standards for the acceptance of ingredients
during purchase to ensure that the freshness, quality,
colour, lustre and appearance of all ingredients meet the
standards, and ensure the quality and hygiene of each
dish at the source.

Swimming Pool Safety and Hygiene

In order to ensure the hygiene of swimming pools, we
appoint a specialist to regularly inspect pipelines, system
water pumps of swimming pools and otherwise, and
clean the water tanks and water pump filters. In addition,
we carry out internal and external inspections of the
pool water, including daily scheduled measurement of
the pH value, chlorine value, turbidity and temperature
of the water in pools, and appoint of a third party to
regularly measure the indoor temperature, humidity,
carbon dioxide, water temperature, pH value, bacterial
concentration of swimming pools, so as to ensure that
the water quality complies with GB 9667-1996 Hygiene
Standards of Swimming Places. In addition, in order to
protect the safety of swimmers and reduce the accident
risk, we require that all lifeguards should obtain a national
occupational qualification and conduct assessment,
including pre-job assessment, monthly common sense
training and examination, and carry out quarterly rescue
drill; and through emergency plans, formulate rescue
measures for accidents including drowning and customer
injuries so as to raise the safety awareness of lifeguards.
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PRIVACY PROTECTION

We strive to protect the security of customers’ personal
data. We comply with all laws protecting personal data
privacy and develop privacy guidelines to guide our
employees to properly treat personal data of customers.
We continue to train our employees in protection of
personal data privacy of customers, so as to raise their
awareness of protecting personal data of customers.
During the Reporting Period, there were no violations or
data leakage-related cases involving us, or substantiated
complaints from any external parties or regulatory
bodies about the Group’s failure to protect the privacy of
customers and loss of customer data.

ADVERTISING AND LABELING

In the publicity and promotion of businesses, the Group
strictly comply with all applicable laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Advertising Law of the
People’'s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests. In developing a promotion plan, the Group
ensures the authenticity of the contents, so as to protect
consumer rights and interests.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We carry out strict management of our suppliers. In
selecting new suppliers, we carry out on-site assessment
to review their licenses, qualifications, service quality,
business management, material management, the degree
of support, reputation and otherwise. We also conduct
regular review of existing suppliers every year to ensure
that they maintain the supply quality, the service level and
otherwise.

In addition to strictly managing the supply quality
of suppliers, we attach the same importance to the
environmental and social risks of suppliers. In assessing
the quality of suppliers, whether suppliers care for their
employees and actively participate in charity activities of
the community is also one of our considerations. During
the course of purchase, we require suppliers to sign the
Integrity Commitment, impress on them the attention of the
Company to integrity and disallow any corruption, bribery
and other illegal activities, and require them to undertake
to comply with laws and regulations in producing products
and providing services.
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Procurement
Guidelines
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Purchase of Food Materials

Since the restaurants in the Recreational Center involve
the purchase of ingredients, we pay special attention to
the quality of the food and accept the seafood products,
grain and oil, wine, livestock and poultry meat according
to the inspection standards promulgated by the state,
and have formulated rules to prohibit the purchase of
state-prohibited food additives, so that the quality of the
production of its restaurants is ensured at the source.
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EMPLOYEES

Employees are our most important and valuable asset
as well as an important backbone for our sustainable
development. We are committed to building and
maintaining a workplace culture of equality and diversity,
attract and retain valuable talents, provide competitive
compensation and benefits, improve the career
development ladder, and take care of the physical and
mental health of our employees, fairly treat and respect
each employee.

We strictly comply with all employment-related laws and
regulations, so that all employees are protected by law,
including but not limited to the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law of the People’'s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases and the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China. During the Reporting Period, we did not
violate employment-related laws and regulations.

EMPLOYEE OVERVIEW

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 7077
employees in mainland China.

By Gender
RER S8
Female 234
it 116
Male
St 254
0 100 200

7 The data included the total number of employees of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, while the scope of the
report covered the general office and 6 major property
projects in the property management segment, and the
Recreational Center, in which there were 636 employees.
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By age
RERSE

238 530 [ 2018

Aged below 20 Aged 21-30 Aged 31-40 Aged 41-50 Aged 51-60 Aged 60 or above
20BRA T 21-305% 31-405% 41-505% 51-605% 605%3 A |

Employee turnover rate by gender
BRMBBINEIRAR

Male 54.55%
S
Female 84.19%
eglis
Employee turnover rate by age
EIRXENFRDM
Below age 20 144.12%
20B% A TN
Aged 21-30 92.86%
21-305%
Aged 31-40 55.17%
31-405%
Aged 41-50 23.87%
41-505%
Aged 50-60 36.36%
50-605%
Aged 60 or above 100%
607K 3k LA F
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By employee category
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RECRUITMENT OF TALENTS

The Group follows the principle of merit-based
recruitment. During recruitment, we focus on the
conduct, team spirit, academic qualification, professional
knowledge, skills and other conditions of candidates, so
as to recruit the most suitable talents to become a part
of us. In addition, we are committed to becoming an
equal-opportunity employer to create a diversified and
discrimination-free workplace. We treat our employees
equally regardless of their gender, race, religion
and marital status, and have zero tolerance towards
discrimination or unfairness.

CULTIVATION OF TALENTS

For the sustainable development of the Group, it is
particularly important that employees equip themselves at
all times and add value. Therefore, we focus on improving
the Group’s career development ladder and training plan,
whereby employees can continuously improve themselves,
are stimulated to keep improving, fulfill their ambitions,
and develop their strengths in the Group.

The development of employees in the Group has a lot
to do with their work performance. In order to effectively
evaluate their performance, we have a performance
management system, pursuant to which we carry out
monthly, quarterly or annual performance assessments
of employees, the results of which are taken into
consideration in determination of the performance pay and
adjustments to salaries and positions.
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With regard to training, each department arranges
employees to serve as internal lecturers to impart
the knowledge, skills, quality and culture related to
businesses to their colleagues. We develop an annual or
monthly training schedule based on the needs of each
property project or department, covering new employee
training, positions, fire safety management, leadership,
professional quality and otherwise. Through diversified
forms of training, such as course, seminar, audio-visual
training, etc., employees can continuously learn and
absorb the latest knowledge and keep improving at work.
During the Reporting Period, for our property management
business, we developed an annual training schedule and
collected the needs of each property project to tailor a
series of training courses covering:
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. Fire safety and drill . %R ROBER
. Emergency handling . Y EHEIE
. Professional ethics and work skills . B EE A T ER&E
. Security management . AEER
. Community culture construction . o' =
. Reception of owners and households . (P ERF
. Complaint handling . H R g
. Dormitory management system . BEEEGE
. Skill of communication with owners . XEEBAREDT
. Environmental hygiene . REEAE
During the Reporting Period, the total training hours of the R IREHIM - EE BT B HEB2,150
Group exceeded 2,150 hours, and the average training /B AN AU RESRENNFEHT
hours by gender and employee category is as follows: BlEE
By Gender By employee Category
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Technical
personnel
RilTET
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General employees
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Senior management
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Special training activity of “developing the
service awareness and improving the service
quality”

In late September, we organized a special training activity
of “developing the service awareness and improving the
service quality” for managers of each property project and
members of related functional departments of the Group,
for the purpose of improving their knowledge about the
business development and property management of the
Company, thus improving the quality of customer services.
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Training courses for special working in
underground confined spaces

In order to improve employees’ safety awareness and
skills, we arrange engineers to participate in training
courses for special working in underground confined
spaces, which mainly cover the basic knowledge of
confined space, identification and assessment of
dangerous and harmful factors, field safety knowledge,
protective equipment, emergency rescue and etc.,
during the Reporting Period; and have set a professional
knowledge test, and grant to participants who pass
the test, a special work qualification certificate, so as
to ensure that the operation of engineers meets the
requirements of the Technical Regulation on Work Safety
in Underground Confined Spaces, thus improving the
safety management level.

\

\
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REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

In formulating compensation and benefit systems of
the Group, we provide our employees with reasonable
remuneration, benefits and compensation at the market
level, in sufficient consideration of their needs. The
remuneration of an employee consists of basic salary,
position salary, performance pay, commission and
otherwise. In addition to public holidays and annual
leaves, employees are entitled to take a leave of absence,
marriage leave, maternity leave, bereavement leave, sick
leave and otherwise. In order to enhance team cohesion
and motivate employees to keep improving, we reward
outstanding employees in the form of bonus, prize,
vacation, promotion or salary increase. Other benefits
include:

Holiday allowance and

Dormitory

BE

Social insurances and
housing provident fund
ig—%

Team building fund
EEES

Protection of rights and interests of female
employees

As an equal-opportunity employer, we pay special
attention to rights and interests of female employees, and
specially set a prenatal leave (1-2 times a month), abortion
leave (15-90 days), breastfeeding leave (1 hour per day
within 1 year after delivery) and leave on Women'’s Day, so
as to protect their rights and interests.

We attach great importance to the two-way communication
between employees and the management, and hope
that they can build mutual trust with sincere and open
communications. Employees may communicate and learn
about the company’s latest development through regular
meetings, morning meetings, workshops, semi-annual and
annual meetings, software systems, bulletin boards and
etc. Employees may make a complaint in writing or by
email. We conduct investigations and follow-up actions
according to the information provided by the complainant,
and undertake to keep the complainant’s information
confidential.

HRAEEEREMA

Transportation
allowance
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Communication
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R
Shopping
discount

BUEER

gift
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BE g MEARSE

In addition, we pay attention to the work-life balance of
our employees. We organize a wide range of activities,
such as annual dinner, outdoor sports, sports competition,
annual outing or outward bound, so that employees can
connect with one another, while relaxing themselves, thus
strengthening their sense of belonging to the Company.

During the year, we held the first “employees’ calligraphy,
painting and photography exhibition”, exhibiting employees’
artwork from their perspectives. Such event was strongly
supported by employees and the public. After one round
of voting, we granted a total of 3 awards, namely the Best
Moment Award for the photographic work, the Ink Aroma
Award (£ & #£) for the calligraphy work, and the Best
Creation Award for the painting work as commendations.

Rtz o  BPTAZEE T T EELR
T 2RSS ASENEY  1BRE P

SNEE)  BELE FEISEXMRED
FCoBEIMES L 28 @ MR 2
MEBE  BNHRAINEE-

AEE -BMERTEREIBRIEE &
2 BEYR] KREFAERABINEM
Fm BRADEFSETIUARLRNE S
X CEB-WERR  —HABEEBEIES
— RERME  BEER —2FR B
tEmm — RERMFER3ME IR - ALK -

Overview of Employees’ Activities

BEIEH %
Annual meeting
=3
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Outward bound
FiHNVR R
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group have always adhered to the philosophy of
people first and put the philosophy into practice through
rigorous occupational health and safety management. For
our property management business, we have obtained
OHSAS18001:2007/GB/T28001-2011 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System Certificate and developed
a set of management manuals according to requirements
of the certificate, to strengthen the safety management of
the work environment, meanwhile, we have incorporated
health and safety issues into daily training, so as to
improve employees’ awareness of safe operations, and
endeavored to implement the philosophy of “safety first”
in every property project and communicate it to every
employee.

REBREARZ

I%%%ﬁMAﬁﬁmﬁA'Lﬂf
EHREXRELZEZERE BEEER
H%Eﬁ°ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%
OHSAS18001:2007/GB/T28001-2011 B 3
BEZ2ERE LﬂﬂﬁlmﬁﬁkAﬂi
—EEEFM MR TERRENLZE
@%%@%?%W%%MAE%%%'%%
BEINZE2EEESR BRELZ2E ]
MESEBEES —EAWEXRBAEBMET -
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During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related RPN BEHRBERAGEME T2EL TEL
injuries or fatalities of our employees. WTEH -

CHILD AND FORCED LABOUR
PREVENTION

g < = Je

We provide personal protective equipment, such as insulated shoes, gloves, safety
helmet, etc., according to the position and work nature of employees, so as to
reduce the accident risk. For the property management business, we provide anti-
heatstroke or cold-proof equipment according to seasonal changes, so as to protect
the safety of employees working outdoors.

BEEINEUMIEHEZNERAR  WR&E  FE Z2EE  BEENE
EHRER MEEEBERSRREGELCRERADPBAMEREE RPN ITIENET
M 2RE -

We carry out fire drills every year and inspect all fire-fighting and electronic
equipment regularly to ensure environmental safety.
BEETHANEE Y STEPREMBEETNEFRERE  RERELZ2 -

We arrange an annual physical examination for employees to take care of their
physical health.
REIZHFERBR REMOMANIBLRE -

The Recreational Center has formulated the “Regulations on Handling Work-related
Injuries and accidents”, specifying the procedures and measures for the prevention
and handling of work-related injuries and accidents, so as to avoid material
casualties in accidents in a timely manner.
KEPOREKTERBINEREERTE)  HERHMERETHEFHEFHNRFMNME
B RBBEREREERELRFERLEAST -

BILET K566 5 8K

GR Properties has a zero tolerance of child and forced B EREL & TR B &8 - 8
labour. In addition, we do not purchase or use services A ESARBAEIRRE LN HERDE
from suppliers who use child and forced labour. When fTHRESE R HERKE - T8 T AR - A
new employees are recruited, the HR Department will be HERIF e BEREETHMNE  HEH
responsible for checking their ID cards to ensure that they F@®&E & IT/EER - — BRI E T & 4l
are eligible by age. If child and forced labour is found, we & & ER - RPN EE TNERITE -
will take immediate action to protect the victims and notify RESXZEA - BN BBt &R EE -
relevant social welfare institutions to ensure they receive IUBRSEANGEE OB o
appropriate assistance.
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ETHICS AND INTEGRITY

Maintaining a high level of business ethics and integrity is
the foundation for an enterprise. We require all employees
to strictly comply with all relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Criminal Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Interim Provisions on
Prohibition of Commercial Bribery, and strive to develop
a corporate culture of compliance with laws and integrity.
During the Reporting Period, no lawsuits were filed against
us or our employees in relation to corruption.

Employees are required to maintain good business ethics and
integrity. It is clearly outlined in our Employee Handbook ({ &
T F 1)) with respect to the moral regulations for employee
behaviours, in which employees are forbidden to ask for or
accept any interests from any business-related units, and where
appropriate, our employees are required to report their interest
conflict to the Group. In addition, we often provide relevant
training to enhance employees’ awareness in integrity and
morality.

We have a report mechanism, through which our employees
may report directly to our Audit Committee any suspected
misconduct, bribery, corruption or fraud. Once the case is
confirmed, we will take appropriate and timely actions, and
inform relevant regulators to solve it impartially.

For further information about our corporate governance,
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report.
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CARE FOR THE COMMUNITY

The Group has had deep roots in the community and
provided services for the community for years. While
focusing on our business, we have also contributed
to public welfare, organizing employees to actively
participate in community activities, thus contributing
to society. We focus our contribution on 3 main areas:
health, charitable activities and environmental protection
education.

Christmas Care

On Christmas Day, employees were organized by Fortune
Street and GOLDEN TOWER of the property management
business to dress up as Santa Claus and gave apples and
gifts to surrounding households, sending their blessings
and greetings.

Internship Opportunity

In order to support local education and nurture more
young generations to become outstanding talents in
the industry, we cooperate with schools of tourism
management, hotel management, English for tourism
or otherwise, and hire their students for internships for
approximately 6-12 months in the Recreational Center,
so as to enhance their knowledge about the industry,
while improving their professional knowledge and skills,
whereby they equip themselves to meet future challenges.
We offer diversified trainings, accommodation and meals
to interns. Interns who perform well may be hired as
regular employees.
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEER -E®

—REBRBARXEER

RIR

Chapter/Statement
=W BH

HERELAEEESDR

A. Environment

A RIE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA: Y
General Information on: Emissions P.40-42
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—REE | AEEBERIKBERBHR  FAKRLTHEEES B[ HERY P.40-42
ERBEBREVHNELESFH
(a) B3R - &
L) BFHBEBTABERZENHBEEZERRAONE
£ e
KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions |Emissions P.40
data.
BB | HERUYRE KR AR B - BB P.40
FEIRATA
KPI' A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. |Emissions P.40-41
BRENE | RERABEFNELRTE - B P.40-41
A2
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. Emissions p.42
BREVE | MELEBETEEDNEEREE - BB P.42
ZA1.3
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and Emissions p.42
intensity.
BMRBERE MELEZTEZVRERTE - B P.42
2EA1.4
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and | Emissions p.40-42
results achieved.
BREN |(HARESERENEBERAEHAR - B P.40-42
E1EA15
KPI' A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous |Emissions P.40-42
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved.
MRENE MIRBEAELESTEENNAE REEELEEN | D P.40-42
ZA1.6 BB R TSR °
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Statement Page
TEHR EH —REBERBEXEER - 4: 1 H#¥
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBHEA2 : BR{EH
General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including | Management of P.43-46
Disclosure |energy, water and other raw materials. Resources
Note: Resources may be used in production, storage, Management of Water
transportation, buildings, electronic equipment, Resources
etc.
—REE | ARERER(BELR - KREMERME)BEEK o |f2RE R P.43-46
i BRUBRAEE @7 B& BF BEBFR | KERER
% o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type | Management of P.43
in total and intensity. Resources
BMEEN |(RELESMEER SEEERERERER o |ERER P.43
FEIRA2.1
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Management of Water P.45-46
Resources
BMRENR |BREKEREE - KERE TR P.45-46
FEIRA2.2
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and | Management of P.43-44
results achieved. Resources
BREN | RERAMETERAEHR - BERE IR P.43-44
FEIRA2.3
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Management of Water P.46
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Resources
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
BRAER  |RAkEBGERAR LA BEAEE - A REABK KERE R P.46
EIRA24 | A ERAERR -
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished No packaging materials |N/A
products and with reference to per unit produced. |are used for the Group
BAREN |EXQBEEMHNEEREBEEEMGE - SEYEPREABRED|TER
HE1EA2.5 FHE A
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BHEA3: RERRKAEIR
General Policies on minimising the issuer’ s significant Environmental Protection|P.38-46
Disclosure |impact on the environment and natural resources.
—BEE | REBETAHSRERRABERENEALZENEE - |RRERE P.38-46
KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities | Environmental Protection | P.38-46
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
BRENR |HAEXBEHHRERRAERNEAZERER | RIBRE P.38-46
EIRA31 | MEERBEBEEENTY -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Statement Page
TEHE EEH - REERBERBXEER - 4: 8 1 B
B. Social
B. it &
Employment and Labour Practices
EREEBIER
Aspect B1: Employment
[EHEB1 : £ &
General Information on: Employees P.60-68
Disclosure |(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, leaves,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
—REE AUFMLEE HEREA IERH -KBRH - |BEL P.60-68
TE#E  Zt RIERAREMEFS KRN
(a) & &
L) BFHBITABERZENHEEZERANNE
* e
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age |Employee Overview P.60-61
group and geographical region.
BRER  |RMER EEED  FRAENRMRESHNESRL|EIHNE P.60-61
EIEB1.1 |-
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | Employee Overview P.61
geographical region.
BRER  |RMER FRAEANRMMRESHNEERALE - |BEIHE P.61
E1EB1.2

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EHEB2 : ZEREZ 2
General Information on: Occupational Health and | P.67-68
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and Safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.
—REE FEREZEZIFREIAAEREEHABENHCE BERRERZS P.67-68
Hy :
(a) LK + &
(D) BFHBETABERZENHBZELAINNE
Ko
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Statement Page
TEHR EH —REBERBEXEER - 4: 1 HE
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Occupational Health and |P.67-68
Safety
BRER |(AIFBERMIETHAB KL X - BERREL R P.67-68
E1EB2.1
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and |P.67-68
Safety
BHEN RBAIBEXIERAHK- BERRELSE P.67-68
E1EB2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Occupational Health and |P.67-68
measures adopted, how they are implemented and | Safety
monitored.
BREN |(HAMKANBERREREE  AREBERIT BERRELS P.67-68
EEB23 | REZEGE -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
EmEB3 : #&E MIF
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and |Cultivation of Talents P.62-64
Disclosure |skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities
—REE AERAREBRITIFBENMBERENEE - |[BEATL P.62-64
HIEIES -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender | Not disclosed for the N/A
and employee category. year
BREN |[RUNKEEEAESHNXIEEBDL - REEETREEBERE | TEA
$E1EB3.1
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Cultivation of Talents P.62-64
employee by gender and employee category.
BREN |[REFKEEREMNES BREETKAIINTH|EEAL P.62-64
$E1EB3.2  |BFEH -
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[ETB4 : 8 T AR
General Information on: Child and forced labour |P.68
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and prevention
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—RWE | AEMLEISRGS I FEE T Kot S EBEK | P.68
(a) X+ &
) BTHBITABEAZENEBZERIROINE
H
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Child and Forced Labour |P.68
practices to avoid child and forced labour. Prevention
BEEN |(HlmBBEEMNEENERET RBHET o | ZIEETRAHELEHBE|P.68
| $E1EB4 A
GR PROPE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
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Chapter/Statement
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Page

TEHSR EH —REBERBEXEER - 4: 8 1 H#¥
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Child and Forced Labour |P.68
practices when discovered. Prevention
BREN |HAEZERBRRABAREREAELAMEDRNLR « |ZRIEETIREBHSHHE|P.68
$518B4.2
Operating Practices
2EED
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EHB5 : /e E e
General Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain P.58-59
Disclosure |risks of the supply chain. Management
—RKE EREHEEAORREREEGERBR e 38 B 12 P.58-59
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region Over 90% of our N/A
suppliers are local
suppliers
BMRER |(RUMRISNWHEFHA - BRI HERE B R0% & | T E A
5 1EB5.1 AN b, 1 FE 7
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain P.58-59
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices| Management
are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored.
BREN |(HOAFBMERMHERNEN RMERTEBENN|HEEERE P.58-59
#E1EB5.2  |HERMBE URBEBEEBHNRITRERAE -
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEBR6: EQEE
General Information on: Service Quality P.47-58
Disclosure |[(a)the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
—REE FUMRHERNBRBENEREZSE BE BH | RBES P.47-58
RALBEEARBEB AN
(a) X+ &
L) EBFHBETABEAZENHBEZRLRONE
* o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped The Group is not N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. engaged in product
production
BREN |EEACELERBHTALZ>ERREAMALD SEYESREREE |TEMD
#E1EB6.1  |WH A D °




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BER g kEaWmE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Statement
TEHE EEH - REERBERBXEER - 4: 1
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related The Group is not N/A
complaints received and how they are dealt with. |engaged in product
production
BREN |BEEEAREGRBRBORFHEEUAREHFZEZ . SEYESIEREREE |TEA
5 1¥B6.2
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and | Not applicable to the N/A
protecting intellectual property rights. Group’ s businesses
BREN |HOEGERRENREEGHNED - TEANREEXD A A
¥ 1£B6.3
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and The Group is not N/A
recall procedures engaged in product
production
BREN |(HAiEERTAEREROKRER SEYESREREE |[TER
15 1%B6.4
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Privacy Protection P.58
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.
BREN |(HOBEEERRERLEBERE  URB@ANTR|LERE P.58
E1EB6.S  |EEGE -
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EBmEB7: RESS
General Information on: Ethics and Integrity P.69
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
—REE  BAMILER R HEFROEERER BEHE P.69
(a) L &
L) BFHBTABEAZENHBEEZELRAONE
ko
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Ethics and Integrity P.69
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
BRENE RERBAEETASNEREERETVEEANE S| BEHE P.69
FB7.1 FARMHEBE RFRER -
KPI B7.2 Description of consumer data protection and Ethics and Integrity P.69
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.
BSERE (MR HEERRRERX  UREERTRERS BEAE P.69
#B7.2 % o
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Chapter/Statement

Page

ITRER - BH —REERBAEXEER

Community

it

501

B

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEB8 : HtRmKE

General Policies on community engagement to understand | Care for the Community |P.70
Disclosure |the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
—BEE AFRENMER2ERBEREEMCHEFENRRE BELR P.70
(¥BEHGERMERNEHHE -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Care for the Community |P.70
BRENE | ZIEREE - Bz = P.70
£B8.1
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Relevant information is | N/A
not disclosed for the
year
BRENE | EZTEBEMBAER - AFEEENREREER | TERA
£B8.2
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
EREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Chunxian, aged 55, was appointed as an
executive director and the Chairman of the Company on
17 February 2014. He also acts as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Wei is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. In
addition, he is also the President of GR Properties USA
Inc. and East Pacific Properties LLC (each a US subsidiary
of the Company).

Mr. Wei graduated from the Department of Architecture,
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1t
REBETIRER) in 1985 and was conferred a Bachelor
of Engineering degree in architecture. Thereafter, Mr. Wei
obtained the senior engineer qualification in 1995. Mr. Wei
has more than 10 years of management experience in the
real estate sector, and is currently a director of Beijing
Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (3t 5% B 8% % I A R &
A]) who is primarily responsible for its product planning
and market strategies. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Wei
did not hold in the past three years any directorship in
other public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Wei is a director and the beneficial owner to each
of Wintime Company Limited (“Wintime”) and Gang Rui
International Investment (HK) Limited. (“Gang Rui”),
collectively the controlling shareholder (as defined in the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”))
of the Company. As at the date of this report, Wintime
and Gang Rui each held 1,434,421,537 and 811,738,927
shares in the Company, representing approximately
44 94% and 25.43% interest in the issued share capital
if the Company, respectively. Wintime is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Winluck Global Limited. The entire issued
share capital of Winluck Global Limited is beneficially
owned by Mr. Wei. Gang Rui is an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of Beijing Guorui Holdings Co. Limited”
(At = B # % Bk B BR 2 7). Beijing Guorui Holdings
Co. Limited* (it 3= B §f = fix B BR & &) which in turn is
indirectly owned by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun Zhongmin (an
executive director of the Company) as to approximately
91% and 9%, respectively. As such, Mr. Wei was deemed
to be interested in the said 2,246,160,464 shares in the
Company under Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Wei does not
have any relationship with any other directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the

Listing Rules.

~

*

ﬁie\Eng//sh name is an unofficial translation for identification
purpose only
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Mr. Sun Zhongmin, aged 52, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 17 February 2014.

Mr. Sun has been involved in the real estate sector since
1992. He has been engaged in preliminary work of real
estate projects and is conversant with the procedures for
various formalities and the relevant requirements. Mr. Sun
is currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company
Limited* (dt 5 B §% 4% % & BR A 7). Save as disclosed
herein, Mr. Sun did not hold in the past three years any
directorship in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Sun is the beneficial owner of 136,752,350 shares in
the Company, representing approximately 4.28% interest
in the issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Sun does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Liu Shuhua, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
17 February 2014. Ms. Liu is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Liu graduated from the Central University of Finance
and Economics (1 & B £8 K 2) in 1998 and was conferred
a Bachelor of Economics degree in accountancy.
Thereafter, Ms. Liu obtained the intermediate accountant
qualification in 2004. Ms. Liu has been engaged in
financial field for more than 10 years, including financial
management work in real estate development enterprises.
She is currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (dt = B9 §% 1= & B R 2 7]). Save as
disclosed herein, Ms. Liu did not hold in the past three
years any directorship in other public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas.

Ms. Liu does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification
purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, aged 48, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 17 February 2014. He also acts as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of each of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada
with a bachelor’'s honours degree in administrative
studies. Being an experienced Hong Kong certified
public accountant and a U.S. certified public accountant
(practising), he has gathered many years of experience in
the financial and capital markets. Mr. Tung is the assistant
president and general manager of the finance department
of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
392), an executive director, the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 371), an independent
non-executive director of South China Financial Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 619), as well as the company
secretary of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science
Incorporation (a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8247). Save
as disclosed herein, Mr. Tung did not hold in the past
three years any directorship in other public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Tung does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, aged 51, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 12 July 2017. He also acts as he chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Company’s audit committee and nomination committee.
Mr. Au Yeung holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) Degree
in Business Studies (Finance) from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, is a fellow member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a charter holder of the

—CFA Institute, and a member of Hong Kong Society of

Financial Analysts.
N
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Mr. Au Yeung is currently a vice president of a private
property developer in Mainland China. Meanwhile, he
is also an independent non-executive director to each
of China LNG Group Limited (HKEX stock code: 931),
Redsun Properties Group Limited (HKEX stock code:
1996), Shanshan Brand Management Co., Ltd. (HKEX
stock code: 1749) and eBroker Group Limited (HKEX
stock code: 8036), respectively. He served as the vice
president and the chief financial officer of several property
developers including South China Holdings Company
Limited (HKEX stock code: 413), Fosun International
Limited (HKEX stock code: 656), Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited (HKEX stock code: 16) and Powerlong Real
Estate Holdings Limited (HKEX stock code: 1238), all
of the companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Au Yeung has been in charge
of financial management for a number of companies
across different industries, including property developers,
financial institutions, conglomerates and international audit
firm totally more than 29 years of experience. He was
also an independent non-executive director of Kiu Hung
International Holdings Limited from 20 May 2016 to 26
September 2016 (HKEX stock code: 381).

Mr. Au Yeung did not hold in the past three years any
directorship in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Au Yeung does not have any relationship with
any other directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company
within the meaning of the Listing Rules.
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Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien, aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 14
February 2018. She also acts as a member of each of the
Company’s audit committee and remuneration committee.

Ms. To is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA Practicing)
and Certified Tax Adviser (CTA). She has over 30 years
of experience in finance and accounting field and over
20 years of management experience in information
technology audit, computer system, finance and
administration. Ms. To is the owner of a Hong Kong
accounting firm which provides extensive management
and consultancy services of accounting, audit, company
secretary and taxation for the subsidiaries of listed
companies from Europe, China, East Asia and Hong Kong.
She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Ms. To did not hold in the past three years any directorship
in other public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Ms. To does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring
high standards of corporate governance practice. The
Company stresses the importance of maintaining the
quality of the Board by ensuring that the directors possess
a wide range of expertise and the effective implementation
of an accountability system, so as to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper manner. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on the principles and code provisions
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company will seek to improve its management
and raise its control level to enhance the Company’s
competitiveness and operating efficiency, to ensure its
sustainable development and to generate greater returns
for the shareholders.

A.
A.1.

BOARD
The Board’s Role and Delegation

The primary role of the Board is to maximise long-term
shareholder’s benefit. It assumes the responsibility for
providing effective and responsible leadership and
control of the Company, and directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs in the pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives.

To enhance efficiency, the Board has delegated the
Chief Executive Officer the day-to-day leadership
and the management of the Group.
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A.2. Board Composition

At present, the Board comprises three executive
directors and three independent non-executive
directors. The directors of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
(appointed on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
(resigned on 14 February 2018)

On 14 February 2018, due to his own decision to
devote more time to his other business commitments,
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit tendered his written resignation as
an independent non- executive director upon expiry
of the director’s service contract to the Board. He also
resigned as a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Ms.
To Tsz Wan Vivien was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Board on the even date.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The biographical details of the current directors are
set out on pages 78 to 82 of this annual report. The
Board possesses a balance of skills and experience
which are appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The opinions raised by the
independent non-executive directors of the Company in
the Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices. All independent non-
executive directors have the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10
of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of
executive and independent non-executive directors
also generates a strong independence element on
the Board, which allows independent and objective
decision making process for the best interests of the
Company. The Company will review the composition
of the Board regularly to ensure the Board possesses
the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and
experience to meet the developmental needs of the
business of the Group.

In compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive directors, representing more than one-third
of the Board. All independent non-executive directors
are free from any business or other relationship with
the Company. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director, who were in the
Board during the year, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considers the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate
policy and overall strategy for the Group and to
provide effective oversight of the management of the
Group’s business and affairs. Apart from its statutory
responsibilities, the Board also approves the
strategic plans, key operational issues, investments
and loans, reviews the financial performance of
the Group and evaluates the performance and
compensation of senior management. These
functions are either carried out directly by the Board
or through committees established by the Board. The
Board is also responsible to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control system.
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A.3.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four
times a year to approve the annual and interim
results, and to review the business operation and
the internal control system of the Group. Apart
from these regular meetings, Board meetings are
also held to approve major issues. At least 14
days’ notice of each regular meeting is given to
all directors. Agendas and accompanying Board
papers are sent not less than three days before the
date of Board meetings to ensure that the directors
are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft
minutes of Board meetings and Board committee
meetings are circulated to directors for their review
and comment. All the said minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any director.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive of an issuer should be
separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. With effect from 17 February
2014, Mr. Wei Chunxian and Ms. Liu Shuhua have
been appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer (the “CEQ”) of the Company respectively.
There is a clear division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the CEO, in that the Chairman
provides leadership for the Board and bears
the primary responsibility for the functioning of
the Board, by ensuring its effective operation,
while the CEO is authorised and responsible for
the management of the day-to-day business of
the Group as well as the implementation of the
strategies approved by the Board.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment and
removal of directors are laid down in the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”).

All directors (including independent non-executive
directors) have entered into service contracts or
letters of appointment (as the case may be) with the
Company for a term of one year, which is terminable
by either party by giving no less than three months’
or one month notice in advance to each other
(as the case may be), subject to retirement from
office by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting.

Pursuant to Article 81 of the Articles, at every annual
general meeting one-third of the directors for the
time being or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the nearest number to but not less than
one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, a retiring
director shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr.
Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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A.5.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

Independence

The Board includes a balanced composition of
executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive directors so that there is a strong element
of independence in the Board. The independent
non-executive directors shall be of sufficient calibre
and stature for their views to carry weight.

Gender and age

The Company is committed to maintaining an
environment of respect for people regardless of
their gender in all business dealings and achieving
a workplace environment free of harassment and
discrimination on the basis of gender, physical
or mental state, race, nationality, religion, age or
family status. The same principle is applied to the
selection of potential candidates for appointment to
the Board.
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Skills and experience

The Board members should possess a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Group, including the independent non-executive
directors possessing professional accounting and other
qualifications. The directors have a mix of finance and
management backgrounds that taken together provide
the Group with considerable experience in a range
of activities including banking, investment and the
professions.

Measurable Objectives

1. The Company shall comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules
from time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive
Directors should be not less than three and
one-third of the Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional
or have intensive experience of the industry on
which the business of the Group is.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the
Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee
considered that the requirements of the Board
Diversity Policy had been met.
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EE RS
A.6. Induction and Continuing Development for Ab6. EEREEARKERRE
Directors
Pursuant to the CG Code which has come into BER-_Z——FMNA—BRER
effect from 1 April 2012, all directors and the (EERTR)  FTBESERATMW
company secretary should participate in continuous ERESEBEEETR  UERITE
professional development to develop and refresh FHMB LR UBREEEEER
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that HEEBARYAMENIBR THE
their contribution to the Board remains informed and EREHEE -
relevant.
Reading materials on relevant topics have been AHERGRENESTELBHEREZ
issued to directors where appropriate. All directors HEME - RPN EEFTAEZEE2N
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses. HEEIRE FEEHEETHEL
Newly appointed director has received formal and EREZARESEXNRFTRAEMER
tailored induction and training on his appointment, so BB LBEEEAEER
as to ensure that he has appropriate understanding WEEREBHEEENIER LR
of the business and operations of the Group and that TEMEAGE LMRARBEHEEE
he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations RETHBEREE-
under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.
According to the records maintained by the REARBMREZLE  RAFE
Company, the directors received the following N BR(EEEARTADEBIFE
training with an emphasis on the roles, functions EEFRIAT EFCEIUTHE
and duties of a director of a listed issuer in A HRZESFTRARESENAG -
compliance with the requirements of the CG Code Bree &M -
on continuous professional development during the
year:
Attended
seminars/
Read briefings
materials HEHFTE
Directors BEE B E AR Ene
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Wei Chunxian BimELE v
Mr. Sun Zhongmin HEHRELEE v
Ms. Liu Shuhua BIMELZ+ v
Independent Non-executive Directors ¥ 3F#1 77 # F
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric EREEE v v
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung Bl E & v v
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RGBSR L v v
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEELL v v
During the year, all directors confirmed that they RNARFEERN FIEEERER  BEH

have complied with the CG Code.
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A.7. Directors’ Attendance Record of Boardand A.7. EE L EEEREERKREAS

General Meetings 2 0 %

There were fourteen board meetings and two REBFEFERNERITTOAEERS
general meetings held during the year under BEERZABREAE EETHEEEH
review. The attendance of the directors at the board eELBREREHBROT :

meetings and the general meetings was as follows:

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of
the directors

EEdHAEES
BIEBRE
Board General

Notes meeting meeting
Directors BEE Mt &t EzRE= BREXE
Executive Directors HITEFE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) BB E(FE) 14/14 2/2
Mr. Sun Zhongmin BRIPR%E 14/14 2/2
Ms. Liu Shuhua 2R E L+ 14/14 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors &/ IE#H iTE F
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric EREEAE 14/14 2/2
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung BllGE 2 & 14/14 2/2
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit BB EE (a) 1/1 0/0
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MEREL L (b) 13/13 2/2
(a) Resigned on 14 February 2018 (a) R-ZZE—N\F-A+MOAEET
(b) Appointed on 14 February 2018 (b) R-ZZE-NFE_AT+NBEZFE
The Company has complied with the code B2 Z—\F+_A=+—HItF
provisions set out in the CG Code as stated in € RAFDES ™A+
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the a2 EERTRI)ANFTE 2 5F
year ended 31 December 2018. B M§E S o
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A.8. Compliance with Code for Securities

A.9.

A.10.

Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all directors of the Company, all the
directors of the Company have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards and
provisions as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2018. The Company
is not aware of any non-compliance with the Model
Code regarding the trading of the Company’s
securities for the year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in provision
D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year, the Board reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the compliance of the
Model Code and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code.

Director’s Nomination Policy

The director’'s nomination policy of the Company
was adopted by the Board and became effective on
1 January 2019 and the Nomination Committee is
responsible for execution.

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilizes various
methods for identifying director candidates,
including recommendations from Board members,
management, and headhunters. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward director
candidates who are not nominated by Board
members. In addition, the Nomination Committee
will consider director candidates properly submitted
by shareholders of the Company through formal
procedures set out in the Company’s Procedures for
Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director.

\
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For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing
director candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration
and recommendation.

All director candidates, including incumbents
and candidates nominated by shareholders of
the Company are evaluated by the Nomination
Committee based upon the director’s qualifications.
While director candidates will be evaluated on the
same criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the
discretion to establish the relative weighting of such
criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
skill sets, and experiences of the collective Board
rather than on the individual candidate.

The Board shall have the final decision on all
matters relating to the recommendation of director
candidates by the Nomination Committee to stand
for election at any general meeting. The Board will
take such recommendations under advisement
and is responsible for designating the director
candidates to be elected at the annual general
meeting of the Company and electing directors to fill
Board vacancies.

Procedure for Appointment of New Director

Director candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed
form, together with their written consent to be
appointed as a Director and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any documents or the
relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to
their standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and
the biographical information (or relevant details)
of the director candidate, evaluate such director
candidate based on the criteria as set out below
to determine whether such director candidate is
qualified for directorship.
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If the process yields one or more desirable director
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each director
candidate (where applicable).

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
of the Company for election as a Director at the
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate such director candidate
based on the criteria as set out below to determine
whether such director candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendation to shareholders of the Company in
respect of the proposed election of Director at the
general meeting (where applicable).

A director candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her
candidature at any time before the general meeting
by serving a notice in writing to the company
secretary of the Company.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have
been proposed by the Board to stand for election at
the general meeting.

Procedure for Re-appointment of Director at
General Meeting

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Directors including their attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable, general
meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring Directors continue to
meet the criteria as set out below.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to the shareholders of
the Company in respect of the proposed re-election
of Directors at the general meeting.
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Director Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee considers the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a
director candidate in recommending to the Board
potential new Director, or the continued service of
existing Director:

(a) the highest personal and professional ethics
and integrity;

(b) proven achievement and competence in the
nominee’s field and the ability to exercise
sound business judgment;

(c) qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are complementary to those
of the existing Board;

(d)  the ability to assist and support management
and make significant contributions to the
Company’s success;

(e) the contribution on diversity of the Board and
any measurable objectives adopted by the
Nomination Committee for achieving diversity
on the Board;

(f) an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities
that is required of a member of the Board
and the commitment of time and energy
necessary to diligently carry out those
responsibilities; and

(9) meet the “independence” criteria as required
under the Listing Rules and the composition
of the Board is in conformity with the
provisions of the Listing Rules from time to
time (where applicable).

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated
minimum criteria for director candidate, although
the Nomination Committee may also consider such
other factors as it may deem to be in the best
interests of the Company and the shareholders of
the Company.

ﬁ#k}r/\m #& =

EFHEER
REZEERBRUTRAEZRERE
EEREANERBEHNESHIABE
ERERERMB ZHIEER -

(8) EEHEKFZEAARTEETH
A

(b) RERZIAZBBARAR ﬁﬂ&
BERENED YHENTER
bz mEHE

(c) HWRERBEZFRZER &
%$¥§% A e R

(d) HBeEIBOHEAIEERE I
BERRAREBKRINEHERE
Er

(e) REEZEZ=RKEZITIEMEM
HIERZBEMRMNERE
ERREZTTIEH AT ER
=

(f) FEEERKREMBEAEZR
EET UREERBITZEE
EFBEHRAZEREEND &

(9) ZBEINLWmRHRAIFREZBE
ST R BEERMAKE
B EmoR Az & s @

M) e

BEXFEIN  BERBZEGT
AREERAAEBEA/NTAARBLAN
RAEBRR &K EMN R ZE@I% HERE

ERTMEERRRATREIZRE
2% .

/

FEME 2018 HSHEARAT | 95

| s

-

X



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEREOMRE

A.11. Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

B.1.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover in respect of potential legal actions against its
directors and officers.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As part of good corporate governance, the Board
has set up an Audit Committee, a Nomination
Committee and a Remuneration Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in July 1999
with specific written terms of reference (which
have been revised subsequently to cope with
changes) which clearly deal with its authority and
duties. The Audit Committee’s role is to review the
Group’s financial reporting, internal controls and
corporate governance issues and to make relevant
recommendations to the Board.

During the year, the Audit Committee consisted of
three independent non-executive directors. As at 1
January 2018, Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric acted as
Chairman with Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung and Mr. Chui
Tsan Kit acted as members. Subsequently on 14
February 2018, Mr. Chui Tsan Kit resigned and Ms.
To Tsz Wan Vivien was appointed as independent
non-executive director and acted as member of
Audit Committee.

The corporate governance functions performed
during the year included the following:

(a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board;

N\
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(c)

(d)

In discharging its responsibilities,
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to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of
directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the issuer’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct applicable to employees and
directors; and

to review the issuer’s compliance with
the code and disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

the Audit

Committee has performed the following tasks during
the year:

(i)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

reviewed the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with the applicable
standards;

reviewed the draft interim and annual
financial statements and the related draft
results announcements;

reviewed the change in accounting standards
and assessed the potential impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements;

discussed with the management the relevant
issues including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
functions and ensured that the management
has discharged its duty to have an effective
internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget; and

made recommendation on the appointment
or reappointment of the external auditor and
approved their terms of engagement.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-
depth experience in their profession. All of them
possess appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing

Rules.
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B.2.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during
the year under review and the attendance of its
members was as follows:

REBFEAERITMAEZERES

S HERBMHERRAOT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Notes EEXHAEE
Members of Audit Committee ERZEEERE K1 it EHTERIY
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERBELE 2/2

(Chairman) (/)

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung BL %8B LA 2/2
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RIRGE LA (a) 0/0
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MERELL (b) 2/2
(a) Resigned on 14 February 2018 (a) R-ZZE—-NF_AT+HBHEHFE
(b) Appointed on 14 February 2018 (b) - f—)\¢ A+THBEZE
Nomination Committee B2 REZE®
The Board set up the Nomination Committee in é%%ﬁf\_ggtﬁiﬂfﬁj%%é
March 2007 with specific written terms of reference Eg UTEEERESZE(RAEER

(which have been revised subsequently to cope
with changes) which clearly deal with its authority
and duties. The Nomination Committee’s roles
are principally to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding
any proposed changes; identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board in this regard; and
assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors.

In respect of code provision A.5.1 of the CG
Code, the Nomination Committee of the Company
is chaired by the Chairman of the Board and
comprises a majority of independent non-executive
directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee
consisted of three directors. Mr. Wei Chunxian
acted as Chairman with Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung acted as members.

\
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The work performed by the Nomination Committee RAFERN BB EZE@METZT

during the year included the following: EBRIEUNTSIA -

)] to review the structure, size and diversity D) BMHESERZEE AELK
(including without limitation, gender, age, BEZ ik (BEENRRME
cultural and educational background, Al T UERBEES -
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, Rk BELR - e H#
knowledge and length of services) of the X AR % AE 8 - A E T BB
Board and make recommendations on ABANRRBMBEHESRIE
any proposed changes to the Board to Mz EBRTNESR
complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

i) to assess on the independence of the i) FEBIIERNTEST 2R
independent non-executive Directors; and % R

i) to make recommendations to the Board i) MEBZZAEREFZEZME U

REFEIFINEFTREH
2 UMEABEEERA
BEEEERKEBEZAL -

on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for
Directors and to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members.

The Nomination Committee held three meeting REBEFERNERIT=RIEREZE®
during the year under review and the attendance of R oHEHMNEMNEFEBRAT

its members was as follows:

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Notes EEEHAEES
Members of Nomination Committee EEZZE2E /K2 b i BIEBRRE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) B E(FE) 11
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERESEAE 11
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung Biim T e L AL 11
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B.3. Remuneration Committee

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in
May 2005 with specific written terms of reference
(which have been revised subsequently to cope
with changes) which clearly deals with its authority
and duties. The Remuneration Committee’s role
is to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for directors and
senior management and to ensure that they are
fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to
the Group’s overall performance, having regard to
the interests of shareholders. The principal duties
of the Remuneration Committee include determining
the specific remuneration packages of all executive
directors and senior management with reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time. No director or any of his/
her associates may be involved in any decisions as
to his/her own remuneration.

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules,
the Remuneration Committee is chaired by an
independent non-executive director and comprising
a majority of independent non-executive directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of three directors. As at 1 January 2018,
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung acted as Chairman with
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric and Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
acted as members. Subsequently on 14 February
2018, Mr. Chui Tsan Kit was resigned and Ms. To
Tsz Wan Vivien was appointed as independent
non-executive director and acted as member of
Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year included the following:

(i) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package of the independent non-executive
directors of the Company; and

(i) reviewed and approved the remuneration

package for the executive directors and
management of the Company.
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The Remuneration Committee held two meetings
during the year under review and the attendance of
its members was as follows:

EEREORS

REBEFERNERITMATMEES
& -HEKBMELFERBRLOT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Members of Notes EEAHAEES

Remuneration Committee FMEEERE igsa BTEERE

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman) BL S8 2 LA 2/2
(/)

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELEE 2/2

Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RIRG LA (a) 0/0

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HMERELL (b) 2/2

(a) Resigned on 14 February 2018
(b) Appointed on 14 February 2018

RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARATION AND REPORTING OF
ACCOUNTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the accounts which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. A statement
by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities
is set out on pages 151 to 159 of this annual report.

The directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

RZE—-—NFZATMAEBE
(b) RZE-NF-_ATHBEEZE

REREHEEZRE

AAREEHAREAEAEREEN
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL
Risk Management Structure

The Board of directors is responsible to maintain
an effective risk management and internal control
system, in order to safeguard the interest of the
Company and shareholders as a whole. However,
the risk management and internal control systems
were designed to manage rather than eliminate all
risks exposure of the Group. It does not provide
an absolute shield against inherent limitations
such as unpredictable risks, uncontrollable events
such as natural catastrophes, fraud, and errors of
judgement, but it may provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements
or losses.

The Company established an Enterprise Risk
Management framework in order to implement
effective risk management. Our risk management
structure is simple and clear, which has categorical
duties.

Board of Directors

The Board plays an important role in the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is responsible for establishing the risk
management framework and risk management
policies, and the relevant policies are aiming
to assess and determine the Group’s business
strategies and defining the risk tolerance. The
Board, with assistance from the Audit Committee,
monitors risk management and internal control
system in an on-going manner and reviews, at least
annually, the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system.
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Audit Committee

Audit Committee stands at the highest level of the
risk management and internal control system below
the Board. The Audit Committee assists the Board
in overseeing the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems by providing advice and
support in respect of all risk matters, including
on-going monitoring of the implementation of risk
management procedures, reviewing the Group’s
risk register, reviewing and approving the internal
control review plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for
identifying and on-going monitoring strategic,
operational, financial, reporting and compliance
risks associated with the daily operations of the
Group. The Management reports to the Board and
Audit Committee on the relevant risks and their
changes. The management also formulate various
internal control measures to mitigate the risks, and
rectify internal control deficiencies they identified in
a timely manner.

Independent Professional Internal Control
Advisor

To ensure the independence of the internal control
review, the Group has outsourced the internal
audit function to an independent professional
internal control advisor (the “Internal Control
Advisor”), whose work scope includes reviewing
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
procedures and effectiveness of the internal
control systems. The Internal Control Advisor
formulates the internal control review plan based
on risk assessment and gets approval from Audit
Committee, and will communicate with the Audit
Committee about the review results directly.
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Risk Management Procedures

The Group has established the Enterprise Risk
Management framework so as to effectively
manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group. The
Enterprise Risk Management framework defined the
procedures for identifying, assessing, responding
to and monitoring risks and their changes. Through
regular discussion with each operating function,
the Group strengthened the understanding of risk
management so that all employees will understand
and report the risks timely which enhanced the
Group’s ability to identify and manage risks.

Define risk |dentify
scope potential risks
EIRvAE e BB R

"\

Monitoring and
report changes

ERNMEREL

In the course of risk identification, the Management
liaise with each operating function, collect
significant risk factors that affect the Group
from the bottom to the top, in various aspects
including strategic, operational, financial, reporting
and complying aspects. After establishing risk
assessment scope, the Management will assess the
potential impact and possibilities of the risks and
prioritise the risks, and make appropriate internal
control measures are then developed to mitigate the
risks identified and monitor the changes of risks in
an on-going manner.
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Main features of our risk management and
internal control systems

Maintain an effective internal control system
(operational level)

° Establish clear internal control policies and
procedures, clearly define the responsibilities,
authorities and accountabilities of each key
position;

° Establish code of conduct, convey to all
employee the Group’s requirements on
integrity and ethic;

o Establish whistle blowing mechanism,
encourage employees to report incidents of
misconduct or fraud;

° Establish appropriate level of information
technology assess rights, avoid leakage of
price sensitive information;

° Establish inside information disclosure policy,
including reporting channels and responsible
person of disclosure, unified response to
external enquiries and obtain advice from
professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary.

In 2018, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of internal control policies and procedures,
including those related to financial reporting and
Listing Rule compliance and the Management also
conveyed confirmation of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems to
the Board and the Audit Committee. The Board
has considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions during the evaluation of
the review of risk management and internal control
systems.
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On-going risk monitoring (risk management
level)

Based on the risk management framework and risk
management policies established by the Board,
the Management communicate with each operating
function, collect significant risk factors that affect
the Group from the bottom to the top. The Group
has established a risk register to record the risks
identified, the Management will assess the potential
impact and possibilities of each major risk and
develop relevant internal control measures.

In 2018, the Management conducted evaluation of
risk management structure and procedures and
submitted a risk assessment report to the Board
and Audit Committee, including a 3-years internal
control review plan, to enable the Board and
Audit Committee to effectively monitor the major
business risks of the Group and know about how the
Management responses to and mitigates such risks.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

We established appropriate level of information
technology assess rights, avoiding leakage of price
sensitive information. We also establish inside
information disclosure policy, including reporting
channels and responsible person of disclosure,
unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the
Stock Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules requirements
regarding handling and dissemination of inside
information.

Independent review

The Group has outsourced the Internal Control
Advisor to conduct an internal control review,
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and
submitted the internal review report to the Audit
Committee.
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In 2018, the Internal Control Advisor has completed
the internal control review work during the year.
The review aimed at the transaction incurred during
the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2018, and the scope of the review included the
effectiveness of the internal control measures in
corporate level and operational level. the Internal
Control Advisor has reported the results of the
internal control review work to the Audit Committee.

The Management has established remediation and
improvement plan for internal control weaknesses
identified. Nothing has come to the Audit
Committee’s or Board’s attention to believe that risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group are inadequate or ineffective.

Principle risks and uncertainties

The following are the principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group and their changes
during the year:

EEREORS
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
& & g TERRERER 25
Economic Affected by economic downturn, — Regularly analyse overall Decreasing
downturn the number of people who are able economic changes, adjust A

BB N7 to purchase or rent the property business strategies, and

decreased. We may need to lower

selling price or rental rate or may even

not be able to sell or lease. We might

also be unable to increase our property
management/other additional service

fee due to the overall worse economic ~ —
conditions.
RERKEMYECBRNBEIAREY
EMARYD  RAEERFETAEEH
O EEREHE WA U RRAR
REBEMBNRSERER HoBM —
RBEHOER -

communicate quickly with
managers in business areas
through video conferencing

to implement recommended
improvements

TR ERLBEES HEX
BRE UABARGEIREE
EEBEHERASEREER
BT

Conduct due diligence and
understand local economy and
property market outlook before
acquisition of new property
investment projects
BEHNNERERERENTR
BiE BREMCERMED
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Parasiy
REE ORE
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
[ B8 i TERBERER 2E
Human Insufficient staff or incompetency of our — Be close to the pay market No change
Resources  staff might affect our ability to provide dynamics, control the wastage & &1t
ANER quality service to meet our customers’ rate
demands. In addition, labour costs — ZEEMMISERE - EHIRAR
in mainland China are expected to
increase which might also decrease our — Recruitment planning every year,
profits or competitiveness. timely replenishment of staff
EEABETYEREELTR BER turnover
mENRBKEREEPER B0 — BEETHERE  REHRR
B 310 ) 25 B ) B AR TR A A B 5 0 7 AT KANF
SHIBRANMNBRBEFN -
— Provide adequate training for
staff to improve staff service
standards
— REIRMAREI RABT
PR Bk %
Brand Name  If we fail to maintain our service level — Daily self-examination to Decreasing
in k2 in customer service, engineering, maintain and enhance the quality &4

N\

cleaning or security, customers may
lose confidence which will have a very
negative impact on our Company’s
reputation and image.
SEERGCERRBKT  EEZPRE -
IRESE  BRYIRZIEFEREAM
B EEPAAGE HEBRFEREN
BREENTE -
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Investigate customers’
satisfaction, monitor the latest
ratings for each project,

follow up timely on customers’
complaints

REEPREE EEZHEBEHN
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Provide regular training for staff
to ensure that employees have
sufficient capacity to deal with
problems
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f TERBERER 2E
Outsourcing  Failure by service providers and — Conduct strict assessment and ~ No Change
SN contractors to proceed projects to follow due tender procedures & (L

Natural

disasters
BEAXE

their completion on time and on the
unsatisfactory quality of the work may

incur extra cost to the Group in orderto  —
complete the work.

REHERIARBEREZETKTIE

FETERERNERE FREYERP —
HEMRBOMERE  RTEMFTEE

POESMK A AT AR B B T -

Inappropriate handling of emergency —
situations triggered by natural disasters
(e.qg. fire, electric shock, traffic accident
etc.) or epidemic outbreaks may lead
to substantial/numerous claims and
liabilities against the Group and damage —
to our reputation, in addition to human
casualties and direct losses on assets.
ERBETERBRMAKRNBALE(H

mAK BE RBENF)RERRE —
BENH BRURSIRAGBURERAE
BRI BARSAEEEHAE /B8

RE EREM URBREEBES

in selecting outsourcing service
providers.
EEBINERBHRERRETE
EMETERBELRE -

Our project manager and legal
staff would review the terms of a
outsourcing agreement to ensure
the duty and responsibility of
each party therein are clearly
defined and stated.
HEKBMEBABEEIES
RGER - BRESABE GO
B o

Evaluate and update
performance by outsourcing
service providers on regular
basis to ensure their service
standards meet the Group's
requirements.
FHBEINEREHERRE
BREBRBKTEFEEEER -

Put in place various contingency No change
plans and strategies and with ~ EE b
designated persons-in-charge

to deal with specific risks, and

conduct of regular disaster drills.
HEERESRHARRE
FuEBEHEEEA Im%&

7B SRR -

Periodic checks on equipment
for emergency and regular
inspections would be conducted
so that any source of severe
hazards could be identified as
early as possible.
EHmENLRE  ARETH
FUE REERERLBRR -

Maintain third party liability
insurance to diversify our risk
exposure and review the scope
and amount insured regularly.
%““’*%Efﬂ% 3 A% B
EHRNREEENRE - /
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
[ B8 i TERBERER 2E
Occupational Failure by the Group to put in — Put in place various work safety No change
health and place appropriate emergency procedures, strictly observe mEL
safety equipment, formulate and oversee and implement precautionary
BEMEFEE  the implementation of various safety measures for all duties and
Z% procedures that result in injuries of our procedures that are hazardous

employees in work may incur liability to in nature. Designated persons

the Group against any compensation, would be appointed to oversee

give adverse effect to our reputation and the implementation of such

cause an outflow of talents. measures.

EEREERECBNERE  HIELE — HEZ2TERRF  ZENTE

BEREZERFONT SIBEIRIE E ERBMEIEREERD

BREG SEHURTEELRERT Y MRl THEREBEAERS

AEMBEEREETE  URIIBAT WMITIER

MK e

— Provide training on safety and
raise the awareness of our
employees on occupational
safety.

— R 2EI - HRETHRBE
ZEHER

— Conduct regular inspection on
safety equipment to ensure they
are in good working conditions.

—  EHRERERHE ERKEE

fEIE®
Interest rate  The Group holds borrowings on floating — Closely monitor the interest rate, No change
7l & interest. This may increase the cost and report to the management  E &1L
and have an effect on profits due to the timely on the interest rate
increase in interest rates. changes
SESANIDNSHENER Bk — NERFERR  RERER
SXAEFAMFEMEMLAE  FEF @[ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ“ft

e
— Formulate policy and take
measures to reduce interest rate
risk
— 5 7E JE 5 UK PR ¥ e SRR HE R
157 2 [l B

\
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f TERBERER 2E
Foreign The Group holds assets and liabilities — — Actively monitor the fluctuation ~ No change

exchange rate denominated in Hong Kong dollars,

& 2 Renminbi, US dollars and GBP. Foreign
exchange rate fluctuations may bring
exchange losses to the Company.
SERBUET AR® ZETRESH —
BrBEREBR - SEEXRPHERAE
DA REREBRL -

Relevant Changes in politics, policies and —
politics, regulations on real estate might increase
policies and  our operating expenses. If we breach
regulations on relevant regulatory and governing —
real estate requirements, such as lack of ability
BBEMWEHR to adjust the operational procedures
HE@BCA B timely, the Group may incur losses due  —
ERER to penalty, suspension or interruption of
operation
ERBHER ~>‘£%E&ET§%I$§;5W@1M
SEZERY -BEREERBEZARE
BEXR(BREARERKHAGEERTFE —
BOMARKESAEERTER  HE X
L EMmS EEX -

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, the company secretary of the
Company has taken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

in foreign exchange rate change, E#/t
consider all necessary actions

(such as reduce loan/investment,
hedging).

REEEEXRER  WHEEH
FEHBEE (MR EE/RE £
BHHE)

Perform sensitivity analysis to
quantify currency exposure
THETHERESN  B1LEH
[ B

Actively monitor changes of laws No change
and regulations associated with £ &1t

the business of the Group.
BREZRAEEXBARBNZE

BEREY

Consult legal staff or legal
advisors to ensure the Group's
compliance with policy,
regulatory and governing
requirements.
HAEBABIEBBERBERA
SENAHE ZRAREE(BH
BIR) Ek
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young.
(including any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with Ernst & Young or
any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party having knowledge of all relevant information
would reasonably conclude as part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally). The remuneration
paid/ payable to Ernst & Young in respect of audit
services and permissible audit related and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December
2018 amounted to approximately HK$2,000,000
and HK$839,500 respectively. The non-audit
services of HK$839,500 comprised (i) accountants’
report relating to circulars for acquisitions of
approximately HK$449,000 (ii) agree-upon
procedures on interim financial information of
approximately HK$370,000; and (iii) other and tax
services of approximately HK$20,500.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, a general
meeting of shareholders of the Company can
be convened by a written request signed by
shareholders holding at least 5% of the total rights
of all the shareholders having a right to vote at
that meeting, stating the nature of the business
to be dealt with at that meeting, and deposited
at the Company’s registered office. The rights of
shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings
are contained in the Company’s constitutional
documents. Details of such rights to demand a poll
and the poll procedures are included in all related
circulars to shareholders and will be explained
during the proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be posted on the website of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day
of the shareholders’ meeting.
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The general meeting of the Company provides a
forum for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. The Chairman of the Board, as well
as the Chairmen of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee or in
their absence, other members of the respective
committees, normally attend the annual general
meeting and other relevant shareholders’ meetings
to answer shareholders’ queries at the shareholders’
meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including
election of individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communication
and relations with its investors. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely
manner.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend
Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became
effective on 1 January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board
maintains an appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company. The Board endeavors to strike a balance
between the Company’s shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable
dividend policy.

The declaration and recommendation of dividends
is subject to the decision of the Board after
considering the Company’s ability to pay dividends,
which will depend upon, among other things:

° the Group'’s financial results;

° the Group’s cashflow, liquidity and capital
requirements;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt
level;
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o the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Group;

° the Group’s shareholders’ interests;

° the Group’s current and future business
operations, conditions, cycle and strategies;

o the general market conditions;

° the shareholders’ and the investors’
expectation and industry’s norm;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that
may be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

° past dividend record; and

o any other factors the Board may deem
relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to
pay a dividend and the form to pay, subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Articles. Any final dividends
declared by the Company must be approved by
an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the
Company at an annual general meeting and must
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

The Board may also consider declaring special
dividends from time to time, in addition to the
interim and/or final dividends.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company had not amended its constitutional
document.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) hereby present its
report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the property
development and investments in the PRC, the USA and the
UK, and the provision of property management services
in Beijing and Hebei Province, the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a
variety of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk,
liquidity risk, operational risk and market risk.

The Group’s business and profitability growth during the
Year is affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA
and the UK. The divergence of monetary policies in major
advanced economies of global nations is expected to
continue to contribute partly to the volatility of fund and
trade flows and that of asset prices in Hong Kong, the
PRC, the USA and the UK.

In particular, the potential impact on economic activities
and real estate prices is also affected by political and
economic developments in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
USA and the UK. The long term business and profitability
growth of the Group is expected to continue to be affected
by the changes in macro-economic variables, including
unemployment rates, real gross domestic product growth,
consumer and asset price indexes and credit demand,
and also qualitative factors such as political and economic
policy developments of Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and
the UK.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2018
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 160 to
163.
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The Board did not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2017: Nil). No interim dividend was
declared for the Year (2017: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 has been stated in Chairman’s Statement
on pages 4 to 6 and Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 7 to 27.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group
are set out in Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on page 28 to 77.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

An account of the key relationships of the Group with its
employees, customers and suppliers is contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page 28
to 77.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and equity of the Group for the last five financial years/
period, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
and the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2017 are set out on pages 291 to 292. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance.
The Group has been allocating system and staff resources
to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations
and to maintain strong working relationships with
regulators through effective communications. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Board is not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.

GR PROPEﬁ\'I'IES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

EERIYERZBRNAFERMBEE(ZF

—EF ) BN AT EIRE T HRE
T fE) -

XB O

AEBEE-T-A\F+-A=+—-AL

FECZERODBHNFIBEEFE EFER
EIUNRETERE %27E|—EEEJEHTHFFE&
#rle

BRRREBR

AEENRREBRELRRAANF28HEETT
HEWRE HEREAREA -

HER EFRABRAHEEMR

%

AEFHEESE BPRHEERNEEEH
1?#]9%9%55%%’ SEEF77ANIRE
e RERRE -

HEEHBE

AEEBEREVRFE HBH2zETEE
%LA&ﬁE BEMERNME (R AX

AREABE-_T-N\F+-_A=1+—BL#F
B2 REVEAVBHRERRBE-_T—+
FTA=Z+T—HALEFEZER) #ARXE

2O1TBE EH2928 - W Z W KK EZ
RAEMBHREN —BD o

SBTHRERREN

AEERAETEERETNEEZEERTE
BEER AEEB-BEIEREREANE
RHERFEE TR POERUAREBE R
BBAREREERBONRBETERR -1
HE_T-N\F+_A=+—BLLEFE -
EERIAMNBEMNEEERYAKEE
EEAFENHBEIREREZRNER



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during
the year is set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

On 18 January 2018, the Company allotted and issued
95,446,723 new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise
of the conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$86,856,518.44 at the issue
price of HK$0.91 per share. Based on the market price
of the Company’s shares of HK$1.105 as at 18 January
2018, the share capital of the Company was increased by
approximately HK$105,468,628 as a result of the issuance
of 95,446,723 new ordinary shares.

On 22 February 2018, the Company allotted and issued
to not less than six allottees (who are independent third
parties) 179,484,147 new ordinary shares pursuant to the
subscription agreements all dated 26 January 2018 in the
principal amount of HK$179,484,147 at the issue price of
HK$1.00 per share. The net issue price was approximately
HK$1.00 per share. The closing price of the Company's
shares on 26 January 2018 was HK$1.08. Based on the
market price of the Company’s shares of HK$0.996 as at
22 February 2018, the share capital of the Company was
increased by approximately HK$178,766,210 as a result
of the issuance of 179,484,147 new ordinary shares. The
proceeds raised through the subscription were used to
repay loans and as general working capital of the Group.

On 24 July 2018, the Company allotted and issued
910,932,662 ordinary shares pursuant to the open offer at
the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based on the market
price of the Company’s shares of HK$0.82 as at 24 July
2018, the share capital of the Company was increased by
approximately HK$746,964,782 as a result of the issuance
of 910,932,662 new ordinary shares. Please refer to page
7 of this report for further detail regarding the open offer.
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On 17 August 2018, the Company completed the first
completion with the acquisition of 95% of the share capital
of Wise Expert Investment Limited, at a consideration
of HK$1,464,254,000, from Winluck Global Limited
(a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian) and
Silky Apex Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Sun Zhongmin). The consideration was paid as to
HK$361,260,800 by the allotment and issue of 451,576,000
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.80 per
consideration share and the remaining HK$1,102,993,200
by the issue of convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$1,102,993,200 convertible into 1,378,741,500
shares at the initial conversion price of HK$0.80 per
convertible share. By way of a summary, the conversion
rights underlying the convertible bonds may be exercised
provided that any such conversion (i) does not trigger
general offer obligations under the Takeovers Code on the
part of the bondholder or parties acting in concert with it;
(ii) does not result in the public float of the Shares being
less than 25% or such other percentages as the Listing
Rules may prescribe, and that the relevant bondholder
complies with the procedures set out in the conditions
to the convertible bonds. Based on the market price
of the Company’s shares of HK$0.82 as at 17 August
2018, the share capital of the Company was increased by
HK$370,292,320 as a result of the issuance of 451,576,000
consideration shares.

On 3 September 2018, the Company allotted and issued
7,500,000 new shares pursuant to the exercise of the
conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$6,000,000 at the issue price
of HK$0.80 per share. Based on the market price of the
Company’ s shares of HK$0.80 as at 3 September 2018,
the share capital of the Company was increased by
HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
shares.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for cash distribution/
or distribution in specie as at 31 December 2018 in
accordance with the provisions of section 291, 297 and
299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Movements of the reserves in the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on page 270 and in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, less
than 30% of the Group’s revenue was attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers, and less than 30% of the
Group’s purchases were attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
has related party transactions with related companies
(as disclosed in the note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements), including dt "B E W E AR AR, B
BREERAER AR RIERBEEEZXABR A A, which are
controlled by Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin,
directors of the Company. These related companies are
top 5 customers of the Group.

Except as disclosed per above, none of the Directors
of the Company, or any of their close associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
top five customers and suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
Group did not make any charitable donations.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin
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Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
(appointed on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
(resigned on 14 February 2018)

In accordance with Articles 81 and 83 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun
Zhongmin will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The Company has received written annual confirmations
of independence from all independent non-executive
directors and as at the date of this report all of them are
considered to be independent.

BOARD CHANGES AND CHANGES IN
DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing The Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) is set out as follows:

Board changes
On 14 February 2018:

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien succeeded Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
to act as independent non-executive director of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the directors of the Company
are set out on pages 78 to 82 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

\
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group as well as the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee.

Further details of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
are set out in the corporate governance report on pages
100 to 101 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Other than the directors named under the paragraph
headed “DIRECTORS” above, the persons who have
served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report
included Mr. Chen Gang and Ms. Huang Fei.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of each of the directors and the
employees of the Group is on the basis of their merit,
qualification, competence and experience in the industry,
the profitability of the Group as well as remuneration
benchmarks from other local and international companies
and prevailing market conditions, executive directors and
employees also participate in bonus arrangements which
are determined in accordance with the performance of the
Group and the individual’'s performance.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 137 of the Company’s Articles of Association
provides that every Director, executive Director, manager,
secretary, officer and auditor of the Company shall be
indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liabilities incurred by him as such Director, executive
Director, manager, secretary, officer and auditor in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, to
the extent permitted by the Companies Ordinance. The
Company has also maintained Directors and officers
liability insurance during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the
Company has not entered into any contract with any
individual, firm or body corporate to manage or administer
the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company during the Year.

REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT BY
BAND

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code,
for the remuneration payable to the members of the
senior management by band for the Year, please refer
to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees, as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, in notes 9 and 10
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and
significant related party transactions are disclosed in
this report and in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statement. Save for the above, no director nor a connected
entity of a director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding companies of the Company, or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the directors and the chief executive and their associates
in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) contained in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), were as follows:

(a)
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BERAZEGZIAR) ROREFFK
HIE RO F 35216 A TR AR X AT B 5
fitt 2 # ot KX R ¢ S(c)RIBEE AP % 27 &
MARMTETRAUD AR LT ETAE
FETEHFRXHZFEESTR(TIRESAI)
BHEARNA BRIz EEARWT

Interest in Shares (a) BwmER
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Number of underlying issued share
Name of Director Capacity Shares held Shares capital
RN
BRITRAZ
EEpL ) BREROHA HERGHA BAED
(%)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin Beneficial owner 136,752,350 (L) 116,586,735 7.94%
BRmEXE EREERA (Note 3)
(#1:%3)
Interest of controlled corporation 8,669,925 (L) 0.27%
SEEEzER (Note 3)
(#1:E3)
Mr. Wei Chunxian Interest of controlled corporation 2,246,160,464 (L) 1,342,317,340 (L) 112.43%
RaELE XEEB R (Notes 1 and 2) (Note 3)
(HaF1k2) (#1:#3)
Ms. Liu Shuhua  Beneficial owner 5,020,500 (L) 0.16%

BpEL L E5HEBA

(L)

denotes long position

L KRR
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Note 1: 1,434,421,537 shares are held by Wintime

Note 2:

Note 3:

\

Company Limited. Wintime Company Limited
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Winluck Global
Limited. The entire issued share capital of
Winluck Global Limited is beneficially owned by
Mr. Wei Chunxian. Each of Winluck Global Limited
and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be interested
in the shares held by Wintime Company Limited
under the SFO.

811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui
International Investment (HK) Limited. Gang Rui
International Investment (HK) Limited is owned
as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guo Rui Real
Estate Development Co. Limited* (it = B 8 & ity
EB# AR A F) and Future Glow Ventures Inc.
respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc. is wholly-
owned by an independent third party. Beijing Guo
Rui Real Estate Development Co. Limited* (1t =
HEMEMZEBFRAQA) is wholly-owned by
Beijing Guorui Holdings Co. Limited* (it 5% B &
RS A BR A A]) which in turn is indirectly owned
by Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin
as to approximately 91% and 9%, respectively.
Each of Beijing Guo Rui Real Estate Development
Co. Limited* (it 3= B % /5 it 2 B & B R 2 A),
Beijing Guorui Holdings Co. Limited* (it 5% B &
RS AR A A]) and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Gang Rui
International Investment (HK) Limited under the
SFO.

Pursuant to an agreement entered into between
the Company and the vendors (Winluck Global
Limited and Silky Apex Limited) dated 30
May 2018, the consideration for the purchase
and sale of the entire issued share capital of
the Wise Expert Investment Limited shall be
HK$1,541,320,000, which shall be settled (a)
as to HK$361,260,800 by the allotment and
issuance of 410,934,160 new shares to Winluck
Global Limited (or to its designated nominee(s))
and 40,641,840 new Shares to Silky Apex
Limited (or to its designated nominee(s)), by
the Company pursuant to the payment schedule
under the agreement; and (b) as to the balance
of HK$1,180,059,200, by the issuance of the
convertible bonds at an initial conversion price of
HK$0.80 per conversion share in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$1,073,853,872 (i.e.
equivalent to 1,342,317,340 conversion shares)
to Winluck Global Limited (or to its designated
nominee(s)) and HK$106,205,328 (i.e. equivalent
to 132,756,660 conversion shares) to Silky Apex
Limited (or to its designated nominee(s)), by
the Company pursuant to the payment schedule
under the agreement.
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BPaET -

Mraz2:

Mt 3:

#1,434,421,537 I& iZ 17 FBWintime
Company Limited# A ° Wintime
Company Limited&Winluck
Global Limitedz & & Mt B &
7] ° Winluck Global Limitedz
2REBRTRAHBAE LA
ExnliA REFZFRHAEK
1 » Winluck Global Limited£2 %%
#IR AR B AR AR Wintime
Company LimitedfT# A& 2 i 15
FEAEE -

$2811,738,927 % & 10 61 7% % B
BRI E(BEB)BRABIRE - &
HEREE(BEB)BRAAMA
LtRBEHEEHEREBR AR
K Future Glow Ventures Inc.%
B ¥ B 90% I 10%4E 25 ° Future
Glow Ventures Inc. BB £ =%
2EHA - REHEER%
BRABHIERBEHIERERA
REEHA  MmitRRHERE
RAGIHBGELEREMPRL
A B FE B HE B H)91% K 9%
wm o BEFBHRBAERD R
i FEHEREARAR bR
BlSHIER B R A R A B L A&
EEHEGAREBHERRE(F
B)BRARFFEE ZRH %
BiEm o

RIEA DR KRB (Winluck Global
Limited X Silky Apex Limited)
el R A-ZT— N\FEARA
=+ B2z W& - E ®EWise Expert
Investment Limited® &0 & 3 17
i & 2 8 & 1,541,320,000 %
7T v (a)H & 361,260,800 8 7T /&
AAQABIREBEZBE T Z2HR
A 8 2 MIWinluck Global Limited
(s EETFERSA A) KSilky Apex
Limited (3t i ER B A) D 5l
fit 3 K % 17410,934,160 f% 37 i%
7 % 40,641,840 % 1 & 19+ &
(b)#% £41,180,059,200 7% 7T 78
RRARREZ B E T 2R
MEEESREBERM080E T
2 ¥ A E 5 R AWinluck
Global Limited (sk E 45 E 8 &
A)  KSilky Apex Limited (8
EETRBANBTRASHEE
4 1,073,853,872 8 T (B) 1 &
R 1,342,317,340 B X 4% B
% 106,205,328 /& Jt (BN ¥ &
132,756,660 % i #i% 17) 2 Al #
BEHFZHFAIM -
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(b)

Interests in associated corporations

Name of the member of the Group Name of shareholder

EERRES

&
T
>
Il
=
T

K

(b)
Approximate

percentage of

equity interest

TEBMKE BB IR A B REMOE DL
Ruilai Recreational Fitness Xinrong (Beijing) Investment Fund 20%

Company Limited*
(R RERR T FRLQA)
IEREREERRESARLDA

Note: Xinrong (Beijing) Investment Fund Management

Company Limited* (R (It R) BEEZ S E B
AR AT is a company established in the PRC
and indirectly wholly-owned as to 91% by a close
associate of Mr. Wei Chunxian and as to 9% by
Mr. Sun Zhongmin. Accordingly, Mr. Wei Chunxian
is therefore deemed to be interested in the 20%
equity interest in Ruilai Recreational Fitness
Company Limited.

The English names of Chinese entities marked with “*” are
translations of their Chinese names and are included for
identification purpose only, and should not be regarded
as their official English translation. In the event of any
inconsistency, the Chinese name prevails.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none
of the directors nor the chief executive of the Company
had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules.

Management Company Limited*
(BE R BREESERERAE) (Note)
BERUAAREEZSCEEER AR (ML)

et BRUEFEBREEZS2ERARA
AR-—HERPEXLIZAR A
HBAEEEZETHEARE
2EHRBN%NER LB RTER
TEERZEE2EEAI%MNED °
Mt BRADE R A AR AR AL R
KERESBRRQFEAR20%H
It e

FEEREENEXEREBEFXE
A RGER - EHAF  TIFREBEET
HXEE - AFUFE AP XEFHZE -

BREXPEEEN RZZT-NFE+_A
=t+t—B ARREFERESTTRAEH
BERARAREABEZEZER(EEREHF B
BIRPIEXVER) 2 B0 - AR D HERE
THRERBIBEGIEREE (QREBEFEZFRYE
GBI EXVERE7T R E8D RAME AR E N
B ZEAEZIAR (BRREBEESFR
BRI ZZFHECREFURRERS
ZHERRR )+ R(D)RIRE T K E 15 B
B 3521678 T e AR IR 3Pt B AL it 2 (E )
RmIOXR  HC)RBLETRAUAME L
MERTAEFETESFR I ZEETAA
MEARRBRBIAZEMEDZIRE -
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EERRES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERRRHEMALREGRHE

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND

R CERRXE

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, as at 31 WMEFMHN RZE—N\F+_A=+—
December 2018, the following persons (not being directors H ' L TR AT E =X & 5 THA B LA
or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed A+ @ ERMDLABBEIRMD D EE K EE
to have, interests or short positions in the shares or AEBEFZHIAE  MUEEEZILAAIR
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the 1&E{(FEH KHEEH)EXVEE2 M FE35 5
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions ZBBANRAR REESZABFEE  —0ARRQ A
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which RE(ESLEEIKHI)EIIEMETFHE
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the R FT&EEE -

Company under section 336 of the SFO:

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES AND RELATIBRGERIEBEERGZF
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE g
COMPANY:
Percentage of
Issued
Number of Shares Share Capital
Name (ordinary share) Capacity (approximately)
HEBRTRAE
=g BROBAE (EBER) &4 Ao (BH)
Wintime Company Limited (Note 1) 2,689,076,302 (L) Beneficial owner 84.25%
Wintime Company Limited (#7:#1) EmnHEAA
Winluck Global Limited (Note 2) 2,689,076,302 (L) Beneficial Interest held by 84.25%
controlled corporation
Winluck Global Limited (#/:#2) XEFERECERER
Gang Rui International Investment 811,738,927 (L) Beneficial owner 25.43%
(HK) Limited (Note 3)
AHE RRE(FE)ERLQT BEREAA
(H15t3)
Beijing Guorui Real Estate 811,738,927 (L) Beneficial interest held by 25.43%
Development Co., Ltd (Note 4) controlled corporation
EtRESEMEREER DA XEEFERBEZERER
(Bfst4)
Beijing Guorui Holdings Co., Ltd 811,738,927 (L) Beneficial interest held by 25.43%
(Note 5) controlled corporation
It R B8 13 R B R A R (A 75) XEEBERBEZERAER
Beijing Wanzecheng Investment 811,738,927 (L) Beneficial interest held by 25.43%

Consulting Center (Note 6)
EREFBREB T O (M 26)

controlled corporation
X rERBEZERnER

\ \
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2018, Wintime Company Limited
holds 2,689,076,302 shares directly.

Winluck Global Limited is deemed to be interested in the
2,689,076,302 shares by virtue of its controlling interests
in its wholly-owned subsidiary, Wintime Company
Limited.

Pursuant to an agreement entered into between the
Company and the vendors (Winluck Global Limited
and Silky Apex Limited) dated 30 May 2018, the
consideration for the purchase and sale of the entire
issued share capital of the Wise Expert Investment
Limited shall be HK$1,541,320,000, which shall be
settled (a) as to HK$361,260,800 by the allotment and
issuance of 410,934,160 new shares to Winluck Global
Limited (or to its designated nominee(s)) and 40,641,840
new Shares to Silky Apex Limited (or to its designated
nominee(s)), by the Company pursuant to the payment
schedule under the agreement; and (b) as to the balance
of HK$1,180,059,200, by the issuance of the convertible
bonds at an initial conversion price of HK$0.80 per
conversion share in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$1,073,853,872 (i.e. equivalent to 1,342,317,340
conversion shares) to Winluck Global Limited (or to
its designated nominee(s)) and HK$106,205,328 (i.e.
equivalent to 132,756,660 conversion shares) to Silky
Apex Limited (or to its designated nominee(s)), by the
Company pursuant to the payment schedule under the
agreement.

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed
to be interested in the 1,434,421,537 shares and is
interested in the 1,254,654,765 conversion shares by
virtue of his entire indirect equity interests in Wintime
Company Limited. Mr. Wei Chunxian is also deemed to
be interested in the 87,662,575 conversion shares by
virtue of his entire equity interests in Winluck Global
Limited.

As at 31 December 2018, Gang Rui International
Investment (HK) Limited is owned as to 90% and 10%
by Beijing Guo Rui Real Estate Development Company
Limited* (1t 5 B $% 5 #b 2 F 2% A R A 7)) and Future Glow
Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc. is
wholly-owned by an independent third party.

MPEET -

KizE2 -

MrEE3 -

EERRES

RZZ-NF+ZA=+—8"
Wintime Company Limited& # # &
2,689,076,302 f% 15 °

7 E 2 & i B A s]Wintime Company
Limited#y ¥ % # # - Winluck Global
Limited# 2 & 7 2,689,076,302 % % 17
RS -

B A R F & E 5 (Winluck Global
Limited & Silky Apex Limited)fT&] 37 A
WAE-_ET-N\FRA=ZtHZH= "
H EWise Expert Investment Limited%®
2B TR A Z K& A1,541,320,000
7 7T 0 (a)H & 361,260,800 % JT 78 M
ARBIBEBEZBZ T Z2NRERARXR
Winluck Global Limited (g H & & 2
% AN) %Silky Apex Limited (8¢ H #5 &
EAN) D BB K ¥ 17410,934,160
I% 27 % 15 % 40,641,840 R # BX 1 © &
(b)%% £421,180,059,2007% JT B M AN 2 A
BEZHAT 2N RAEEREER L
BRH08OE L2 M T HIBRE D B M
Winluck Global Limited (3% & 38 F 18 %
A) KSilky Apex Limited (3% H 5 £ 1%
HAN)EITAR S 2% A1,073,853,872
7 7T (BN 48 % 7 1,342,317,340 i% %, #
f% 15) K 106,205,328 7 7T (Bl 48 & »
132,756,660 % 12 f% 15 ) 2 ] # % & %
ARSI o

RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—8 @R
B 40 8 ot A 8 B ¥ B Wintime Company
Limitedfy & SRR - W E R AR
1,434,421,537 f% i% 13 & 1,254,654,765
PRERR DRSS - ARERAIESL
A ¥ B Winluck Global Limited#) & % i%
T E IR 1R B 287,662,575 % i
RO EE#ER -

R-ZBE-—NE+-_A=+—8 " B
BEREE(BEB)ERAFBILRBEH
B E M A R A A KFuture Glow
Ventures Inc.% Bl # B 90% & 10%1#E
#% ° Future Glow Ventures Inc.m@ % .
F=ZF2EWE -

/
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EERBESE

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

As at 31 December 2018, Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Company Limited* (Gt REI${ E AR 4
fR /A 7]) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing Guorui
Holdings Company Limited* (3t 5 B % 15 % & IR A 7)).

As at 31 December 2018, Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (1t 7 B 8% % i B R A &) is owned
as to 91% and 9% by Beijing Wanzecheng Investment
Consulting Center* (b 3 &2 3, % & B[ 7 0\) and Beijing
Zhongbomin Investment Consulting Center* (It R R B R
&R H D) respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, Beijing Wanzecheng
Investment Consulting Center* (1t /&) % & B &
13) a wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian, a director of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed
to be interested in 811,738,927 shares held by Gang Rui
International Investment (HK) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, the
directors and the chief executive of the Company were
not aware of any other person (other than the directors
and the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed

to the

Company and the Stock Exchange under the

provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

\
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 7 November 2016, the Company conditionally adopted
the Share Option Scheme, pursuant to which the Board
may, at its discretion, grant options to any Directors
and any employee of the Company or the Group or any
person, who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have
contributed or will contribute to the Company or the
Group. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
(i) incentivise and reward those who have contributed or
may contribute to the development of the Group; and (ii)
attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and
motivate them to strive for the future development of the
Group by providing them with an opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company thereby linking
their interest with that of the Group. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board in the relevant offer letter to a
grantee, there is no minimum period for which any share
option (“Option”) must be held before it can be exercised
and no performance target which needs to be achieved
by a grantee before the options can be exercised. Under
the Share Option Scheme, the Board will have absolute
discretion in determining the subscription price (subject to
the Listing Rules) in respect of any Option. The Board is
of the view that the flexibility given to the Board will place
the Group in a better position to incentivise or reward the
Participants and retain human resources that are valuable
to the growth and development of the Group as a whole.

The subscription price shall be such price determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and notified to the
Participant in the offer and shall be at least the higher
of (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily
qguotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer of the grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant. The
consideration payable for acceptance of the option by
each Participant is HK$1.00 which shall be received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from, and inclusive
of, the date of offer). If the Participant does not accept
such grant of option pursuant to the procedures specified
in the respective offer letter or notice within the stipulated
time frame, such option shall be regarded as unaccepted
and lapsed.

EERRES

i

RZZT—XRNE+—AtB ARaBKH
FWERETE B EERAMIBM
H2ERABHARRARAEEEL S E
HEEZARA K AL ELTMALEM
EENENEER TERE -BRETS
ZEMERO)EERETEAEEER T (B
R TEESERERAO AL 0 K(i)RSI
MBEEBRERKBNOAE  FiBRE
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AEREEARERMNE  UEHERSHE
AEEFZEXK —HERE -KRIFEERRT
FEBAZBBZHHESERTE  EW
BARRE(EEREDEET FIFEIBAR
EREHE  BEARAETREREN T
TERZERTMREEZ - RIEERES
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EERBESE

Following the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit
by the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting dated 29 June 2018, and based on
the 1,821,865,324 shares in issue at the same date, the
maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise
of options that may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme are 182,186,532 shares, being 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of refreshment of the scheme
mandate limit. Pursuant to Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules,
the total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of approval of the scheme
mandate limit. The Board shall not grant any options which
would result in the maximum aggregate number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted but yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
adopted by the Company exceeding, in aggregate, 30%
of the shares in issue from time to time. The total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company to each
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares in issue (the “Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options to a Participant which would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted and to be granted to such Participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant exceeding the Individual Limit shall
be subject to approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting with such Participant and his close associates (or
his associates if such Participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.
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Number of share options

BREZA
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at price per
Nature of at 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December share
Names interest 2018 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2018 Date of grant  Exercise period (HKS)
RZE-NE R=%-N%
-B-H BiE#/ tZA=t-8 BRTKE
#e EEtE BT 5334 B BAM HATE RAAH (il (Bx)
Directors
gz
Liu Shuhua Personal - 5,020,500 - - 5,020,500 20 June 2018 20 June 20180 0.827
19 June 2023
)k A WZF-NF ZT-\ERAZTHE
AAZTRE ZERIZERATAE
On 20 June 2018, the Company granted 5,000,000 share WR-ZT—N\EXA-+H XA FRER
options to Ms. Liu Shuhua, a director and the Chief RaR-_ZFE—RFE+— A+ BEMNNER

Executive Officer of the Company under the share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 7 November 2016,

B EIRTFEB A TAAATNES
%ﬁﬂz,ﬁ@%ﬁu/ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬂxﬁﬁ 000,0001 B

with exercise price of HK$0.83. Following the completion j&#E - AHBEETKE - M ARTTE B IR RE
of the open offer, the exercise price and the number of [f# 7 R HEE B HITERF B T B3 3%

shares to be allotted and issued upon exercise in full

TR Z TR ERAER0B27TET - R &

of the subscription rights attaching to the outstanding B ¥% 45,020,500/ ' @ —ZE — \E+ A
options were adjusted to HK$0.827 and 5,020,500 shares =+ M H##EAERK o

respectively, with effect from 24 July 2018.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION REXZERIFERERS

AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group REBEZE_ZE—-—NE+_A=+—BILEE
entered into certain transactions which constituted K@ ANEEHETETFERKAATBEERL S
connected transaction(s) and continuing connected REFEWES SR LITHAIZERE)ZX

transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, the details of which are set out below.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company
have reviewed and confirmed that the continuing

7 BRFBEIMT -

ARARMBYRNTEFCRBRAEE
AT ZHARERD LRBZEXS

connected transactions undertaken by the Group were R :(QJEAEENBBEEFEIL : (b)iL
entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of RB—MEBKENKEEERTET @ KR
business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial EHEBX S5 HEETT 17%#\/2\%/5\}% ’

terms or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

WTEFEARARRIBREMNEEN =
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The auditor of the Company has also confirmed that
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes it
to believe that the continuing connected transactions (a)
have not been approved by the Board; (b) were not, in all
material aspects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group; (c) were not entered into in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions,
in all material respects; and (d) have exceeded the
respective caps as aforesaid, where applicable.

A.

IO

Continuing connected transactions
subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 1t 58
TEYEEIEBR QT (Beiing AOCEAN Property
Management Company Limited* or “AOCEAN
Property Management”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, provided heat supply and
maintenance services to a total of 12,548 property
units of Beijing Guorui Group (Note 1) with a total
floor area of approximately 1,214,189 square
metres.

On 20 October 2017, AOCEAN Property
Management and Beijing Guorui Property (for
itself and for an on behalf of the Beijing Guorui
Group)/Beijing Guorui Property (as the case
may be) entered into new heat supply services
agreement, new property management agreement
and new Kingdom Guorui sales office management
agreement, and upon such agreements having
been approved by independent shareholders on
19 December 2017 and becoming effective on 1
January 2018, they superseded the original Beijing
Guorui Property Heat Supply Services Agreement,
Beijing Guolong Heat Supply Services Agreement,
Beijing Guorui Property Management Agreement,
Beijing Guolong Property Management Agreement
and Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management
Agreement, originally all dated on 27 November
2015. For details of these new agreements, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated
20 October 2017 and the circular of the Company
dated 24 November 2017.

ARG ZEBEITE LHER - ZEA0IL&ET
3 ?‘JE@%'\% CAEMRPIRAERSER

@Y AREBEZERIE  ()VERE

j(ﬁﬁ/xﬁhzﬁnﬁglﬂﬁmf BREAT -
COESEXATHLRERBEEEIZNGE

#57 |
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7
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2018 New Heat Supply Services Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature of

Transactions:

Fees:

20 October 2017

(i) AOCEAN Property Management

(i) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and
for and on behalf of the Beijing Guorui
Group) (Note 1)

From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive)

AOCEAN Property Management shall
provide heat supply services to the members
of Beijing Guorui Group. AOCEAN Property
Management's responsibilities include (i)
overseeing the daily operation and provision
of repair and maintenance services of the
heat exchange station and facilities and
the pipeline network located in the property
projects developed by Beijing Guorui Group,
namely Fortune Street Phase One* (Bfii#
—H9), Fortune Street Phase Two* (Bfim & =
&) and Rui City International Building* (i
# BB K &) in Chaoyang District, Beijing,
Kingdom Guorui* (B § » & 7&) in Daxing
District, Beijing, and North Garden* (1t &) at
Gaobeidian, Chaoyang District, Beijing; and
(ii) ensuring that the heat supply complies
with governmental guidelines and standards,
etc.

AOCEAN Property Management charges the
individual owners/tenants of the property
units directly for those units which are
occupied. The relevant members of the
Beijing Guorui Group will be responsible for
the fees of the vacant units or units occupied
by Beijing Guorui Group within the aforesaid
property projects

Residential properties: RMB18 to RMB30
per square meter per heat supply season
depending on the property project, payable
on annual basis

Commercial properties: RMB25.2 to
RMB50.4 per square meter per heat supply
season depending on the property project,
payable on annual basis
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(i) EREH(BEXFER
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Transaction RMB8,473,173 (equivalent to approximately
amount during  HK$10,056,809)
1 January 2018
to 31 December
2018:

Annual cap: For the three years ending 31 December
2020 are RMB8,596,000, RMB9,456,000 and
RMB10,401,000, respectively

*  For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 20 October 2017
and approved by independent shareholders at
the general meeting of the Company held on 19
December 2017.

2018 New Property Management Agreement

Date: 20 October 2017

Parties: (1) AOCEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and
for and on behalf of the Beijing Guorui
Group) (Note 1)

Term: From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive)

Premises: Fortune Street Phase One* (81 i ?ﬂ—ﬁﬁ)
Fortune Street Phase Two* (81 # %1 — ), Rui
City International Building* (fﬂf;@tl&‘%ﬁf),
GOLDEN TOWER* (# X% X[E) in Chaoyang
District, Beijing, and Kingdom Guorui* (&
i o £ 18), Fairyland (BB R) in Miyun,
Beijing at Daxing District, Beijing, and North
Garden* (£ £ [E) at Gaobeidian, Chaoyang
District, Beijing

Nature of AOCEAN Property Management is
Transactions: responsible for (i) safekeeping of the keys
of the vacant units; (ii) carrying out monthly
inspections of the vacant units and keeping
records accordingly; (iii) carrying out
monthly cleaning of the vacant units; and
(iv) inspecting the vacant units during bad
weather conditions; (v) providing security
services; and (vi) maintaining and managing
facilities and assets for public use, etc.

\
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Fees:

Transaction
amount during
1 January 2018
to 31 December
2018:

Annual cap:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Moreover, for particular property units,
AOCEAN Property Management will also
provide initial clean up services after
completion of their construction (the “Initial
Clean Up Services”).

The management fee ranges from RMB1.25
to RMB32.0 per square meter per month for
different types of commercial and residential
property units, payable on a quarterly basis

For the Initial Clean Up Services, AOCEAN
Property Management charges a fee
calculated based on its actually incurred
disbursement plus a margin of 10%.

RMB14,109,796 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,746,917)

For the three years ending 31 December
2020 are RMB54,620,000, RM60,083,000 and
RMB66,091,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 20 October 2017
and approved by independent shareholders at
the general meeting of the Company held on 19
December 2017.

2018 Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management

Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Premises:

20 October 2017

(1) AOCEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1)

From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive)

Kingdom Guorui* (Bl 8 & 7&8) — sales
office and ancillary areas at Beijing
Economic and Technological Development
Area, Daxing District, Beijing
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Nature of AOCEAN Property Management is RHHE BANEEREEE (\ER

responsible for (i) welcoming and
arranging customers to visit the show
flats; (ii) coordinating services related to
sales activities; (iii) the security, hygiene
and concierge services of the property;
(iv) the daily operation, management
and maintenance of the common parts
including the restaurants, bars and other
amenities facilities and common facilities; (v)
maintenance of the hygiene and security of
the common parts of the property; (vi) refuse
collection and disposal; (vii) maintenance
and management of the greenery of the
property, and so on.

Beijing Guorui Property shall bear the
following expenses, disbursements, costs
and fees, which are paid by AOCEAN
Property Management in advance and
settled between the parties quarterly:

(i) the expenses incurred in the course
of providing services to the property,
including all supplies, materials and
labour costs;

(i) disbursements including the costs
incurred for external wall cleaning, floor
brightening, maintenance of the exterior
greenery as well as power charges and
replacement costs of facilities;

(iii) the costs of acquiring the fixed assets,
equipment and facilities necessary for
the additional services if Beijing Guorui
Property requests AOCEAN Property
Management to provide additional
services or themed activities related to
sales; and

ZHEAZBREEN ()5
EEBEEEINRE : (i)B
BNEZRT  BEREER
Bi(vakhzBEEE
EERRE DEEE -EE
REMEBLEHERALFE
VRBBEBMEZLLIFH
BERRE : (vi)RESR R E
B (VI)REREEBBENEL
BlHs -

TRBEHEREATRAI
F#E KARER A%H
BARYMEERIN  LHA

BETEBEREE

() BABENERERENB
BRARBORY 81
FrEfER  HHRAT
KA

(i) A 2EREZRIN
BT REE
MR AL 3 % BT B BURY A
Ko UREBREHES
A

(i) (B REHEERRA
MEEBERUBINRE
FEMBEENTRED)
REIREBENEE
TEE  REBREHEZK
KRk

(iv) the relevant taxation and profit margin of (iv) TERBBMENBREF
10% over the actual costs and expenses FAREMEENERE
incurred in the course of managing the B AR T BTS2 M 10% K Fl
property. e
Transaction RMB4,100,328 (equivalent to approximately —E-NF  AR®4100328 (i E R
amount during  HK$4,866,679) —H—HZE #4,866,679/57L)
1 January 2018 —E-N\F
to 31 December +=-A
2018: =+—H
XHeH:

\
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Annual cap: For the three years ending 31 December
2020 are RMB6,160,000, RM6,776,000 and

RMB7,454,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 20 October 2017
and approved by independent shareholders at
the general meeting of the Company held on 19
December 2017.

Note 1:4t R B § /= #b 2= 5 % A 7] (Beijing Guorui Property
Development Company Limited*, or“Beijing Guorui
Property”, which together with its subsidiaries,
as the” Beijing Guorui Group”) is a connected
person of the Company by virtue of Mr. Wei
Chunxian (the Chairman, executive director and
the controlling shareholder of the Company)
being a director and the controlling shareholder
of Beijing Guorui Property, holding approximately
91% equity interest (the remaining equity interest of
approximately 9% being held by Mr. Sun Zhongmin
(an executive director of the Company)) and
each of Mr. Sun Zhongmin and Ms. Liu Shuhua
(an executive director of the Company) being a
director of Beijing Guorui Property. Since 1t 7 B &
& ¥ AR A7 (Beijing Guolong Property Company
Limited* or “Beijing Guolong”) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Beijing Guorui Property, Beijing
Guolong is also a connected person of the
Company.

Continuing connected transactions
subject to annual review and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A.60 of the
Listing Rules

Ruilai Tenancy Agreement

Date: 12 January 2017 (as amended on 7 July
2017)
Parties: (1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord)

(Note 1)

(2) Beijing Ruilai Recreational Fitness
Company Limited (“Ruilai Recreational”)
(as tenant)

(1)
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EERRES

Premises:

Term:

Rent:

Actual transaction
amount during
1 January 2018

to 31 December

2018:

Usages:

Management fee:

,, 138}

~/ |

N \

Second Floor, Block B1-B2, Jinchang’an
Building, No. 82 Donghuan 4th Road
Central, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC
@ERTHERRRNEHRE 2% e K%
KE B1-B2fE2[E ) of a total gross area of
approximately 2,160 square metres.

1 February 2017 to 31 August 2019

approximately RMB328,542 per month

The annual rental payment payable by
Ruilai Recreational to Guorui Property
Development are as follows:

ESE

8

4

From 1 February

FEEETHEERRNE
HE82HE e KL AEBR1-B2/&E
2B BEEHN2160F 5

“F-tF5ZA-HEZT
~NENAZ+—A

FAHARE328542TC
HEREBFRESHEHE
FHEEMESNT

From 1 February From 1 February

2017 to 2018 to 2019 to
31 January 2018 31 January 2019 31 August 2019
—B-tf “B-0\f —E-NE
“A-HE “R-HE “RF-B%
—E2-)\F ZE-0F ZE-REN
-B=1+-H -B=1-H A=t-H
Annual rental amount 74
(approx. in AMB) (WARE) 3,942,504 3,942,504 2,299,794
(approx. in HKD) (#%7) 4,527,020 4,527,020 2,640,761
RMB3,942,504 (equivalent of approximately AZE-NF— ARM39425047
HK$4,527,020) A—BEZT (HER#H4527020% )
-NE+ZA
-+—-H
8-
Fitness centre g i & L
Ruilai Recreational shall pay a property ERE HEFENBAAEEMELE

management fee to kR RAEHEERERD
7] (AOCEAN Business Management Company
Limited), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, of approximately RMB45,995 per month

\
GR PROPEF{TIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

WEARLRRAREERAR
DAERIANEERBOAR
145 99577 °



(2)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

From 1 February

2017 to

31 January 2018
ZE-tF
“R-HEZE
“B-)\%§

Annual management fee FEEBE L
amount
(approx. in AMB) (WARE)

(approx. in HKD) (#87)
Actual transaction
amount during
1 January 2018
to 31 December
2018:

RMB551,940 (equivalent of approximately
HK$633,771)

Ruilai Recreational is owned as to 80% by the
Company and 20% by Xinrong (Beijing) Investment
Fund Management Company Limited (& fE(dt )
HEHRESEIEBR A FH), which is a company
established in the PRC and indirectly wholly-owned
by an associate of Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun. As stated
in Note 1, Beijing Guorui Property is a connected
person of the Company. As such, the provision
of property management services by AOCEAN
Business Management to Ruilai Recreational
under the Ruilai Tenancy Agreement and the
Ruilai Tenancy Agreement constitute connected
transactions under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.

Ronghua Travel Tenancy Agreement

Date: 12 July 2014

Parties: (1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord)
(Note 1)

(2) Beijing Ronghua Tiandi International
Travel Agency Company Limited
(“Ronghua Travel”) (as tenant)

-A

(2)

e

551,940

633,771
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2018 to 2019 to

31 January 2019 31 August 2019
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633,771 369,700
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(3)

Premises: No. 1008, Unit 2, Block 2-1, Block 2, No.
82, Dongsihuan Road Central, Chaoyang
District, Beijing, PRC (#t R #BEE RN
IR X829 221 E2 8 £ 1008) of a total
gross area of approximately 86 square

meters.
Term: from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2019
Rent: free of charge
Usage: registered office of Ronghua Travel

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.

Ronghua Advertising Tenancy Agreement

Date: 30 June 2014
Parties: (1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord)
(Note 1)

(2) Beijing Ronghua Tiandi Advertising
Company Limited (“Ronghua
Advertising”) (as tenant)

Premises: No. 802, Unit 1, Block 2-1, No. 82
Dongsihuan Road Central, Chaoyang
District, Beijing, PRC (#3t R #[5 & R IR
R BE 8257 2-1FE 1 8 7T8025%) of a total gross
area of approximately 86 square meters.

Term: 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2019
Rent: free of charge
Usage: registered office of Ronghua Advertising

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.
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Crystal Tree Tenancy Agreement

Date: 1 August 2016 (as amended on 7 July 2017)
Parties: (1) Beijing Guorui Property (as landlord)
(Note 1)

(2) Beijing Crystal Tree Commercial
Management Company Limited (“Crystal
Tree”) (as tenant)

Premises: No. 12, Block 1, No. 69 Chaoyang Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC (#it ®
B R B5H69% 112 12%) of a total gross
floor area of approximately 2,000 square

meters.
Term: 3 years from 1 August 2016
Rent: free of charge
Usage: registered office of Crystal Tree and

operation of spa center

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 7 July 2017.

Ronghua Travel, Ronghua Advertising and Crystal
Tree are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company. As stated in Note 1, Beijing Guorui
Property is a connected person of the Company.
As such, Ronghua Travel Tenancy Agreement,
Ronghua Advertising Tenancy Agreement and
Crystal Tree Tenancy Agreement constitute
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

(4)
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(5) Ruilai Recreational Tenancy Agreement

Date: 13 June 2017

Parties: (1) Beijing Winzone Technology
Development Company Limited* (it
REEREEREAR A F) (“Winzone
Technology”) (as landlord)

(2) Ruilai Recreational (as tenant)

Premises: Units 103-05, Block 3, No. 1 Ronghua South
Road, Daxing District, Beijing, the PRC (#1t
RTIREERNAERREFDRIRRS
5% 12103-055%) of a total gross floor area of
approximately 50 square meters.

Term: 3 years from 13 June 2017

Rent: RMB97,200 (equivalent of approximately
HK$121,250) per year

Usage: registered office of Crystal Tree and
operation of spa center

Actual transaction RMB97,200 (equivalent of approximately
amount during  HK$121,250)
1 January 2018
to 31 December
2018:

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 31 May 2018.

(6) Gym Services Agreement

Date: 31 May 2018

Parties: (1) Beijing Guorui Hotel Management
Company Limited* (Jt RS BEERA
PR 2 B) (“Guorui Hotel Management”)
(2) Ruilai Recreational

Term: 1 June 2018 to 31 May 2020

Subject matter: Ruilai Recreational is responsible for
providing gym management services for
Guorui Hotel Management's gym situated at
Units 103-05, Block 3, No.1 Ronghua South
Road, Daxing District, Beijing, the PRC (#1t

< REESMAEREERKIFRIRIE0S-
\ 05%)
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Service fee:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Guorui Hotel Management shall pay Ruilai R%E -

Recreational in cash on a monthly basis
RMB420,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$525,000) as part payment of its service
fee. The monthly service fee payable will
be determined based on 35% of Guorui
Hotel Management's monthly operating
revenue. The aforementioned service fee
has been determined with reference to
the historical operating revenue of Guorui
Hotel Management and the price quotations
from two Independent Third Parties for
the provision of similar services to that of
Ruilai Recreational under the Gym Services
Agreement.

The service fee payable is subject to
the following cap, which is determined
with reference to the historical operating
revenues of Guorui Hotel Management and
the price quotations from two Independent
Third Parties for the provision of similar
services to that of Ruilai Recreational under
the Gym Services Agreement:

From 1 June 2018 to
31 December 2018

-\
~B-HE
—E-)\%§
tT-A=t-H
Annual management fee EEEBE L
amount
(approx. in RMB) (WARE) 2,940,000
(approx. in HKD) (#871) 3,675,000

The monthly payments made by Guorui Hotel
Management will add up to the caps above.
An assessment will be made within 30 days
after each of the three periods described
above to determine the amount of service
fee that should have been charged for
such period based on 35% of Guorui Hotel
Management's monthly operating revenue. If
it is determined that:
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From 1 January
2019 to 31 From 1 January
December 2019 2020 to 31 May 2020

—E-hE ZECEE
-A-HE -B-B%
—E-hE ZECEE
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5,040,000 2,100,000
6,300,000 2,625,000
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EERRES

Option to renew:

(i) the amount of service fee that should
be charged for the relevant period (i.e.
35% of the actual amount of operating
revenue of Guorui Hotel Management)
is in excess of the above cap for the
corresponding period (i.e. the aggregate
monthly payments received), Guorui
Hotel Management will not be required
to pay any additional amount to Ruilai
Recreational; or

(i) the amount of service fee that should
be charged for the relevant period (i.e.
35% of the actual amount of operating
revenue of Guorui Hotel Management) is
less than the amount of the above cap
for the corresponding period (i.e. the
aggregate monthly payments received),
then Ruilai Recreational shall return to
Guorui Hotel Management the difference
between the service fee chargeable for
that period and the fees actually paid
by Guorui Hotel Management during
such period within 30 days after such
assessment.

Guorui Hotel Management and Ruilai
Recreational may negotiate within seven
days prior to the expiry of the Gym Services
Agreement whether to renew. The renewal
of the Gym Services Agreement is subject to
compliance with applicable Listing Rules.

Actual transaction amount during 1 June 2018 to
31 December 2018: RMB2,940,000 (equivalent of
approximately HK$3,675,000)

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 31 May 2018.

\
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Winzone Tenancy Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Premise:

Usage:

Rent:

31 May 2018 (as supplemented on 9
November 2018)

(1) Winzone Technology (as landlord)
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (as tenant) (Note
1)

1 June 2018 to 31 May 2020

Unit 103, 1/F, Block 3, No. 1 Ronghua South
Road, Daxing District, Beijing, the PRC (#ik,
RTEREERMAZRRERR ISR
3% 1% — B 103%) of a total gross area of
approximately 4,445 square meters (1 June
2018 to 9 November 2018)/1,791 square
meters (10 November 2018 to 31 May 2020)

For office or operation only

approximately RMB200,040.30 per month
(inclusive of VAT) (1 June 2018 to 9
November 2018) approximately RMB80,595
per month (inclusive of VAT) (10 November
2018 to 31 May 2020)

Annual caponrental  FEEHELE
amount

(approx. in AMB) (WARE)
(approx. in HKD) (#871)

Actual transaction amount during 1 June 2018 to
31 December 2018: RMB1,197,226(equivalent of
approximately HK$1,352,865)

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcements dated 31 May 2018 and 9
November 2018 respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERWMEE

C. Connected transaction pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of a
shareholder loan

Interest on loan from a shareholder

(1) Date of 24 August 2016
supplemental
agreement:

Parties: (i) the Company

(i) Wintime Company Limited (“Wintime”), a
company beneficially owned by Mr. Wei
Chunxian as to 100% and a controlling
shareholder of the Company

Principal amount: HK$250,000,000

Terms: Three years from the date of draw-down of the
relevant shareholder loan or such other date as
mutually agreed by Wintime and the Company

Purposes of For financing the working capital requirement
shareholder loan:  of the Group in connection with its property
acquisition and development

Interest rate: 2% per annum

Total drawdown nil and principal has been fully repaid
loan amount at 31
December 2018:

Interest during the ~ approximately HK1,437,235 accrued interest not

year: yet paid
(2) Date of 24 November 2017
supplemental
agreement:
Parties: (i) the Company
(i) Wintime

Principal amount: HK$1,500,000,000

Terms: Three years from the date of draw-down of the
relevant shareholder loan or such other date as
mutually agreed by Wintime and the Company

Purposes of For financing the working capital requirement
shareholder loan:  of the Group in connection with its property
acquisition and development

Interest rate: 2% per annum

Total drawdown nil and principal has been fully repaid
loan amount at 31
December 2018:

B Interest during the ~ interest has been fully repaid
year:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions
which were undertaken in the normal course of business
are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements. For those related party transactions that
constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions (as the case may be) (other than
those described in the section above headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”)
under the Listing Rules, these transactions are exempt
from reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this Report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
provided a signed copy of the said letter to the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At as the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the best knowledge of
the Board, the Company maintained sufficient public float
as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERBESE

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Pursuant to a construction loan agreement (the
“Construction Loan Agreement”’) entered into by
and among East Pacific Properties LLC (“East Pacific
Properties”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company as borrower, the Company as guarantor and
a licensed bank as lender (the “Lender”) effective on
27 September 2016, the Lender has agreed to provide
a bank loan (the “Loan”) in an aggregate amount of
not exceeding eighteen million United States Dollars
(US$18,000,000.00) which shall be used to finance the
direct construction costs and related expenses of the
residential and retail buildings and relevant structures to
be constructed on the land in Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 in
Block 4 of The Chelsea Green Tract in the City of Santa
Monica, County of Los Angeles, State of California of
the US. The Loan shall be repaid in full on or before the
maturity date (the “Maturity Date”), which is two (2) years
after the day on which the Lender first advanced all or a
portion of the Loan to East Pacific Properties. The Maturity
Date may be extended twice, for periods of one year
each, if there is no event of default then existing and East
Pacific Properties has paid the Lender an extension fee as
stipulated in the Construction Loan Agreement.

Pursuant to the Construction Loan Agreement, it shall
constitute an event of default if Mr. Wei Chunxian, the
controlling shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to
it under the Listing Rules), an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company, does not maintain direct
management in East Pacific Properties under which
circumstance the Lender may in its absolute discretion
declare all amounts owing by East Pacific Properties under
the Construction Loan Agreement immediately due and
payable.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the quality of
corporate governance so as to ensure better transparency
of the Company, protection of shareholders’ and
stakeholders’ rights and enhance shareholder value. In
the opinion of the Board of the Company, the Company
had complied with all code provisions set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of
publication of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry of the directors, all of the directors have
complied with, for any part of the accounting year covered
by this annual report, the required standard set out in the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”
and “Related Party Transactions” of this annual report,
there were no contracts of significance in relation to the
Company’s business, to which the Company or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year, and in which
a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest, nor there were any other contracts of significance
(whether or not for the provision of services) in relation to
the Company’s business between the Company or any of
the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO SUBSCRIBE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than interests in share options of the Company
as disclosed above, and in the share option schemes
disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives,
or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debenture of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of them had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company or its associated corporations,
or had exercised any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
businesses.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERWMEE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement benefits schemes of the Group
are set out in Note 2.4 (headed “Other employee
benefits (pension scheme)”) to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 have been audited by Ernst & Young.
A resolution for their re-appointment as Auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018 were approved by the
Board on 29 March 2019.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wei Chunxian
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZHEIRES

Ernst & Young K GRHAN S TSP Tel T 5% +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower EEPIRFEB 15 Fax {§H: +852 2868 4432
1 Tim Mei Avenue R{EAE 221 ey.com
ﬁi Central, Hong Kong
To the members of GR Properties Limited BEHGCEERATZERE

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 160 to 289,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BWIAZBEIRES

EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

\
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIZEEIHEE
EY:
KEY AUDIT MATTERS HREZER
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the FEZFHEFEF RE AT EAREEEF

key audit matter BKEH

Impairment assessment of trade receivables JE Y B 5 85 5 49 )6 18 1
At 31 December 2018, the In relation to impairment RZZE-NF+ZA REREZIERNR
Group had trade receivables of  assessment of trade =+—B EXEHE EFEHE  HMADE
approximately HK$24,629,000,  receivables, we obtained an WESEREFHNA B EXERANEE

which arose from the provision of

property management services
and leasing of investment
properties.

Significant management’s
judgements and estimates were
involved in determining the

amount of expected credit losses
of these trade receivables at the

end of the reporting period for
impairment assessment.

Related disclosures are
included in notes 3 and 19
to the consolidated financial
statements.

understanding of the credit
loss provisioning methodology
adopted by the Group and
assessed the reasonableness
of the allowance for the
expected credit losses
estimated by the management
with reference to the history of
debtors’ settlement patterns
and ageing analysis of the
trade receivables. We also,
on a sample basis, tested the
ageing analysis of the trade
receivables prepared by

the management; circulated
and obtained direct debtor
confirmations; and checked
the settlement status
subsequent to the reporting
period. In addition, we
assessed the qualification,
independence and
competency of the external
valuer which was engaged
by the Group to assist in the
estimation of the expected
credit losses of the trade
receivables and involved

our internal specialists to
check the methodology,
inputs and assumptions

used by the external valuer

in the expected credit loss
estimation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZHARE S

EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the

key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (continued)

We considered the adequacy
of the Group’s disclosures

in the consolidated financial
statements in connection
with the impairment of trade
receivables.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties and a building

The carrying amounts of the
Group’s investment properties

and a building (the “Building”),

which is included in property,
plant and equipment,
amounted to approximately
HK$2,175,670,000 and

approximately HK$771,598,000,
respectively, as at 31 December
2018 which represented 59% of
the total assets of the Group in

aggregate.

In accordance with the

accounting policies of the Group,

the investment properties and
the Building are stated at fair
value and a revalued amount
in the consolidated financial
statements, respectively. The
valuation process is inherently

subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates. The Group
engaged external professionally
qualified valuers to perform the

valuation for the investment
properties and the Building.

Related disclosures are
included in notes 3, 13 and 14
to the\hgnsolidated financial
statements

We considered the
objectivity, independence
and competence of the
valuation experts.

We assessed the
appropriateness of the
valuation methodology
adopted by the valuers and
evaluated the data used

as inputs for the valuations
and performed market
value benchmarking against
comparable properties.

We involved our internal
valuation experts to

assist us in evaluating

the assumptions and
methodologies for valuation
of the investment properties
and the Building held by the
Group.

We considered the
adequacy of the Group'’s
disclosures in the
consolidated financial
statements in respect of fair
value measurement of the
investment properties and
the Building.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EY:

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

BIAZHEIHRES

FHABHEMBMEIH

ERREFAHEMENABE - HMEHR
BRERABER (FRE M BRI LRI
b B EY A BB RSN o

BAEGEEVBERENBERLTREERAM
ER BATTEREEREMEANE

T fk A
BEEE o

REAEAMBHRERME  HMANEER
MEEMER  REMKBES  ZEREME
HREREGAMBHRRIABRMESTBE
THERNBERBEERNFT  HELUTHE
BEA#ERRL - ERHEMESAITHOIME
MRREMBHEMERBERNERRL -
HPRERTEBEE M E - KM
BEREREEMER -

EFNGEMEBERRARENR
=5

ERREEARERBEBBEGIMAER
OB REERNREFERQBGDR
HEaPWBHRER USHKRAVMBRRIED
EEMAFHRR  REEERS/FEEST
EMBREMBENREES - UELHEE
B 15 3R 73 72 i 70 HRRF Bl R AR T B B A0
BEARBRRAL

ERUEEVBERERE - BRREFEE
A BEREREEENEN  XEERB

MATRERFBELLERNER  ARRE
RFBELERETER KBIF BERAFES
BER BEXBERBRRIAFLLE  HHEH

MERNERTE -

FERE 2018 BBBEERAT

| e\

| 155



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIUZBERES

EY::

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BWIAZBEIRES

EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR BRBMRKEGESMBEERRRIE

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED R EE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ e HESRABRBELKESHERNNS

use of the going concern basis of accounting and, |*£f”lfﬁ,%aﬁ WARMR P IS B B 5T /8
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether AR RE T EEESHNBEREH

MEATHETEE Mkl S5

a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, RKfIEZFZTE BB EAHE -
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of [iZ%#H - EXEBABHEEEE - @%ﬁzﬁ)ﬁ/\

the audit and significant audit findings, including any &t EifE 3% 51 H A BF4%E Hl &9 (£ 1] 8 K EREE
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is CHENG Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEaX

Year ended 31 December 2018 EZ—=—ZF—\F+=-HA=+—HIFFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt & FET FET
REVENUE A 5 361,282 229,822
Other income and gain, net HEMA Rz - F58 6 10,249 17,490
Cost of inventories sold FEEEXAR (26,913) (20,502)
Employee benefit expenses BEIRMNER (96,740) (89,532)
Marketing expenses EHER (963) (441)
Depreciation and amortisation e N (28,437) (25,244)
Utilities, repairs and maintenance A H*E%¥ - #E K&
and rental expenses RENMHEEEZHR (131,894) (114,317)
Other operating expenses Hg&BR (55,599) (35,895)
Remeasurement gain upon BRPAYPEESR
transfer of a property FREPREME
under development to HEFEK=
an investment property
under construction 14(b) 23,997 —
Fair value loss of investment HEMERINTFEES
properties, net FER 14 (201) (20,552)
Finance costs e 7 (46,853) (8,462)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  HATRIE (&E#E) 8 7,928 (67,633)
Income tax credit Fris i & il 1,502 2,619
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR A FEXE (FE1#8) 9,430 (65,014)
Attributable to: TH AT -
Shareholders of the Company RARIRFE 9,579 (65,014)
Non-controlling interests JEE R = (149) —
9,430 (65,014)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER AKAFRKRRE
SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EESRER
SHAREHOLDERS (B#E)
OF THE COMPANY 12
Basic (HK$) BEXRGET) 0.0041 (0.045)
Diluted (HK$) BEOET) 0.0033 (0.045)
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\
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COI\/IPREHENSIVE INCOME

SrEWE

IR

Year ended 31 December 2018 #Z—=-ZF—\F+=-HA=+—HIFFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —+tF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
b & FET FET
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE AEEFBE(FHE)
YEAR 9,430 (65,014)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HttzmEkzE (F8)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/ KR 2 & EFT 5 4E
(loss) that may be reclassified EEBHAM
to profit or loss in subsequent PE MW (EE) -
periods:
— Change in fair value of — RAFETAEAM
a debt investment at 2 EREES
fair value through other KEZANFEE
comprehensive income g5 16 352 —
— Exchange differences on —MEBINEBES
translation of foreign ZEH =R
operations (72,585) 97,406
(72,233) 97,406
Other comprehensive income/ KRBT & EH
(loss) that will not to be DX E B )R
reclassified to profit or loss in 2 El/ﬁ?ﬁ/(/é?fé
subsequent periods:
— Change in fair value of — BFQAFEZD
a building 13 24,310 22,498
— Income tax effect in respect — EBFAFEHEFH 2
of the change in fair value EHEE
of a building 30 (6,078) (5,625)
18,232 16,873
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AFEEHMEE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE Wz (EE)
YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX 0 BR 718 B (54,001) 114,279
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEEZERE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR (BR)#BE
THE YEAR (44,571) 49,265
Attributable to: TH AL EA
Shareholders of the Company RRAFRE (44,361) 49,265
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R (210) —
(44,571) 49,265

/

FEHE 2018 HSBEERAT | 161

g
e

X



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
= R W

31 December 2018 —F—)\F+=-HA=4+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\E§ —E—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
b & FET FE T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NERE 13 785,360 828,589
Investment properties wWEYE 14 2,175,670 470,948
Intangible assets mEEE 15 893 942
Non-current deposits FEREET & 20 1,525,745 145,491
Deferred tax assets BEEBEEE 30 12,579 —
Total non-current assets EREBEES 4,500,247 1,445,970
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development BREPYE 17 — 154,986
Inventories FE 18 1,497 5,446
Trade receivables FEWE 5 IR 19 24,629 25,429
Prepayments, deposits and other &N FHE - 5] & &

receivables H A W 3k 08 20 80,712 14,991
Due from related companies FEU B &~ B IE 21 13,357 1,970
Other taxes recoverable E b A Y [B F 18 2,131 3,463
Debt investment at fair value EAVEFFAEMLEZA

through other comprehensive WHNEBRE

income 16 23,113 —
Pledged bank deposit EERBITER 22 39,230 39,636
Cash and cash equivalents BekIReEED 22 345,163 723,891
Total current assets MENEEAGT 529,832 969,812
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables BB SRR 23 65,929 63,724
Receipts in advance TE W IR 24 84,028 72,821
Other payables and Hh fE T A

accruals iR EH 25 113,167 143,202
Due to a shareholder FEAS AR R FK 1A 26 1,437 3,778
Due to a director R ESFHE 26 2,557 862
Due to related companies &R & A A s 21 95,142 76,899
Bank borrowings R AT 27 247,010 201,477
Preference shares of — B QR &

a subsidiary B 28 15,671 —
Income tax payables FET P15 Ht 12,362 1,528
Other taxes payable E th FE A BLIR 7,449 1,212
Total current liabilities mEBaEAE 644,752 565,503
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
weMBARRE

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\E§ —E—+F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
K it FETT FET
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ RBEE(BRE)FE
(LIABILITIES) (114,920) 404,309
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRBER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,385,327 1,850,279
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITRE X 27 776,084 —
Loans from a shareholder JiE I % 38 30 1A 29 — 625,280
Liability component of perpetual sk A Al # iZ & 5 1) B &
convertible bonds s 33 48,929 —
Preference shares of B R FME 2 B
a subsidiary 28 — 16,534
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEBGE 30 105,799 99,641
Total non-current liabilities EREBEERS 930,812 741,455
Net assets BEFHE 3,454,515 1,108,824
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to EBRARQF
shareholders of the Company R R
Share capital fi% 7 31 3,146,571 1,780,663
Equity component of perpetual KA AT AR (& 5 1) 1 25
convertible bonds B 33 1,084,013 82,084
Reserves fF 18 34(a) (798,848) (753,923)
3,431,736 1,108,824
Non-controlling interests IR = 22,779 —
Total equity W B R 3,454,515 1,108,824
Wei Chunxian Liu Shuhua
BuE 2
Director Director
EZE o -

%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meEATRER

Year ended 31 December 2018 EZ—=—ZF—\F+=-HA=+—HIFFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
sz FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHEENAERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BAIFE (B8B) 7,928 (67,633)
Adjustments for: WEIHER
Finance costs BpE-8 7 46,853 8,462
Interest income B A 6 (4,555) (2,259)
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - HER
property, plant and equipment REBEEENER 8 83 19
Depreciation e 8 28,342 25,070
Amortisation of intangible assets &/ & & #E# 8 95 174
Remeasurement gain upon BRPMEEE TR
transfer of a property under REMENENHE NS
development to an investment
property under construction (23,997) —
Fair value loss of investment BEMEAFEBE
properties, net F 8 14 201 20,552
Equity-settled share option NG EEREER
expense 8 1,730 1,167
Impairment of trade receivables,  EWE SEFRNE  FE
net 8 2,208 2,520
Operating profit/(loss) before EEEREHAN
working capital changes mERNE,/ (B1]) 58,888 (11,928)
Increase in non-current deposits JERET SN (253) —
Increase in properties under BERPMELMN
development (54,330) (49,347)
Decrease in inventories BERD 3,820 153
Increase in trade receivables B4 B 5 BR 5 n (2,740) (5,897)
Decrease/(increase) in BRRE FTek
prepayments, deposits and H fEUWRIBER D/ ()
other receivables (70,158) 8,511
Decrease/(increase) in amounts i g 8 3 R A FUR
due from related companies WA/ () (11,500) 1,688
Decrease/(increase) in other taxes £ {1 JE U B 8 4/ (3E 4n)
recoverable 1,200 (3,194)
Increase in debt investment BAFEFARMEE RS
at fair value through other M EBREL M
comprehensive income (22,761) —
Increase in trade payables e E 5 R FE 4,091 27,744
Increase in receipts in advance TR R IE S 0 15,671 2,607
Increase in other payables and Hib e RAMERE REM
accruals 3,888 7,041
Decrease in amount due JE N — & IR R IR
to a shareholder (8,723) —
Increase in amount due to a director &R — %%% Alﬁi“ ill 1,695 1
Increase in amounts JE T B N A 5RIE
due to related companies # 5,679 1,142
Increase/(decrease) in other taxes  H i ER B 1/ (54 )
payable 6,590 (1,162)
Cash used in operations KEMANES (68,943) (22,641)
PRC corporate income tax paid ENHECEMEH (2,066) (2,151)
USA withholding tax paid B EEEHH (287) (479)
Se——
\\ Net cash flows used in RETBMARSRE
opé%&ng activities R (71,296) (25,271)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meERATRER

Year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - %

—NF+ A=+ —HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Wit FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELENRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received B H B 6 4,555 2,259
Deposit paid for acquisition of BERkhEEEEF S
a commercial building — (143,861)
Consideration paid for the REFEREEFHRIYE
acquisition of a building
in prior years — (402,994)
Purchases of items of property, BEVX BER
plant and equipment HEEE 13 (3,070) (2,654)
Additions to investment properties HEREME (1,402,463) (57,333)
Purchase of intangible assets EVEEZRE 15 (106) (281)
Net cash flows used in REESMAN
investing activities RengFsd (1,401,084) (604,864)
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELENAERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the issue of BITMBRAGEHRE 31(c)
new shares and (d) 908,230 —
Share issuance expenses 17 8 77 8 F 31 (698) —
Proceeds from exercise of TREREMGRE
share options 31(a) — 5,250
Increase in pledged bank deposit 28 ## $R 17 17 FR 12 A1 — (836)
New bank loans HIRITER 36(b) 865,815 50,134
New loans from a shareholder BEREOIER 36(b) — 695,178
Repayment of loans from EEN %kﬁiﬁﬁg
a shareholder 36(b) (613,489) (135,237)
Short term advances from BUE=FRBZLN
independent third parties 36(b) 31,721 72,873
Repayment of short term advances EEBI 5= HEH#
from independent third parties 36(b) (60,300) —
Short term advances from BELEEHRRN
related companies 36(b) 21,134 153,954
Repayment of short term advances fEEBER AR HRK
from related companies 36(b) (3,273) (108,410)
Capital contribution to a subsidiary EEH TEH B R FEE
acquired under common control - 349,407
Acquisition of non-controlling W B JF 1 AR 2R
interests — (48,027)
Interest paid for bank loans ERRITERME 36(b) (36,000) (4,700)
Interest paid for an interest-bearing 2 EER A LB A
advance from
a related company — (1,202)
Payment of dividend FHHBAREBLEREE
of preference shares
of a subsidiary 7, 36(b) (1,143) (1,112)
Net cash flows from MEFEELL
financing activities BenReFs 1,111,997 1,027,272
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeREaRER

Year ended 31 December 2018 EZ—=—ZF—\F+=-HA=+—HIFFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hi it FHET FET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) BEe¢RELEEUN
IN CASH AND CASH EEm (RL)
EQUIVALENTS (360,383) 397,137
Cash and cash equivalents FNRELREEEY
at beginning of year 723,891 290,574
Effect of foreign exchange rate  E R B &) & 2548
changes, net (18,345) 36,180
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS X E ¢ R E L ZEY
AT END OF YEAR 22 345,163 723,891

\

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is located at
Suite 1603, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street,
Central, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were involved in the following
principal activities:

— property investment in the United Kingdom
(the "UK")

— property development and investment in the
United States of America (the “USA”)

— provision of property management services
in the mainland (“Mainland China”) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")

— operation and management of a leisure and
lifestyle experience centre (the “Recreational
Centre”) in Beijing, the PRC

At 31 December 2018, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Wintime Company
Limited (“Wintime”), which is incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability, and, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Winluck Global
Limited (“Winluck Global”), which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

LFRKESTH

B EGRAR(ARA]DB—
EREBTMRLABRAR » £
DREBHEXZMER AR (B
Frl)ERET «- AAREMHER
NEBLEMBUNBESPRENTH
205 & E Y KE16121603% -

BE_T-\F+_A=1+—HL*F
B REkHEMERRSEARIK
SEDEERETIEERH

— HE(RBEDHNYWERE

— XNBRARB([EZE])H®WE
BREEE

—  EFEFEARAMBE(HEDX
PE ([ BIREE]) REMEERE
FiR 755

— REREETBRIERMTHIKE
Ko B 8 A T B8 B P O (TR B R
) e

RZE—-NF+=ZA=+—H XK
ANEMEEBEZRRARABREER K
BHETMKZAABRATHWINtime
Company Limited ([Wintime]) + 7
RNAEBEERAR  ARENZEBERA
AAREBEXHSHMKLABR
& 1T A A]8IWinluck Global Limited
([Winluck Global]) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about principal subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries,
which are all indirectly held by the Company, as at

LAFIREERH(E)

ERIEWBAANER
RBE-T—\F+-A=+—AL
EEN - AATEEHEAT (6

31 December 2018 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

ARBHEEFAINFBELT ¢

Issued ordinary

Percentage of

registration share capital/  equity attributable Principal
Company name and operations registered capital to the Company activities
ERAL/ ZRA BRAEEREK/ KRFELR
8 ReEwd EMER BEASM TELEED
East Pacific Properties LLC* Delaware, USA United States dollars 100%  Property development
EEBAE (“US$”) 23,250,000 and investment
23,250,000 1T NEERERRE
GR Properties UK Limited* British Virgin Islands/UK Pound sterling (“€")1 100% Property investment
ARRLHE /£ EY NERE
Talent Chief Limited* British Virgin Islands/UK £1 100%  Property investment
EBRRRHR/EE 15§ NERE
IRBRANEERERA A PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (“RMB") 100%  Provision of property
B/ REARE 50,000,000 management services
Limited liability company AR #50,000,0007 RENFEERE
AREEAT
ERBSEBEERERA A PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 100% Operation of
e/ R E AR AE 40,000,000 a leisure and lifestyle
Limited liability company experience centre
EREADT B RE R
EEERDL
EREGMRERAR DA PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% Property holding
hE/PEAE AR %1,000,0007T NERE
Limited liability company
AREEAF
IRKGEHBERERER DAY PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% Provision of spa
RE/PEARE AE1,000,0007 treatment service in
Limited liability company a leisure and lifestyle
BREANDT experience centre

RABRE R
ERBRFL
REKEEERS

N\
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2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries
(continued)

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or
another member firm of the Ernst & Young global
network

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND
PREPARATION

Basis of presentation

Despite that, as at 31 December 2018, the Group had
net current liabilities of HK$114,920,000 and capital
commitments of HK$290,018,000 in total as further
detailed in note 38 to the financial statements, the
directors consider that the Group will have adequate
funds available to enable it to operate as a going
concern, based on the Group’s cash flow projection
which, inter alia, takes into account the historical
operating performance of the Group and the following:

o the unutilised banking facilities of HK$80,745,000
available to the Group as at the date of approval of
these financial statements and on the assumption
that the existing banking facilities will continue to
be available from the Group’s principal bankers;

o the unutilised existing facility available to the
Group provided by Wintime of HK$1,500,000,000
at the date of approval of these financial
statements; and

o a loan facility of HK$200,000,000 provided by a
related company ultimately controlled by Mr. Wei
Chunxian, a director of the Company, to the Group
in January 2019.

2.1

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

LFREERHGE)
ERIEMBAANER R

# REBERRKGFMEBARE
i 22 oK & 7 B = 7% A B R BK B R
%

LRABIIHED AN BEARES
REHAREAFREELIDY
BARAARESAEEEHH 0L
ACEERA - RIRLKHEAAS
EARBRNETE  HTEIL -

SR ERER

EER

BE LM ISRERMEISHFFM - A
EER-_Z—-N\FE+=ZA=+—HF
mE B EIFE 114,920,000 T K&
$7¥<ﬂa*:. #290,018,000/8 7T * £ =
RE - ERNBREBEEALE)AEER
Emﬂ& ERBR TS EELMHAR
SEReREER  AEBBEESRT
RESHBEREAELE

. AEBRZEM B R REN

EHBHONABERTARE

80 745,000 - WREKRE

MITHESEEENEBENE
KEJMETT%EL# ;

. RNZEMBHRERERER
H - BmWintimeln & & B £
HOWBEBEARADABRTARE
1,500,000,000/& 7T : &

. AARBESRAELERLK
RN —EEEATNF
—NF-—RBAAEBRRENE
A Eh & 200,000,000/%8 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.1

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND
PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of presentation (continued)

In addition, the Company has an existing plan to realise
certain investment properties, and will consider equity
and/or debt financing when necessary to provide
additional working capital to the Group. Accordingly,
these financial statements have been prepared on the
going concern basis which assumes, inter alia, the
realisation of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for (i) investment properties and a debt investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income which
have been measured at fair value; and (ii) a building
which has been measured at a revalued amount, as
further detailed in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2018. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

N\
\

\
172| GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

~J

NG

2.1

EIRENER(E)

EXTE-% 46§

gEsh - ARA B AR EIZIRE TIRE
ME UERBERZERBETRA
R/XEBBE  URAEEREMHE
SNEEBRD o AL REFEMBWETD
BEBLEELERYE  ABRRKR(HF
BREIRATEBRBETFEREEN
XHEE-

Rl E T
ZEVBBRRERREBSAMA
g([ZEestMag)EMNEE
MumE R (RERE R BT KR
HFEA - FEGHEN([FEGHE
AlDM2E) BEEERMNZIES
RAIRBAEARGIIGRHR - mEZF
BBHERE  ROESEAFEFEN
BREWMELRBAFEFARMBEZEK
sNEBRE (i) REEMHE
AREMETIN  BEA T EL KRG
BRA - E—FHFBHRT BRI
F24-BIERINFHMA  ZFEWH R
RABT(TETINE MEEHE
EUEREOINTAE -

p

A
V=1

=l

N

i

a

i
z AN
A =]

REMBRREBBEARARENE
ABE_Z-N\F+-_A=1+—H
LEFEENFBEHRER -HBRREAR
FAERAEZEFNER(BRERE
LtER) EAKEBB2ERKE
77 B9 FEL O B 1 A 4R 1] 2 [ 3R /Y R BB
XEAAEER  WEARNERY
WERETOES(A—EAEERB AT
BRENTERKRETWHEBASHR
REN)FEZEORE - AREE
4 -

PRI



2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND
PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting

rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
Other than subsidiaries acquired under a business
combination under common control during the year
ended 31 December 2017 which are consolidated
from the date when the combining entities first come
under the control of the controlling shareholder of
the Company, the results of other subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to
shareholders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND
PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 2
Transactions

BBV BIRELDE25 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 4

2.1

2.2

Insurance Contracts

BRI REENFAKETA)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
EBY RS ERIFIR THTA
HKFRS 15

EBY RS ERF155
Amendments to HKFRS 15

EF &AW

Customers

BRI B HRELRFE155 (BT AX)
Amendments to

HKAS 40
BB G EAF405 (BFTAR)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22
58 (ERMBHRERBEZES

— R EE225
Annual Improvements 2014-2016

cycle
EFER _FE— NFRHR

2 FJZ K

BREREYE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

Other than as explained below regarding the impact
of amendments to HKFRS 2, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 15,
amendments to HKAS 40 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, the
adoption of the above new and revised standards

has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main
areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based
payment transaction; the classification of a
share-based payment transaction with net
settlement features for withholding a certain
amount in order to meet an employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-
based payment; and accounting where a
modification to the terms and conditions
of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled
to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for
vesting conditions when measuring equity-
settled share-based payments also applies
to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net
share settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet the
employee’s tax obligation is classified in its
entirety as an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that if the terms and conditions of a cash-
settled share-based payment transaction
are modified, with the result that it becomes
an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction, the transaction is accounted
for as an equity-settled transaction from the
date of the modification. The amendments
have had no impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any cash-settled share-
based payment transactions and has no
share-based payment transactions with net
settlement features for withholding tax.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(b)

\

\

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
bringing together all three aspects of
the accounting for financial instruments:
classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition
adjustments against the applicable opening
balances in equity at 1 January 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was
not restated and continues to be reported
under HKAS 39.

Classification and measurement

All financial assets and liabilities of the Group
as at 31 December 2017 were classified
as loans and receivables, and financial
liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.
Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group’s
financial assets as at 31 December 2017
are reclassified as financial assets at
amortised cost from 1 January 2018 and
the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31
December 2017 continued to be classified
as financial liabilities at amortised cost from
1 January 2018. There was no change in
the measurement of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2017 upon adoption of HKFRS 9.

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(b)

(continued)
Impairment

The following table reconciles aggregate
opening impairment allowances in respect
of trade receivables under HKAS 39 to the
expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowances
under HKFRS 9.
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2.2 &t

(b)

BERSBHERHE(E)

(%)

818
TRAEBAEFTEAEIRT
FEU E 5 Bk F DR B B e
RERESHHREENFI
BT MEHEEER ([FRHE
EERDBEBENHE -

Impairment
allowances under ECL allowances
HKAS 39 as at under
31 December HKFRS 9 as at
2017 Remeasurement 1 January 2018
RZB-+& R-ZB-N\%
+ZA=t-H -B-HEAE
EEEHER B R s &R
FIKE T2 FORT 2HEH
HERE EfictE GEFBREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Trade receivables EUESER 9,021 2443 11,464
Impact on accumulated losses RilEEZEE

The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on
accumulated losses is as follows:

AR BREENFIORYR
AAERNBRETEDT

Accumulated

losses
Rt EE
HK$'000
FET
Balance as at 31 December 2017 B G EREFEINN T
under HKAS 39 RZE—+tF+=A
—+t—HZ&E# (989,842)
Recognition of expected credit BB B 5 RS 2 A
losses for trade receivables FORTEKEZERER
under HKFRS 9 BROBEHEEEE (2,443)
Balance as at 1 January 2018 BB SRS ER
under HKFRS 9 FBIORTHR =T —\F
—A—Bz&#% (992,285)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(c)

\

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, HKAS 18
Revenue and related interpretations and they
apply, with limited exceptions, to all revenue
arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS
15 establishes a new five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue
is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods
or services to a customer. The principles
in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces
extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and
estimates. The disclosures are included in
note 5 to the financial statements. As a result
of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with
respect to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to
the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the
modified retrospective method of adoption.
Under this method, the standard can be
applied either to all contracts at the date of
initial application or only to contracts that are
not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts
that are not completed as at 1 January 2018.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 and its
amendments does not have a significant
impact on the recognition of revenue of the
Group, but has resulted in more disclosures
in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Amendments to HKAS 40 Investment
Property clarify when an entity should
transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out
of investment property. The amendments
state that a change in use occurs when
the property meets, or ceases to meet,
the definition of investment property and
there is evidence of the change in use. The
amendments have had no impact on the
Group’s financial statements as the Group's
existing accounting policy for the transfer
into and out of investment property is
consistent with the requirement set out in the
amendments.

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 provides guidance on
how to determine the date of the transaction
when applying HKAS 21 The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to the
situation where an entity receives or pays
advance consideration in a foreign currency
and recognises a non-monetary asset or
liability. The interpretation clarifies that
the date of the transaction for the purpose
of determining the exchange rate to use
on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) is the date
on which an entity initially recognises the
non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment)
or non-monetary liability (such as deferred
income) arising from the payment or receipt
of the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance
of recognising the related item, the entity
must determine the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration. The interpretation has had no
impact on the Group’s financial statements
as the Group’s accounting policy for the
determination of the exchange rate applied
for initial recognition of non-monetary assets
or non-monetary liabilities is consistent with
the guidance provided in the interpretation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 ERMmERKENHETLE/Y

HONG KONG FINANCIAL GHEER

REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and REBW AR ZETEHRER P HAA

revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not TEBMEERERNFRT RELERT

yet effective, in these financial statements: EREHmEAER

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

BEVBHRELEREIRBFTR) ZFEHTE?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’

BBV REENFEIR(EFIAR) EFEAFMREFE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture*

EREVBREENFIORNELSG KELFHAR LN LR FANEESL E2)F &
At R 52857 (18 5] AX)

HKFRS 16 Leases’

BB B EERE 165 HE

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

ERMBHREENEITHR R g & 47°

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material?
HKAS 8

BAGEUNFIRLBEGE EAMNEEH?
A1 85 (IER] A )

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!
BEGFERF195% (BRI AK) FTEIEET MR AEE
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures!
ER G ERE285 (BRI A) RBERNARE S FH R E
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’
ER(BEUNBREREEREY) — FEHEEZ THEIT
Z B E235%
Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 231
Cycle
—E-—nFER-FE—+FHH BEUBWMELREIR BEVBMSENER BLEE
I 2 20 FTERIE12 R BB G ERIF 23R (IBETA)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 RZE—NF—AF—Hs 2%
1 January 2019 b6 B F E BRI A R
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 2 RZE-_ZTF—-—F—Hsk 2%
1 January 2020 16 B F E EARE A R
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 3 RZE-_—F—F—Bs2%EH
1 January 2021 16 H)FE BRI AR
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but 4 B EETEH ERBHE WA
available for adoption TIREERM
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is
described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a
business. The amendments clarify that for
an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business
can exist without including all of the inputs
and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable
of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is
on whether acquired inputs and acquired
substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or
services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2020.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(b)

\

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement Contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-
Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees
to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases
of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a
lessee will recognise a liability to make lease
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless
the right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a
class of property, plant and equipment to which
the revaluation model is applied. The lease
liability is subsequently increased to reflect the
interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required
to separately recognise the interest expense on
the lease liability and the depreciation expense
on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be
required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments.
Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as
an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using
the same classification principle as in HKAS 17
and distinguish between operating leases and
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(b)

(continued)

finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and
lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply
the standard using either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach.

The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from
1 January 2019. The Group plans to adopt the
transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise
the cumulative effect of initial adoption as
an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated losses as at 1 January 2019 and
will not restate the comparatives. In addition,
the Group plans to apply the new requirements
to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure
the lease liability at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the
date of initial application. The right-of-use asset
will be measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position immediately before the date
of initial application. The Group plans to use
the exemption allowed by the standard on
lease contracts whose lease terms end within
12 months as of the date of initial application.
During the year, the Group has performed a
detailed assessment on the impact of adoption
of HKFRS 16 and the Group has estimated
that right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$14,387,000 each will be recognised as at 1
January 2019.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(c)

\

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
provide a new definition of material. The
new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will
depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. A misstatement of information is
material if it could reasonably be expected
to influence decisions made by the primary
users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January
2020. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting
for income taxes (current and deferred)
when tax treatments involve uncertainty that
affects the application of HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does
not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax
treatments. The interpretation specifically
addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers
changes in facts and circumstances. The
interpretation is to be applied retrospectively,
either fully retrospectively without the
use of hindsight or retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of application as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application, without the restatement
of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from
1 January 2019. The interpretation is not
expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common
control are accounted for using the principle
of merger accounting in accordance with the
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations (“AG 5”) issued
by the HKICPA. Under the principle of merger
accounting, the consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statement items of the
acquired entities or businesses in which the
common control combination occurs from the date
when the acquired entities or businesses first come
under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the acquired entities or
businesses are consolidated using the existing book
values from the controlling party’s perspective.
No adjustments are made to reflect fair values,
or recognise any new assets or liabilities as a
result of the common control combination. No
amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or
excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of
common control combination, to the extent of the
contribution of the controlling party’s interest. All
differences between the cost of acquisition (fair
value of consideration paid) and the amounts at
which the assets and liabilities are recorded (net
of any reserves of the acquired entities) have
been recognised directly in equity as part of the
merger reserve. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
include the results of each of the acquired entities
or businesses from the earliest date presented
or since the date when the acquired entities or
businesses first come under common control, where
this is a shorter period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Other business combinations and goodwill

Other business combinations are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Other business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

—NF+=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Other business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss
on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures investment properties, a
building and a debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset is measured
using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are

appropriate in the circumstances and for which

sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
d minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT
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2.4
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than investment properties, deferred tax
assets, properties under development, inventories
and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal
and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of a non-
financial asset other than goodwill is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
\t\e relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R
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24 FESHBEBHE(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties B A
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETHBERT Bl —F R REARE
EER -
(a)  the party is a person or a close member of (a) MASKEZEABREINR
that person’s family and that person; (i) has FEKEHRANEREREBE R
control or joint control over the Group; (ii) has ZAEA (N8 A EE B pE T
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is s HEES  (DVEAEEE M
a member of the key management personnel EK%% P osk(iii) 2 AN & 3k
of the Group or of a holding company of the EEBRAANBEREIEASH
Group; a8 :
or %
(b) the party is an entity where any of the (b) MWMRBERUTEMMIBE @ AJE
following conditions applies: ERRE AL EARE
(i) the entity and the Group are members () ZERNAEEZR—
of the same group; EEMNKE

(i) one entity is an associate or joint (i X" EBES BB
venture of the other entity (or of a (RZES—EBNE
holding company, subsidiary or fellow [ /NI R = N A
subsidiary of the other entity); R E AT MBS D

Ea A oS

(i) the entity and the Group are joint (i) ZEBMASEEZEHE
ventures of the same third party; RE=ZTH&EEDLE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a (iv) E—EBERF=FHE
third entity and the other entity is an BhETHR -BEL
associate of the third entity; REZ B ESE

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit (v) #“EBEAASHEH
plan for the benefit of employees of AEEHAENERENE
either the Group or an entity related to BREA MmO B REE
the Group; &2

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly (vi) ZEBXZ(a)BEFTE A
controlled by a person identified in (a); B9 428 Il o B

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has (vii)  (a)(i)IBFri /8 A % 7%
significant influence over the entity or EREREATENR
is a member of the key management ZEB(KZERBNIE
personnel of the entity (or of a holding g RA) K ERE B A
company of the entity); and BHK B -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to a holding company of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Except for a building, which is stated at a revalued
amount, being its fair value at the date of the
revaluation less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses, other property,
plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Valuation in relation to the building is performed
frequently enough to ensure that its fair value
does not differ materially from its carrying amount.
Changes in the value of the building are dealt
with as movements in the property revaluation
reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the
excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss.
Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to
profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously
charged. An annual transfer from the property
revaluation reserve to accumulated losses is made
for the difference between the depreciation based
on the revalued carrying amount of the building and
the depreciation based on the building’s original
cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant
portion of the property revaluation reserve realised
in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
accumulated losses as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

2.4

Building

BF

Leasehold improvements

HEWMEREE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% to 20%
B HREMBPRAETRME 10%%Z20%
Motor vehicles 20%

TE 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties include both completed
investment properties and investment properties
under construction.

Completed investment properties are a commercial
building and an office building (including the
leasehold interest under an operating lease for a
property which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Investment properties under construction or
development for future use as investment properties
are classified as investment properties under
construction. Such properties under construction is
measured at cost, including transaction costs, and
subsequent to initial recognition, are stated at fair
value at the end of the reporting period when the
fair value can be determined reliably.

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of a completed investment property are recognised
in profit or loss in the period of the retirement or
disposal.

For a transfer from inventories (i.e., properties
under development or properties held for sale) to
investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at the date of change in
use and its previous carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end. The estimated annual rates of amortisation of
computer software are 10%-25%:

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor
are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases,
net of any incentives received from the lessor, are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, or at
fair value through other comprehensive income, as
appropriate.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to
be classified and measured at amortised cost or
fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 January 2018) (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at
amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a
business model with the objective to
hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income if
both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a
business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling.

° The contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, interest
income, foreign exchange revaluation
and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining
fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to
profit or loss.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are all classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and receivables. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that
are attributable to the acquisition of the financial
assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included as interest income in
profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (polices
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and polices under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset

and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.
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under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date,
the Group evaluates whether the debt investments
are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. In making that
evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit
ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are
not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Loans and receivables

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’'s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and the
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Loans and receivables (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is
later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities (polices under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and polices
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at amortised
cost. All financial liabilities are recognised initially
at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
payables, other payables, amounts due to a
director and related companies, bank borrowings,
loans from a shareholder, preference shares of a
subsidiary and liability component of perpetual
convertible bonds.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at
amortised cost are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (polices under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and polices
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (polices
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and polices under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Perpetual convertible bonds

The component of perpetual convertible bonds that
exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised as
a liability in the consolidated statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of
perpetual convertible bonds, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using a market
rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and
this amount is carried as a financial liability at
amortised cost. The remainder of the proceeds is
allocated to the equity component of the perpetual
convertible bonds that is recognised and included
in shareholders' equity, net of transaction costs.
The carrying amount of the equity component of
the perpetual convertible bonds is not remeasured
in subsequent years. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the perpetual convertible bonds
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and equity components when the instruments are
first recognised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 ok P ot

31 December 2018 —ZE—\F+=HA=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBEBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (polices
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and polices under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to
be held for sale after completion of the property
development and are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to
complete beyond the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to
properties held for sale.

Properties under development are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes cost of land together with any other
direct costs attributable to the development of the
properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the estimated selling price based on
prevailing market conditions less (i) anticipated
cost to completion of the development in respect of
properties under development; and (ii) estimated
costs to be incurred in marketing and selling the
properties.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 R < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group

operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for

financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition (applicable from
1 January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from
1 January 2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

(a) Provision of property management services

In respect of property management services
where the property management fee is
charged on a lump sum basis, the Group acts
as principal and is primary responsible for
providing the property management services
to the property owners, the Group recognises
the property management fee received
or receivable from property owners as its
revenue and all related property management
costs as its cost of services. Revenue from
the provision of property management
services is recognised over time when the
services are rendered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from
1 January 2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b) Provision of services in relation to operation
of the Recreational Centre

Revenue from the provision of services in
relation to operation of the Recreational
Centre is recognised over time when the
related services are rendered.

(c)  Sale of goods in relation to operation of the
Recreational Centre

Revenue from the sale of goods in relation
to operation of the Recreational Centre is
recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer.

Revenue from other sources
(a) Rental income

Revenue from rental income is recognised on
a time proportion basis over the lease terms.

(b)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method
by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before
1 January 2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(a) rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

from the rendering of property management
services and the provision of services in
relation to operation of the Recreational
Centre, when the services have been
rendered;

(c) from the sale of goods in relation to operation
of the Recreational Centre, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains either managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold; and

interest income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest rate method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities (applicable from
1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group
has received a consideration (or an amount of
consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group's operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a
Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions
within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is
designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is
reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital. In addition, at the time
when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve
will be transferred to the share capital account.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise
date or lapsed are deleted from the register of
outstanding options. When the share options are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses as a
movement in reserves.

Other employee benefits (pension schemes)

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
which operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions vest fully once made and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs (continued)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of the exchange
fluctuation reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, the cash flows of certain overseas
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
these entities which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions,
that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements and have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables, by applying ECL rates
to different ageing groups of trade receivables. The
ECL rate of each ageing group is determined by the
Group based on the average of historical incurred
credit loss experience on each ageing group in
the past years and, where material, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience
and forecast of economic conditions may not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the
future and significant management estimates are
required in the estimates. When the actual outcome
or expectation in future is different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact on the
carrying amounts of trade receivables and the
amount of ECLs provided or reversed in the periods
in which such estimates have been changed. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties and a building

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
and a building are assessed by management based
on property valuations performed by independent
professionally qualified valuers. The assumptions
adopted in the property valuations are based on
information of annual rental income, supported by (i)
the terms of any existing leases and other contracts;
and (ii) (when possible) external evidence such as
current market rents and recent prices for similar
properties in the same location and condition.

Further details of the fair value estimation of the
investment properties and a building, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement
and a sensitivity analysis, are set out in notes 13
and 14 to the financial statements.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong, Mainland China, the USA and the UK. The
Group carefully evaluates tax implications of its
transactions in accordance with prevailing tax
regulations and makes tax provision accordingly.
However, judgement is required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes as there
are many transactions and calculations, of which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, the differences
will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which the determination
is made. The carrying amount of current income tax
payables carried as liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$12,362,000 (2017:
approximately HK$1,528,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Classification of properties under
construction between investment properties
under construction and properties under
development

The Group develops properties for future
leasing to third parties to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management in determining whether a property
under construction is designated as an investment
property or a property held for future sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the
properties at the early development stage of the
related properties.

During the course of construction, the related
properties under construction are accounted for as
properties under development included in current
assets if the properties are intended for sale after its
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction
included in non-current assets if the properties are
intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Upon completion of construction of
the properties, the properties under development
intended for future sale are transferred to properties
held for sale and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value, while the properties that
are intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation are transferred to completed
investment properties, which are stated at fair value
at the end of each reporting period.

If the Group changes the use of a property in future,
the accounting treatment of the relevant property
may be changed, with a corresponding impact on
the financial position and financial performance of
the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —ZE—\F+=HA=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on the nature of their
products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) the property development and investment
segment engages in (i) property development
and property investment in the USA; and (ii)
leasing of office and residential units in the
UK;

(b)  the property management segment engages
in the provision of property management
services for office buildings, residential
properties and car parks in Beijing and Hebei
Province, the PRC; and

(c) the operation of the Recreational Centre segment
engages in the operation and management of a
leisure and lifestyle experience centre in Beijing,
the PRC

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before
tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax
except that head office and corporate income and
expenses are excluded from this measurement.

Segment assets and segment liabilities exclude
unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets and liabilities are managed on a group
basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT 4. HEHRBREIHE(E)
INFORMATION (continued)
Property development Operation of the
and investment Property management Recreational Centre Total
NERERRE NEEE hERLEE st
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-N\f ZT-+% ZE-N\F ZT-tf ZB-N\E -E-tF ZEB-Nf —T-+%
HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
&7 FET AT A1 A7 FE1 AT iz
Segment revenue RERA 75,067 10,212 196,057 142,121 90,158 77,489 361,282 229,822
Segment results T ES 53490  (43174) 36,351 8183 (42,550) (45224 47,7191 (80,215)
Reconciliation: HE:
Other unallocated income and gain ~ Eft & 5 EMA RME 1,828 15,689
Corporate and other unallocated ~ AAREHASEER
expenses (41,691) (3,107)
Profit/(loss) before tax RANE/ (BE) 798 (67633
Segment assets RREE 2,086,483 1346684 204263 138918 811,088 867,650 3,301,834 2353252
Reconciliation: HE:
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ARIREMXPEHEE
assefs:
— Property, plantand equipment  — 9% BERRE 314 507
— Prepayments, deposits and —BHRE ek
other receivables =) e 1,527,251 1502
— Due from related companies —EhEERARE 360 244
— Pledged bank deposit —BERRARR 39,230 39,636
— Cash and cash equivalents —BERALEED 161,090 20,641
Total assets BEE 5,030,079 2,415,782
Segment liabilities hEaE 1,107,210 872,510 141,576 122,392 273,627 249589 1,522,113 1244 491
Reconciliation: B
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ARREHASEAE
liabilities
— Other payables and accruals ~ — EERZR
RREA 2,785 62,467
— Due to a shareholder —ER-2RRAE 1437 -
— Liability component of —KATARES
perpetual convertible bonds BEEHS 48,929
Total liabilities Baf 1,575,564 1,306,958
Other segment information: HERRER
Capital expenditure” EARR
— Operating segments —BERA 1,551,635 58,409 79 554 2,258 1518 1,554,688 60,481
— Amount unallocated —APEEE 91 550
1,554,779 61,031
Impairment of trade receivables  ENEZEZA(E
— Operating segments —BERR 126 — 2,082 2520 - - 2,208 2520
Depreciation and amortisation HENEH
— Operating segments —BERR 63 211 533 701 27,558 24,286 28,154 25,198
— Amount unallocated —AnEsE 283 4
28,437 25,244
Fair value loss of investment RANELTERE
properties, net ek 201 20552 - - - - 201 20,552
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31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INF

(a)

ORMATION (continued)

Capital expenditure consists of additions to
property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and intangible assets, including assets
from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

EERREH(E)

. EXAHAXBEDE BMERER
ZHRE REMENREVEER
RRBHBRARZEE) -

Geographical information i EE R
Revenue from external customers (a) XKEINIBEFHKA
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —ET—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Mainland China K P 286,214 219,610
UK FE 75,068 10,212
361,282 229,822

(b)

The revenue information above is based on
the locations of the customers.

Non-current assets

A EWAER TIRER P 3 B
& -

(b) HFEBEE

2018 2017

—E-NE —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

The UK 4 1,656,442 278,473
The USA E X 519,536 192,813
The PRC s 785,631 828,687
Hong Kong BE 314 506
2,961,923 1,300,479

The non-current asset information above is
based on the locations of the assets and
excludes financial instruments and deferred
tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017, there was no single external customer which

contr

ibuted over 10% of the Group’s total revenue

for each of these years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

REVENUE 5. kA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REEHNWADITHET :
2018 2017
—E-N\E§ —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Property management RHMEEERY
service income 196,057 142,121
Operations of the Recreational R RE AR D
Centre:
— Service income - BR A WA 45,247 41,566
— Sales of goods -HEEm 44,911 35,923
Gross rental income He W A®EE 75,067 10,212
Total revenue LN -] 361,282 229,822
Notes: Htat -
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) ORI k-
Year ended 31 December 2018 %éé? EF-NEF+=ZH=+—H
IFFEE
Property Operation
development of the
and Property  Recreational
investment  management entre Total
F]
£ NEER KA L @
Seqments HKS 000 HKs 000 HK$'000 HKS 000
) BT BT BT BT
Type of goods or services EmBRBES
Rendering of property REMFEE
management services BB — 196,057 — 196,057
Operations of the Recreational Centre: 48 & (R & & 0
- Rendering of services - REERB - — 45,247 45,247
- Sale of goods -HEEM — — 44,911 44,911
Total revenue from contracts REANMANGE
with customers — 196,057 90,158 286,215
Revenue from another source — HREBA — e
Gross rental income Nt 75,067 — — 75,067
Total revenue N 75,067 196,057 90,158 361,282
GeoFraphlcaI market gEE%
Total revenue from contracts with LS LN
customers — Mainland China — KB — 196,057 90,158 286,215
Revenue from another source — HiREBA — e
Gross rental income W\ @58 75,067 — — 75,067
Total revenue WABE 75,067 196,057 90,158 361,282
Timing of revenue recognition llﬁl)\EE%ﬂé ]
Goods transferred at a point intime R E—E B @EEE G — — 44,911 44,911
Services transferred over time BEBELRK — 196,057 45,247 241,304
Total revenue from contracts RPANMAEE
with customers — 196,057 90,158 286,215
Revenue from another source — HiREBA — e
Gross rental income Nt 75,067 — — 75,067
Total revenue N 75,067 196,057 90,158 361,282
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5.

REVENUE (continued) 5. WA (#)
Notes: (continued) Bis - (&)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (a) WA 5 5E R (&)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TR RAARE BHE#ER UK
recognised in the current reporting period that ALE ERFTAREHUINE
were included in the contract liabilities at the HEE®RR
beginning of the reporting period:
2018
—E-N\F
HK’000
FET
Property management services )% E B RS 31,484
Services in relation to operation of the R 4 R AR B BE A BR 7%
Recreational Centre 35,547
67,031
No revenue recognised during the year ended 31 REBEEZZT—-—N\F+ZA=+—
December 2018 related to performance obligations HIEFE - IR R HE L f R E
satisfied or partially satisfied in previous periods. ERTHEMBOBITNENEEE
B A e
(b) Performance obligations (b) BHEE
Information about the Group’s performance FRAREEREPEAANELD

obligations in contracts with customers is
summarised below:

Provision of property management service and
services in relation to operation of the Recreational
Centre

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and payment in advance
is normally required.

Sale of goods in relation to operation of the
Recreational Centre

Revenue from the sale of goods in relation to
operation of the Recreational Centre is recognised
at the point in time when the goods are delivered
to the customers, and payment is made upon
delivery.

\
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31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W A(#)
Notes: (continued) Kzt - (&)
(b) Performance obligations (continued) (b) BHEE (&)
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining REBR_-_Z—NFE+=A
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially =+ HIREHGBEHEECK
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2018 are as BT RBIT) R Z BRI
follows: I
HK’'000
FET
Within one year —F R 23,703
More than one year —F U E 275
23,978
The remaining performance obligations expected BRI —F A LR TR E
to be recognised in more than one year relate to HNEESREEEREFLEHA
services in relation to operation of the Recreational AR  EBERMERNERT -
Centre that are to be satisfied within two years. All FEHMFGBELSTEHBER
the other remaining performance obligations are —FRNER - LA BENSET
expected to be recognised within one year, The BT RE A LB o
amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.
6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET 6. Rttt ARKE B8
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gain, REBHEMIWARKE  FEI>TH
net is as follows: N
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Bank interest income RITH B WA 3,520 2,259
Interest income of FE U B ZF B R A
loan receivables 1,035 —
Penalty income U A 364 266
Foreign exchange gain, net b 5w A 2,411 11,818
Forfeiture of property BB MEERE 2
management fee deposits — 2,606
Others H 2,919 541
10,249 17,490

/ [
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STATEMENTS

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. M¥ESH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REEBVBEBRSTTOT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
b i FET FET
Interest on bank loans RAITE A S 36,000 5,325
Interest on loans from f& SRR B B R B
a shareholder 29 6,615 2,211
Interest on a loan from a KE—EHEERAER
related company 79 Al 2 39(vii) — 1,202
Interest on perpetual KA AR EFHF B
convertible bonds 33 8,374 —
Interest on preference (o= INCIE =i = o Rl BS
shares of a subsidiary 28 1,143 1,112
Total finance costs BB ER 52,132 9,850
Less: Amount capitalised in J& : EE P R EWEH
investment properties EEREE
under construction 14 (5,279) (763)
Amount capitalised ERFEKEDPENEE
in properties under  A{t & %8
development — (625)
46,853 8,462
8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8. MmMFHE (E5i8)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at AEBBAFE (BB EHNER,
after charging/(crediting): (%) TH&EIE -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+t5F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B &F FETT FET
Depreciation e 13 28,342 25,070
Amortisation of intangible & JiZ & /&= #§
assets 15 95 174
Loss on disposal of items  HEWME - WE &
of property, plant and HEBEBEEWEE
equipment 83 19
Minimum lease payments &KEHEMNKEEE
under operating leases M3k — L REF
in respect of land and
buildings 17,784 10,151
Employee benefit expense & ERF & A
(including directors’ (BIEESH
remuneration (note 9)): (H15%9)) :
Salaries, allowances e EHK
and benefits in kind Y= 89,144 84,941
Equity-settled share NREEEERES
option expense A 32(a 1,730 —
Pension scheme RS E B R
contributions 5,866 4,591
96,740 89,532
Equity-settled share option —ZEM ZESEE
. expense of a consultant BB 2 A 32(a) — 1,167
\f Auditor’s remuneration Z B A B2 2,000 1,850
RN ~_ Impairment of trade fE W 5 Bk SR E
\ %R 19(b) 2,208 2,520

\ \\receivables, net
\ .

~/ |

N \
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing

Rules”), section 383(1)(a),

(b),

(c) and (f) of the

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

EFHHN

REBZXMAGEZ DRI LD
AN - FBCR A& HI) % 383(1)
(a) * (b) * () R(HIEM R AR (H&E
EENRER)RODBE2HMREN K

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of FEEEHFMOT :
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Group
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Fees ks 1,208 686
Other emoluments: H At S Ep
Salaries, allowances and e EBMAMEYH &
benefits in kind 168 2,226
Equity-settled share option DRESEEBREEZR
expense 1,730 —
Pension scheme contributions RIKSETEIME R 52 34
1,950 2,260
Total remuneration e FCR 3,158 2,946

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a
named basis, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2018

EEHFM(AERBEE) ST

BE-_F-\E5+-A=+t—-RLFE

Salaries,
allowances  Equity-settied Pension
and benefits  share option scheme Total
Name of director Fees in kind expense contributions  remuneration
Bo 2EA NERAEE Rife
£33 fe ENRE REER FiE et
HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$°000 HK$:000 HK$°000
FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr
Executive directors: HIEE:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (‘Mr. Wei") ROMETE 480 168 - 17 665
Ms. Liu Shuhua nEnt - - 1,730 - 1,730
Mr. Sun Zhongmin (“Mr. Sun”) BRREE 368 - - 15 383
848 168 1,730 2 2,778

Independent non-executive directors: BV #57E% -
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ENERE 120 - - 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien" REERL 106 - - 7 113
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung BREZEE 120 - - 6 126
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit S 14 - - 1 15

360 - - 20 kL

Total st 1,208 168 1,730 52 /A,158
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31 December 2018 —F

—NF+=A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EFHM(HE)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-E—tF+-A=+—-HLEE
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Pension scheme
Name of director Fees in kind contributions  Total remuneration
B¢ REAEY Efre
BSR4 e & HERH g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FAET FET AT
Executive directors: HiTEE .
Mr. Wei Bk 312 2,226 15 2,503
Ms. Liu Shuhua URELt - - - -
Mr. Sun BreE - - - -
312 2,226 15 2,553
Independent non-executive directors:  BL#H7EE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric EABAE 125 - 6 131
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung? BEELAE 57 - 3 60
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RRELE 125 - 6 131
Mr. Guan Zheng Michaglt B4 67 - 4 71
374 - 19 393
Total B 686 2,226 34 2,946
” Appointed as an independent non-executive A RZZE-—NF-_ATHBEZE
director of the Company on 14 February 2018. BARNBEYIENITES -
* Resigned as an independent non-executive * RZE-—NF-_A+TUHETA
director of the Company on 14 February 2018. NABIIERITES -
o Appointed as an independent non-executive s RZE—+tFtAT+-_HEZMHE
director of the Company on 12 July 2017. RARBYLIEHITES ©
# Resigned as an independent non-executive # RZE—tHFELA+ZHABEAR
director of the Company on 12 July 2017. REBUIERITES ©
Notes ioFa

A director was granted share options in the current
year, in respect of her service to the Group,
under a share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 32(a)
to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in profit or loss
in full during the current year, was determined as
at the date of grant and is included in the above
directors’ remuneration disclosures.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. A fiEmEHFER
The five highest paid employees during the year FRN ANGEsSFEERBRE—%
included one (2017: one) director, details of whose —E—+F: —Z)EE HHFM
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of HEEXHFI - FRHB TITHEZ(ZE
the remuneration of the remaining four (2017: four) —+F  UR)FEEFNRSHEE
non-director, highest paid employees for the year ZHMEFBOT -

are as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and e REUNMEDN =
benefits in kind 3,797 3,621
Equity-settled share option NEDEEEREER
expense 1,730 —
Pension scheme contributions RIRE IR 164 216
5,691 3,837
The number of non-director highest paid employees FHERATHEEANNIIEEER S
whose remuneration fell within the following bands BEEMAZMOT :
is as follows:
Number of employees
EEAHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0005% 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L2
1,500,000/ 7T 1 2
4 4
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11.

INCOME TAX 11. i8R
An analysis of the Group’s income tax is as follows: REBFELEEBOREHRA TN
T
2018 2017
—E-N\F§ —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current — Mainland China B H — b B oK BE 9,855 1,770
Current — UK BH— 3,584 —
Current — USA EH — % 287 254
Deferred (note 30) IEXE (B 7#30) (15,228) (4,643)
Total tax credit for the year RNEEHIER BB (1,502) (2,619)
Notes: HiaE -

(a)

\

\

\
234 | GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

No provision for Hong Kong has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year (2017: Nil).

The PRC and UK income taxes in respect of
operations in Mainland China and the UK are
calculated at the applicable tax rates on the
estimated assessable profits for the year, based
on the prevailing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

The USA corporate income tax provision
represented withholding tax provision calculated
at the applicable tax rate on interest income of
advances to subsidiaries in the USA for the year,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

RAFER  BRANEEL EE
AEMRESELENEITHRA
B RN YERBFBITIRES
ZE—+tF E) -

AEEERTEREREERLE
XM B R EEMEHRAE
EREAMBETIR  XREFED
BITEE RENEEER &
REABEGH o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

11. INCOME TAX (continued) 11. RSN (4E)
Notes: i -
(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) (b) BHREANARRREKZEHH
applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory BRAAEEMEWNAEEER

tax rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and majority of its subsidiaries operate to the tax
expense/(credit) at the effective tax rates, and a
reconciliation of the applicable tax rates (i.e., the (R )EER AR ERHX(AD
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as EEME)NEBEERENHERN
follows: T

MBI FIE, (B8R A EER X
AAEHNREER (ER)  H
BERBEFEHNBAER

Year ended 31 December 2018 BZEZ-Z-N\FE+-A=1+—-HLEE

Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
Bk PEAKE 8 3 &it
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$000 %  HK$000 %  HK$'000 %
TE7 TEx TEx FEX FET
Profit/(loss) BaE/
before tax (58 (9,929) (8,556) 46,280 (19,867) 7,028
Tax expense/(credit) RETHEER
at the statutory HEEE/
fax rate (£%) (641 165 (2139) 250 18512 00 (3973 200 10759 1357
Income not subject fotax  EZAHT B A w9 497 212) 25 (13076)  (283)  (1,326) 67 (19505  (2465)
Expenses not deductible R A EAMHIEL
for tax 85 6419 (646) 1217 (142) - — 8985 (52 1662 2006
Effectof withholding tax ~ BHIHEEEEE
on interest income HFSHAL
derived from the USA b% 287 (2.9) - - - - - - 27 36
Tax losses not recognised ~ RBRHBEE 153 (1.5) 5,426 (63.4) (1,927 (42) (13,276 66.8  (9.624)  (1214)
Tax expense/(credit) atthe  BRASEEERX
Group’s effective SEMKE
fax rate g8/ (f8) 2%7 29 422 (502) 3509 76 (95%0) 483 (1502)  (189)

Year ended 31 December 2017 BZ_Z—tF+-A=1T—HLEE

Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
R PEAKE 8 %E fit
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$000 %  HK$000 %  HK$'000 %
TEx TEx FER FER FET
Profit/(oss) wafE/
before tax (E#&) 10,880 (37.016) (3.563) (37.934) (67,633)
Tax expense/(credit) REEHEGER
at the statutory HEEE/
tax rate (#%) 1,797 165 (9254) B0 (145) 400 (7587) 200 (16,469) 2.4
Income not subject to tax ~ EARFEMA (5,319) (48.9) (546) 15 — — — — (5,865) 8.7
Expenses not deductible T EHIHEH
for tax L E 3517 32.3 1,350 (3.6) — — 5,354 (14.1) 10,221 (15.1)
Effect of withholding tax BNREGEER
on interest income HFSHAL
derived from the USA ye 254 23 - - - — — - 254 (0.4)
Tax losses not recognised ~ RERHBEFE 5 — 5,365 (14.5) 1,637 (46.0) 2,233 (5.9) 9,240 (13.7)
Tax expense/(credit) atthe  RALEERH %
Group’s effective HEHHE _
tax rate BE/(H%) 254 23 (3,085) 83 212 (6.0) — — (2@9{/ 39

/
/
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

12.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER
SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amounts is based on the profit/(loss) for the
year attributable to shareholders of the Company,
and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of the Company in issue during the year.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2018, the
calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the total of (i) the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation; and (ii) the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued
on the deemed conversion of all dilutive perpetual
convertible bonds into ordinary shares of the
Company. The share options outstanding during
the year ended 31 December 2018 did not have a
diluting effect on the earnings per share amount
presented.

In respect of the diluted loss per share amount for
the year ended 31 December 2017, no adjustment
has been made to the basic loss per share amount
presented in respect of a dilution as the impact of
the perpetual convertible bonds and share options
outstanding during the prior year had an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount
presented.

\

\ \
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12.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER

SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss)
per share amounts are based on the following data:

Earnings/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to shareholders of
the Company, used in the basic
and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share calculation

Number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during
the year, used in the basic
earnings/(loss) per share
calculation

Effect of dilution of perpetual
convertible bonds — weighted
average number of ordinary
shares

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares during the year,

used in the diluted earnings/(loss)

per share calculation

12. BERFLFIRRENEERE
Il (B5H8)(48)
EREARBERAN (BB 2
THIRE TS 8URETH -
BR(BR)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FET
HESREARSER
(BB EBAAR
A AR R S AR FEFE
/(E518)
9,579 (65,014)
ZBEREE
Number of shares
g
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—+tF

AEERELRAN
(BR)MAAFE
ERTEBRZ
I3 2
2,363,185,511
K A AT B {5 77 B
e — LRRME
FHE
511,216,011

1,448,547,818

AEeREERN
(BR)MAAFE
R 2 hniE T
2,874,401,522

1,448,547,818
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31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND

13. MR HWEREM

EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Building improvements  equipment vehicles Total
HENE &R EEX
7 %8 BOERR RE ch
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TET TET TET TEz TEz
(note)
(i)
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-E-NE+ZA=1-H
LEE
At 1 January 2018; RZE-\E-A-8:
Cost or valuation RAGHEE 864,255 8,208 22,969 2,756 898,188
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (53,302) (2,642) (11,732) (1,923) (69,599)
Net carrying amount SETE 810,953 5,566 11,237 833 828,589
Net carrying amount; REFE -
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\F-F-H 810,953 5,566 11,237 833 828,589
Additions RE - 1,589 926 555 3,070
Depreciation provided REHRENE
during the year (22,253) (1972) (3,744) (373) (28,342)
Disposals & - - (26) (70) (96)
Surplus on revaluation Eff Rt 24,310 - - - 24,310
Exchange realignment EiAE (41,412) (268) (443) (48) (42,111)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+ZA=1-18 771,598 4,915 7,950 897 785,360
At 31 December 2018: RZB-NE+ZA=+-80:
Cost or valuation AFEE 843,470 9,338 22,384 2,545 877,737
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (71,872) (4,423) (14,434) (1,648) (92,377)
Net carrying amount SEEE 771,598 4,915 7,950 897 785,360
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

13. W% BB R ()

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Building improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENE &R EEX
EF %8 BOERE RE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i Tz i FEx Tz
(note)
(Hit)
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-Z-tETZR=1-H
LEE
At 1 January 2017; RZB-t5-F-8:
Cost or valuation RAGEE 782,798 6,844 19,808 2,563 812,013
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (30,768) (917) (7,465) (1,473) (40,623)
Net carrying amount SEEE 752,030 5927 12,343 1,090 771,390
Net carrying amount: BHEFE:
At 1 January 2017 RZE-tE-4-H 752,030 5927 12,343 1,090 771,390
Additions RE — 845 1,809 — 2,654
Depreciation provided REHENE
during the year (19,419) (1,611) (3,714) (326) (25,070)
Disposals HE - - (19) - (19)
Surplus on revaluation ENYE 22,498 - - - 22,498
Exchange realignment ERES 55,844 405 818 69 57,136
At 31 December 2017 RoB-t#+2fz1-8 810953 5,566 11,237 833 828500
At 31 December 2017; RZE—+ETZA=1-8H:
Cost or valuation KA ME 864,255 8,208 22,969 2,756 898,188
Accumulated depreciation Z2iE (53,302) (2,642) (11,732) (1,923) (69,599)
Net carrying amount RETE 810,953 5,566 11,287 833 828,589

/ [
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31 December 2018 —ZE—\F+=HA=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

13. V1% -WHER&M (&)

~

NG

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Note: The Group’s building was revalued on
31 December 2018 based on a valuation performed
by Knight Frank Petty Limited, independent
professional qualified valuers, at an open
market value of RMB678,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$771,598,000), resulting in a revaluation surplus
of HK$24,310,000 which has been recognised
as other comprehensive income in the property
revaluation reserve during the year.

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 December 2018, the fair value of the building
was measured using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) as defined in HKFRS 13. During
the year, there was no transfer into or out of Level 3
(2017: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation technique

o

RZE—N\F+ZA=+—
AEBEFHBLIEEA
1t 1B Bl 2 35 8 5T B 17 B BR
HOEFGHE BRTEE
J%Aﬁm%?soooooomifa
771,598,000/ L) * B E &
B 2 £ 24,310,000/ T RN FE R Y
¥SEHHFEETERAEEM2ERK

Zs o
I

=

MMSME
X Bl o

P

RFEERFKE

R-ZZB-N\F+-_A=+—H"

REBZRAFEDEREERBER
SHEAFIBFARAE2EARTAE

%%u)\%ﬁf( “ERIFE R
KERR - ﬂiﬂﬂiikiiﬂj %=
BRMER(—T—LF )

AT RRBEEMMFANHER

used and the key input to the valuation of the i EE8@ ABEBE -
building:
Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input Weighted average
1 {8 % 9if EXRTABEGAHE hn k¥
2017 2018
—Tt% BN\
Building Direct comparison Price per square metre RMB24,073 RMB24,165
Rig BELIR BF I RER AR#24,0737C AR¥24,1657T

The valuation of the building was based on the
direct comparison approach by reference to
comparable market transactions. A significant
increase (decrease) in the estimated price per
square metre in isolation would result in significant
increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
building.

240| GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

RENBELILZ2RBALEBRT ISR
FRABERLEEEE - BF S
B A E R KRG OR D)
BHAERFERELMORD) -



14.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

14. REYE
Under
Completed construction Total
2%&EMK EEF &5t

(note (a)) (note (b))
(Ktt(a)) (#t&t(b))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FEIT
Carrying amount RZZE—tF—-H—H
as at 1 January 2017 B ERmEE 275,005 130,194 405,199
Additions NE — 57,333 57,333
Interest capitalised (note 7) & &AL F B (H1727) — 763 763
Net gain/(loss) from fair ANFPERBELD
value adjustments FlRE(BE) (23,590) 3,038 (20,552)
Exchange realignment M 5 58 B 27,058 1,147 28,205
Carrying amount RZE—+F
as at 31 December 2017 +-—A=+—8Xk
and 1 January 2018 —E-N\F—-H—H
7 BR T B 278,473 192,475 470,948
Additions NE 1,488,258 58,066 1,546,324
Interest capitalised (note 7) & &t F| B (H7E7) — 5,279 5,279
Net gain/(loss) from fair NEFEFAEELED
value adjustments Flws S (E8) (29,530) 29,329 (201)
Transfer from properties ERBERTYE
under development — 233,822 233,822
Exchange realignment BE 3, 5 28 (80,759) 257 (80,502)
Carrying amount as at RZE—NE+H
31 December 2018 =t—HEXNERHEE 1,656,442 519,228 2,175,670
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

Notes:

(a)

\

The Group’s completed investment properties
as at 31 December 2018 represented an office
building and a commercial building in London,
the UK, which are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which
are summarised in note 37(a) to the financial
statements.

The Group’s investment property under
construction as at 31 December 2018 represented
a commercial and residential complex (the “US
Complex”) currently being developed by the Group
on a parcel of land located in Santa Monica, the
County of Los Angeles, State of California, the USA,
that would be leased out for rental income upon
completion of the construction of the US Complex.

In the prior year, a portion of the US Complex was
classified as properties under development as it
would be put into market for sale upon completion
of the construction, based on the Group’s original
development plan. During the current year, the
Group changed the use of that portion and will
lease it to third parties for earning rental income
upon completion of the construction. Accordingly,
that portion of the US Complex was reclassified to
investment properties under construction during
the current year and the difference between the
fair value of the property at the date of change in
use and its then carrying amount, amounting to
HK$23,997,000, was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Each year, the Group’s senior management
decides which external valuers to be appointed
for the external valuations of the Group’s
investment properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The
Group’s senior management has ongoing
discussions with the valuers on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations are performed.

The Group’s completed investment properties
were revalued on 31 December 2018 based on
valuations performed by Jones Lang La Salle
Limited and Knight Frank LLP, independent
professionally qualified valuers.

The Group’s investment property under
construction was revalued on 31 December
2018 based on a valuation performed by
Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc., independent
professionally qualified valuers.

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 December 2018, fair value measurement
of the Group’s investment properties were using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as
defined in HKFRS 13. During the year, there was no
transfer into or out of Level 3.

\
GR PROPEF{TIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

14. #EWMRA)

Kt -
(a)

B &+
1D

AR
W S

e
\
s

S H PR
B
T <K T 0¥ o
BB S
2t el oME -
AN TE |
R
SN -

S - oM S |
=D X 4

B
B

O

g

R_E-NF+-_A=+—8"
AEBEEZTPHREMERLE
BIEA—BLRERNFERE
M%L%%EE%ﬁZim%@

ﬁE%é%%U%Iwm
%%D REBHEEWERZET
REME - HF HH A % B
%H&U\ °

thif
RS

C
Pe

p

= )
R A

ﬁE
8 3F
EEH

3

i
- >

SRBER

d
H
o
35 Bt
¥ -
S35 S M S

5

e

2

N
Do o I6 M yr ot D T
o 3 = e e s B

- 1 oA EE R
IR N B m

s
o e N R g

S5 e 0> 26
=
3§%>wmﬁg¥

Bk 535 5 g ol -

0wy s H BHY

\
/i

~
o

\
/k/‘r\;
3o

REDYAT - =T
S B R ST I8 5 R B A

11 = e 2 1 3 B Bt i i
Fg‘m
gt In

+H BRI
NS
- O Bk e A DL |||

T

i &
|1 Rl
R
fﬁﬁﬁ\;—?

|
m
=
Hr
Xt

(c) B5F AEESHRE
T —RINEBERME
WEMENINIIEE
BEMSN®E B
FEFEKE - KEEF
@ﬁE%ELﬁﬁE%ﬁ
HEBELHELER -

#cmﬁ
%%@wm
B

I

iER

} I A

o
@

i
=

<

o

Ry E
13

v

ﬁ
o
ES

T-NE+A=+—80"
BEERNKREMERBE L
4 & {f E BiJones Lang La
imited }2Knight Frank LLP
LEETE °

& 15 iﬁ}%ﬁ{EEmCushman &
Wakefield Western, Inc.E {#

DAY AR

R-_Z—-NF+_A=+—8"
AEBREVENRTFEAEY
EREATABRBAB(E=E
BIEZRBBUBRESENS
135%) - RAFER - #EEE A
BHE=ZEROQFETE -

o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BREYE(E)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) BiaE - (&)
(c) (continued) (c) (#)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued) W TE(E)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques UTARAEEKEYEGER
used and the key inputs to the valuations of the HANEERMTETFTEHG AED
Group’s investment properties: BE
Range of input
Valuation Significant BAEEE
techniques unobservable inputs 2018 2017
fhERT EATTBEBRAE “E-)N\E Tt F
Completed investment properties
An office building Income capitalisation (i)  Equivalent yield 5.09% 5%
(i) Unit market £45.11 per £22.5-£35 per
rent per month square metre of square metre of
gross floor area gross floor area
BEARENE WABER{LE () ZBURE 5.09% 5%
—BHAET (i) BREUTSES YRR YLK
BREER BREER
LERIES: 25EER
3BEE
A commercial building Income capitalisation (i)  Equivalent yield 4.16% N/A
TER
(i) Unit market £56.28 per N/A
rent per month square metre of TER
—BEEEF KAERILE gross floor area
(i) FBUuX 4.16%
(i) GREfIMAZHEE YRR
BEEER
56.28 % &
Investment property under construction
The US Complex Income capitalisation (i)  Capitalisation rate 4.4% 3.8%
(i) Unit market Commercial portion: Commercial portion:
rent per month USS$72 per US$67-US$78
square metre of per square metre of
gross floor area gross floor area
Residential portion:
US$4,900-US$9,000
per unit of bedroom or
townhouse
EEPRENE WAB KA () BERfE 4.4% 3.8%
FAGaNE (i) BAEfmHHS BERN BEBH
§F5K BEk
BEEER BREER
nER BTETET8ET
TEEHH
BEMBES
BHET49005 12
9,000% 7t

/
/

-/

A
e

X
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(c) (continued) (c)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

The income capitalisation approach is applied
based on net rental income that can be derived
from existing tenancies with due allowance for the
reversionary potential of the properties.

A significant increase (decrease) in the unit
market rent per month in isolation would result
in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties. A significant
increase (decrease) in the equivalent yield and
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of
the investment properties.

(d) At 31 December 2018, the Group’s investment (d)
properties were all pledged to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group (notes 27(a), (b) and
(c)).

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. #EWMRA)

Mrat (%)

(8)
DV [E R EE (4

ERBAEROER DERAF
BRAHENFEASWA L&
REARBABMENERESN

EBBABMTSHESKNE LI
(TR EEHRENVELFEX
BEF(TR) - ZBRaEXRE
AMeREFAELA(TR)EG
HEREMEAFEARABEIE(L
) e —Rif s A ESEE
FEREMESeHERSBEE
HHE 77 A ey BB LA N B s X
RERERBRTRAOED -

RZZE—NF+=_A=+—8"
AEERBE2PREMEERR
FAEBMRITEE 2 ER (M F
27(a) ~ (b)X(c)) °

15. B EE

Computer software

B4
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$°’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January: R—H—B8:
Cost DN 1,275 913
Accumulated amortisation g (333) (141)
Net carrying amount REFE 942 772
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 1 January ®n—H—H 942 772
Additions =T 106 281
Amortisation provided TG R R 8
during the year (95) (174)
Write-off 88 (11) —
Exchange realignment b 5 3 & (49) 63
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 893 942
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8":
Cost X AR 1,300 1,275
Accumulated amortisation Ea g (407) (333)
Net carrying amount REFE 893 942

N\
\

\
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16.

17.

18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE 16. MAFEIAEMMZEKES
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BMRERE
INCOME
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Unlisted debt investment, FEEMEBHRE  HAFE
at fair value = 23,113 —
The unlisted debt investment was designated FEMEBIREWETE AR ATFER
at financial asset at fair value through other AEMEAEENEREE - TTER
comprehensive income as the Group plans to both AEEGFEAFESREENKREG
hold the financial asset to collect its contractual HReRERBEETC(HWER) -
cash flows and sell it, as appropriate.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, WEBEE-_T-N\EF+_A=+—81
the gross gain in respect of the unlisted debt IEEE  REMEEmKEERNIEL
investment recognised in other comprehensive MEBILE E W4 A352,0007% T
income amounted to approximately HK$352,000 (ZZ—tF:|) -
(2017: Nil).
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 17. RS %
Properties under development of the Group as at rEEBR_ZE—+F+_A=+—
31 December 2017 represented a portion of the US BREZERFVMERIES»EZHEEY
Complex (as defined in note 14(b)) which would #(Ex BN E140b) BREER
be put into market for sale upon completion of the EMETTIEEBERMSHEE - KT
construction of the US Complex. At 31 December —tF+ZA=+—H ' ZEWED
2017, such properties were pledged to secure a WIS R FPAEENEITHE
bank facility granted to the Group (note 27(b)). (M 5E27(b)) °
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the BE_ZE-N\F+HA=+—HLL#F
Group changed the use of the properties under B AEBERERTFMENRS
development and hence reclassified them to AR AFEREEFTSERTEER
investment properties under construction during the By E—FHBIHRTBREM
current year, as further detailed in note 14(b) to the FE14(b) °
financial statements.
INVENTORIES 18. &
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET
Food and beverages BRY N & 543 409
Other operating items for BELCENHMKEED

restaurant operations 334 3,909

Goods for resale Bmid e 148 758
Repair and maintenance parts EBERIRE I 472 370

1,497 5,446

/

)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. BB HER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Trade receivables EUE 5 R R 37,717 34,450
Less: Impairment (note (b)) W ORE (KT aEb)) (13,088) (9,021)
24,629 25,429

Notes:

(a) Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and
arise from the provision of property management
services, leasing of investment properties and
operation of the Recreational Centre. Tenants of
the Group’s managed properties are required
to pay a calendar year’'s property management
service fees annually in advance.

The Group’s credit terms of its trade receivables
are negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with tenants of the properties
managed by the Group, tenants of investment
properties and customers of the Recreational
Centre. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at
31 December 2018 are amounts of HK$3,395,000
(2017: HK$3,447,000) in total due from companies
controlled by two directors of the Company, which
are repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered to other tenants in the ordinary course
of business. Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, both being
directors of the Company, have beneficial interests
in these related companies.

At 31 December 2018, certain trade receivables of
HK$580,000 (2017: HK$61,000) and HK$2,741,000,
(2017: Nil) in total were pledged to secure a bank
loan facility granted to the Group for financing the
purchase of an office building in London, the UK
(note 27(a)) and another bank loan facility for the
purchase of a commercial building in London, the
UK (note 27(c)), respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19.

Notes: (continued)

FEU 5 5 AR & (48)
Wit : (%)

(b) An ageing analysis of the trade receivables, based (b) REINHEH EHEZEZRGD
on due date and net of impairment, is as follows: BORE)MERE DT ¢
2018 2017
—B-Nf e
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Past due: RATHBEARE
Less than 1 year —F R 20,833 20,849
1 year to 2 years —FEMEF 1,916 3,564
2 years to 3 years MEE=F 1,880 1,016
24,629 25,429

The movements in the loss allowance for

RAFER  BKREZERIBE

impairment of trade receivables during the year are BEBEENEESNT :
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-NF —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January: R—H—8:
As previously reported w2 B2 W 9,021 5,950
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 HEWEEVERE
(note 2.2(b)) HRIFIRMTE
(Ktat2.2(b)) 2,443 .
As restated K E 11,464 5,950
Impairment losses B & B 2,208 2520
Exchange realignment M 5 38 & (584) 551
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 13,088 9,021

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended
31 December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are
based on the average of historical incurred credit
loss experience on each ageing group of trade
receivables. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if they are not considered recoverable
by the Group and are not subject to enforcement

HE2—_ZF—-NF+-A=+—H
IFFEREEEFHHEERE
9%t 2 18
REREDBHBEEEEE
TRESN U 2EHEES
B -BEXRDENSEREKARNE
WESERELEELERFEBR
KHRHOTFHEETE - —KM s
WEKESEREAEER AT
] el K 5 78 % BR PR 0 dil 1T &
A F LA S o

activity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

\

(continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended
31 December 2018 (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit
risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables
using a provision matrix:

At 31 December 2018:

19. BB SHER(E)
Kiat - (&)

(b)

(&)

BE—_F-NFFt-_A=1—H
IEFRIRIEE BT H#H e R ZE
9FE.Z Bl 18 ()
ERASERARBEMEAEN
EWE ZERNEERRE MK
FmE

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H:

Ageing based on due date
ERZBABNER
Less than 1to2 2t03 Over
1 year years years 3 years Total
PR-F -EWE WEZE ZENE @zt
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEX 7.86%  42.84%  64.22% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FRaE(TEr) 22,610 3,352 5,255 6,500 37,717
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEBR(TET) 1,777 1,436 3,375 6,500 13,088
Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended R —_ZE—F+F+-_HA=+—H
31 December 2017 IFFEREEE &5 ERE395%
Z B 1E
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at BEBEBSFHEREI5 - K=
31 December 2017 that were not individually nor ET—+E+-_A=+—HFM@7
collectively considered to be impaired under HKAS HHRBERERNERE SRR
39 is as follows: ZHRESWHOT
2017
—T—+tF
HK$'000
FET
Past due: £ %8 5
Less than 1 year PR —F 20,849
1 year to 2 years —EMF 3,564
2 years to 3 years ME=F 1,016
25,429
Since there are a large number of tenants, HRMAEPASZESZ  Hit %%

impairment assessment of trade receivables is
based on a collective assessment of individual
tenants with similar characteristics and credit
history, which indicate that trade receivables which
are less than one year past due are not considered
impaired. At 31 December 2017, trade receivables
of HK$4,580,000, net of provision for impairment,
were past due over one year but not impaired
according to collective assessment policy adopted
by the management. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 20. FFIHIE ST R HMEL
OTHER RECEIVABLES 1]
2018 2017
—E-N\F§ —E—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
N3 FE T FET
Prepayments TR IR 11,740 5,961
Deposits and other 5] & M OE b JE U (a)
receivables A 1,557,036 154,521
Loan receivables fE WS = (b) 37,681 —
1,606,457 160,482
Portion classified as current D A KB EE
assets =i (80,712) (14,991)
Non-current portion FERENFL 1,525,745 145,491
Notes: Bt -
(a) The Group’s deposits and other receivables as (a) AEBR-_ZTE—NF+=A

at 31 December 2018 included, inter alia, the
following:

(i) refundable heating supply deposits of
HK$5,2883,000 (2017: HK$5,574,000) in total
in respect of properties managed by the
Group; and

(ii) a non-current deposit of HK$1,524,354,000
paid for the acquisition of certain floors of
a commercial building which is located in
Beijing, the PRC (2017: HK$143,861,000
paid for the acquisition of the entire interest
in a commercial building in London, the
UK).

Each of the loan receivables bears interest at a
fixed rate, will become repayable in the year of
2019 and is secured by a trade receivable of the
borrower with a security value to loan ratio of more
than 2 times. During the year, interest income of
HK$1,035,000 was recognised in profit or loss
in respect of these loan receivables. The loan
receivables as at 31 December 2018 were neither
past due nor impaired. No ECL was recognised
against these loan receivables as, in the opinion
of directors, the loss given default rate of each of
these loan receivables is close to zero.

=t—Bzi s kA ERA
BEEHEFEILNTAE :

ERASEERDEN
AREMHET S AE
5,283,000 (= F — &
% 15,574,000 7T) : &

IERBNRT £ 1,524,354,0007%8
TLRR AU BB R R B
R—REEEFNE TERE
—F— 44 : 143,861,000
EITAR AT U ER R
BMERBFZ 2R °

BEEMRTENEKRE G R
—ET-NFEE UYHRMERAN
Bl B 5 B XK HEE XK
LR BBoF)MEEIF - FR - B
ZERBWERNESZNERFE
I A 1,085,000/ 7 e R =ZF — N\
F+-A=t+—BAHNRKRERE
KA TERE TERZS
FERERERBHEESE I
HREERAXSEWERNE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 35 R B A

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

21. BALANCES WITH RELATED 21. HEELFEER

COMPANIES

The balances with related companies are unsecured, HEENTMERAEER 2B

interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. BEEEERY - ARFIMBEEH

Two directors of the Company, namely Mr. Wei and EERBREEREZE@ELTYHAR

Mr. Sun, have beneficial interests in these related BEmlEnm o

companies.

(a) Due from related companies (a) EWBEERRRE
Amounts due from related companies, disclosed BIEFBCA AEH)E383(1)
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong (ADERCAR(HEEE =@
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the AR IR B )E IR E M E UK
Companies (Disclosure of Information about BEANBIRELAT ¢
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

Maximum At Maximum
amount 31 December amount
At outstanding 2017 and outstanding
31 December ~ duringthe  1January  during the At 1 January
Company name 2018  current year 2018 prior year 2017
R-Z-t%
t=A
“E-N\f =t-8k B
t=h *EERs ZB-N\f FERE W-B-tF
RAER =t-R AEELE -A-B AHEELE -A-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET T T T T
The ultimate holding company S&EZRAR
Winluck Global Winluck Global 18 18 — — -
Other related companies EtEELR
IREHEEERR IRBHeEERR - - - 1829 1829
EREHENE TREHENE
REERAR REERAT
BHeRnRA BHeZn A
("Beijing Guorui (T REH
Jinan Branch”) Jinan Branch] ) — - — 1,353 1,353
TREEEZERAA FREEELERAA
(“Beijing Guolong”) ([ EE]) 1637 1,830 1,830 4,329 154
IRBSEEN TR IREHEEN TR - 140 140 164 44
ETREBRRERERAR  ARIAMMRERER
(“Beijing Kaipeng') RA[ R 11,314 11,314 — — —
TREBEHES IREBEHES
RIERAA RITERAA
(“Beijing Jiqu") (MEr&@l) 2% % — — -
Silky Apex Limited Silky Apex Limited
(“Silky Apex”) (Silky ApexJ) 2 2 - - -
Gang Rui International BHEREA(FB)
Investment (HK) Limited BERAE(ESE])
(“Gang Rui") 360 460 - — —
13,357 1,970 3,380
Note: Balances in the current year mainly represented B : XAFEHEHETEERE

property management fee, utilities expenses
and miscellaneous expenses paid on behalf of
Beijing Kaipeng, Beijing Jiqu, Winluck Global,
Silky Apex, Gang Rui and Beijing Guolong.
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22,

.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCES WITH RELATED 21.

COMPANIES (continued)
(b) Due to related companies

Balance in the current year mainly represented
short term advances from bR E 85t E 7
AR AR (“Guorui Property Development”)
of HK$37,779,000 (2017: HK$25,484,000),
It REERIER AR AR (“Guorui Holding”) of
HK$46,421,000 (2017: HK$48,493,000) and
Beijing Guorui Jinan Branch of HK$9,964,000
(2017: Nil), respectively.

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

HMELFINGEER(R)
(b) MERBEEAAKE

KREEEBTEREILZRH
FEHEMZBEAER AR ([EH
B ERME]) - db m BT
BRAER R B(TE#HZER] &
it R B ¥ Jinan branchay %2 HA
# 3% 5 Bl A 37,779,000 7 T
— T — + F 125 484,000
JC) ~ 46,421,000 & T (= =
— £ 4 : 48,493,000/ 7t) &
9,964,000 L (Z T —+F -
f]) o

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND 22, BEEWETERRA&RKE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS THEeR
2018 2017
—E-N\§ —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances BRTEBFFIINRE R
other than time deposits RITH & 158,007 723,891
Time deposits TE B TF 3K 226,386 39,636
Total cash and bank balances BE& MIBITHEGLTE 384,393 763,527
Less: Pledged bank deposit B BB ITER
(note (c)) (K1 7t(c)) (39,230) (39,636)
Cash and cash equivalents HehkReEED 345,163 723,891

/ |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —ZE—\F+=HA=+—H

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(continued)
Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2018, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$114,862,000 (2017: HK$127,644,000). RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. A short term time
deposit was made for a period of twelve months,
and earns interest at the short term time deposit
rate. The bank balances and the pledged bank
deposit are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

(c) At 31 December 2018, a bank deposit of
US$5,066,000 (equivalent to HK$39,230,000) (2017:
US$5,066,000 (equivalent to HK$39,636,000)) was
pledged to a bank for the issuance of a standby
letter of credit in respect of future settlement to a
contractor for the construction of the US Complex.

23. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the
average credit period is 60 days.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

22,

23.

Eﬁﬂﬁ TERERBR®RE
TTHEER (48)

o

(a)

RZZE—-NF+ZA=+—8"
AEBEBRAREIENHES RIR
1T 45 £4 1% 114,862,000/ 8 L (= &
— 45 127,644,000 T - K E
) o BEARETGEELMEE
HEmAEB BEREPEHAEN
REARLMBEINEEEEH &
WE  EERNESERTE @ &
SEALBBAEEETINEES
MIRITIEARBHIBKEMER -

BOIFERRBESHBITERF
R EZFHAMEFE - BT
HERZGERBAETZ@EAR &
ERCZEHEHRFERAER;E -
RITHEBREEERBITERLE
R ETEEOLEMAEEN
BT o

W =—ZE— )\¢+—ﬂ‘“+—
B 4R 77 ¥ 3 5,066,000 3 7T
(¥ & 7 39,230,000 T)(= &
—+ % 5,066,000 7T (15 R
39 636,000/8 1) B ¥ F R 1T -

NSERREABEBAREEER
GAVEREIRELEEER
I_lo

B 1R 5 IR &

BN BERATHE  MPHEEE
R /B60K °

B

e 8 5 fR 3 BR

HEAH  RHEHKR AKHE
oMWMT

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —ET—+tF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Within 3 months =EAR 47,393 50,010
3 to 6 months Z&=X1EA 3,031 5,485
6 to 12 months NE+ @A 6,377 1,293
Over 1 year —F 9,128 6,936
65,929 63,724
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24.

25.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE 24, FRHIE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Contract liabilities aRakE 75,848 —
Other receipts in advance H fth TE W R IB 8,180 72,821
84,028 72,821
The Group’s receipts in advance represented 7N 52 [E {9 T8 Y R 1B 45 ()M A8 P U ER Y
(i) prepayments of property management fees e Bt IR IF : (1)
received from tenants; (ii) cash receipts from MERE @%%‘,HM i '(”\)%,;ﬁ;\
customers which are stored in membership ZRRUHK E{QEP’(%EHJ\’L\/Q‘/\E@E
cards for future consumption in the Recreational o RiNmAEENREMEMRR
Centre; and (iii) rental received in advance from FEURHES - RIBEFEM B REER
tenants of the Group’s investment properties. The L5 R -_E—NEFE+-_A=+—
prepaid management fee and value stored in the 8
membership cards as at 31 December 2018 are Elgﬁ ﬁaﬁg\iﬁj\a ’,\;:E}]Fﬁ
classified as contract liabilities in the financial EMBRRTOMBENAE
statements in accordance with HKFRS 15.
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. HttEF R RTHERER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+t5F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Other payables H th JE A 5K 99,310 133,508
Accruals BIREH 13,857 9,694
113,167 143,202
The Group’s other payables as at 31 December E’\\\:E—/\i‘i’ ﬂE—i——EI C REE
2018 included, inter alia, the following: MEMEMNREFE(HFP )L
T&IE
(i) amounts of HK$1,700,000 (2017: (i) ERBEKRK BRAEHRE
HK$2,916,000) in total payable to water, & 1,700,000 T (ZF —
heating and electricity suppliers in respect of # 12,916,000 L) * BEE R
public utility fees collected from tenants on ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ)ﬂtgﬂ%?ﬁj@{%)@
behalf of public utility suppliers; P (A 2 P U ER
(i) refundable decoration deposits and property (i) ATFREEETESEMHE
management service fee deposits of Iiﬂlﬁ%%fﬁ T4 14,774,000
HK$14,774,000 (2017: HK$16,189,000) in (ZZE— L+ F :16,189,000
total received from tenants of a commercial ) BEEI& A — &R
building and residential properties managed EEEBECHEAEREE
by the Group; and #= 2P UWE
(i)  advances from independent third parties (i) EEHKFATELELTR
of HK$66,439,000 (2017: HK$96,271,000) FIEERMEZBYE=H
in total for the purpose of maintaining 66,439,000/ T (=& —
daily working capital and financing new & 106,271,000 7T) ° &%
investments. These advances are interest- ARAEE  EBERBAR
free, unsecured and repayable on demand or Kk —FRE R

within one year.

LR TR e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —ZE—\F+=HA=+—H

26. DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER AND A 26. BFfIRRREERT

DIRECTOR

The balances with a shareholder and a director are RN EEZEGAEERF 2B K

unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of EETFEEH -

repayment.

27. BANK BORROWINGS 27. RITHER
Effective
interest
rate Maturity 2018 2017
ERAIE B “B-N\§ -4
Notes (%) HK$°000 HK$'000
it (%) TET FET
Bank loan - secured BIER —BEA (a) 310 Revolving or 2018 125,564 146,356
BRAZE-N\F
Bank loan - secured ROTER — AAR (b) 259 2018 113,440 55,121
—E-N\E
Bank loan - secured BEH— B c) 2.89 2022 784,090 —
1,023,094 201,477
Analysed into ERFEIE
amounts repayable:
Within one year or —ERFREX 247,010 201,477
on demand
In the second year FF 8,006 -
In the third to fifth years, EZZENE(RA
inclusive BEEME) 768,078 —
1,023,094 201,477
Portion classified GREARBAENTS
as current liabilities (247,010) (201,477

Non-current portion FrRaEs 776,084 —

Notes: Mt -

(a) This bank loan was obtained to finance the (a) f%@ﬁﬁ%fﬁ E,Eﬁ;é?é
purchase of an office building in London, the UK ;g;gél mj[_é%ﬁij*_AT%T\%Eﬁ%E
and is secured by a completed investment property = -1——\5/ Eﬁf\ii;@%%Z%E
with a carrying amount of HK$267,748,000 (2017 {B267 748,000} %T—EX(; %*t/i .
HK$278,473,000) as at 31 December 2018 (note 278 473,000 3 JT) @% (P =2
14(d)); and certain trade receivables of HK$580,000 14d): ER=—_ZF—N&E+=A
(2017: HK$61,000) in total as at 31 December —t+-—HETEKESERGHA

— N 2018 (note 19(a)). The bank loan facility contains a 580,000/ 7T (= T*ti £ 61,000
\ repayable on demand clause. /%E) ( ﬁﬁ?19(a)) ° BEXEE

BIEREREE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

28.

Notes: (continued)

(b) This bank loan was obtained to finance the
construction cost of the US Complex. The bank
loan facility is guaranteed by the Company
and secured by the pledge of the Group’s
investment properties under construction with
a carrying amount of HK$519,228,000 (2017:
investment properties under construction and
properties under development at carrying
amounts of HK$192,475,000 and HK$154,986,000,
respectively)) as at 31 December 2018 (note
14(d)).

(c) This bank loan was obtained to finance the
purchase of a commercial building in London,
the UK. The bank loan facility is secured by a
completed investment property with a carrying
amount of HK$1,388,694,000 as at 31 December
2018 (note 14(d)) and certain trade receivables
of HK$2,741,000 in total as at 31 December 2018
(note 19(a)).

(d) The bank borrowings were denominated in the
following currencies:

27. #B1T

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

TR (48)
Wit : (M)

(b) AKEBRTERDAERGS
@@%Wﬁzmﬂaém&m PINES
ERTERBAEAQRAEREAAE
EER T N\F+_A=1+—
BEEFRREVEZE@AE
519,228,000 L (=T —+ F
FEREEVERERTYWE
BREE D Bl 5192,475,0007% 7T &
154,986,000 /& Jt) 1E #& # (M &
14(d))

(c) AEERTERNDABELHR
H— F?ﬁ%@%Zmﬂaéﬁm&tHw
AEBMEBTEFER=_Z—N\F
+-A=+—HEBRIKEY
¥ 7 BRI 1B 1,388,694,000% 7T 1F
R (K sE14(d) B =2 — N\
F+-_A=+-—HETEKEZES
BE XA H 52,741,000 T (Mt &=
19(a)) °

(d) RITEFATIEHFE :

2018 2017
=Y Y= —E
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#T F#ET
£ HEE 909,654 146,356
uss$ ETT 113,440 55,121
1,023,094 201,477
PREFERENCE SHARES OF A 28. —HMEATAEER
SUBSIDIARY
Balance represented preference shares without EHEAER —FHHNBARR-ZE

a par value of RMB13,770,000 issued in 2016 by
a subsidiary of the Group to the non-controlling
equity holder of the subsidiary, which is a company
established in the PRC and indirectly wholly owned
by an associate of Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, both being
directors of the Company. The preference shares
shall have no voting rights but are entitled to annual
dividends at the rate of 7% of the issued and paid
up preference share capital of the subsidiary. The
preference shares shall be redeemed in 3 years
from the date of capital injection, which is in the
year of 2019.

— N A Z BB A R Ay JE S AR R 2
HH AETAREA13,770,0007T A E
HEELR  ZMBAR A —BRF
B M AR WHEBTERERLEE
(BMAEARAER)N—HBEHE AT
ME2EHELE ZSEIRITERSE
- EEEEZWNBRARERITREE
SN EREBRBRANTRES FER
B ZEEARERNIEAHRE=F
(== —AF)RNER -

RS 2018 EBHESRAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

28.

29.

PREFERENCE SHARES OF A
SUBSIDIARY (continued)

The preference shares of the subsidiary had been
accounted for as financial liabilities of the Group
as the Group has a contractual obligation to deliver
cash to the preference shareholder in 3 years from
the date of capital injection.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, dividend
paid and payable to the related party in respect of
the preference shares of the subsidiary amounted
to HK$1,143,000 (2017: HK$1,112,000), which was
recognised as finance costs for the year.

LOANS FROM A SHAREHOLDER

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated
28 July 2016 and a supplemental agreement
dated 24 August 2016 entered into between the
Company and Wintime, the immediate holding
company, Wintime granted a shareholder’s loan
facility of HK$250,000,000 (or its equivalent in £)
to the Company, of which £5,875,000 (equivalent
to HK$61,970,000)) had been utilised as at 31
December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, pursuant
to another shareholder’s loan agreement dated 24
November 2017 entered into between the Company
and Wintime, Wintime granted an additional
shareholder’s loan facility of HK$1,500,000,000
(or its equivalent in £) to the Company, of which
£42,027,000 (equivalent to HK$443,310,000)
and HK$120,000,000 had been utilised as at 31
December 2017.

All of the shareholder’s loans as at 31 December
2017 were unsecured, bore interest at the rate of
2% per annum, and were repayable in 3 years from
the date of drawdown of the shareholder’s loans
or such other date agreed between Wintime and
the Company. During the year ended 31 December
2018, all shareholder’s loans as at 31 December
2017 were repaid. Interest paid and payable to
Wintime in respect of the shareholder’s loans
amounted to HK$6,615,000 (2017: HK$2,211,000),
which was recognised as finance costs for the year.

These related party transactions constitute
exempted connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

N

\
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28.

29.

—RHRE AT EER (&)

ZMEARMEEREARIIEARSE
BOPHEEE  DTARAREEAD
BEERNIEARR=FRARELRK
RRXfBRE -

B2 \F+-_A=+—HI1t#F
B mEZHBRRZELRE N KIE
HREEE 5 2 A% B 51,143,000 T (=

FT—LF 1,112,008 L) RA
FERRAMBER -
BERSAHAER
RBE_F-A"F+-_A=+—H

IHEE  BEAQRGEAQ G HEE
f% A BWintimes] S HE B =& — <
FEtA-+N\BZRERERBENM
BEHAEA-_ZE—XRENAZ-+ITAEZ
W7 WE - Wintimelm X & 7] ¥ T
250,000,000 Bt (K EBEREE) 2
fEERE R E - & FR5,875000H &
(F8 & 761,970,000 7T)) B =

—tF+-_A=+—H®EBH -

REE-_Z—+tF+=-_A=+—H
Jtif‘ R IE A QT BWintimes] 37
HHA-_ZT—+tF+—A-+MH
22— EE R ZE - Wintime
| A A & % F 1,500,000,000 7% 7T
(N EEMHEE) ZBEIINERE R
% - Eh42,027,000 HEE(HEE R
443,310,000 7% 7T) & 120,000,000 %
TER-_ZE—+tF+-_A=+—8B%
A -

R—ZE—+tHF+=-_A=+—8 A
MIREERT BERR - Z2%MF
FEFTEBENKREERIZMA SR
= F R EWintimeB A A 7] 2 ik H#Y
HWwHHPEE - HE-_T—\F+=
BA=+—RHLFE FAREER
RZE—+F+_A=+—HE#%
B o BT F B K FEMWintime 2 Bz &
E#AE6,6150008 T (ZF—+HF :
2,211,000 7T) * IR AFEER
BB o

ZEMB AT IBERBRBERS
(I MBI FBLAEFTEE) ©



30.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAX

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in

30.

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

EEREARR

REEBFBIRNKRERNELEHRAE

the consolidated statement of financial position are ENBEFHENAT :
as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F§ —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets EIEFIBEE E 12,579 -
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEEE (105,799) (99,641)
(93,220) (99,641)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of
the Group are as follows:

At 1 January w—H—H

Net deferred tax credited to & E T BB 58T A
profit or loss during the year ~ FE 1B
(note 11) (Btaz11)

Net deferred tax charged to  FRFAEMEEI AL
other comprehensive income ¥ % &4 18 7% 48
during the year

Exchange realignment BE 3, 38 B

At 31 December Rt+t-BA=+—8
Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2018, deferred tax assets have not

been recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses
of HK$177,006,000 (2017: HK$130,919,000) as they
have arisen in the Company and certain subsidiaries
that have been loss-making for some time and it is
not probable that taxable profits will be available
against which such tax losses can be utilised. Out
of this amount, tax losses of HK$136,551,000 (2017:
HK$92,414,000) will expire in one to five years.

MFRARBELEHRELE (B
) 0 2 BY R -

Arising from revaluation of
investment properties and a

building
EXERENHE
KBRFEM

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
(99,641) (98,898)
15,228 4,643
(6,078) (5,625)
(2,729) 239
(93,220) (99,641)

ER

(a) R-_E—NE+_A=+—8"
HREAEBENARARR LS TH
BRARBEE —BREM  mAHE
ATERKAIEEAERNIKESERA
BHEEBEMERFE Bt R
LR F A &% E548177,006,0007%8
t(=ZF — 4+ 9 :130,919,000 % )
T)HBAELRBEE -2
SEth - BiUE 5 18136,551,0008 7 <
ZE— 4 :92,414,000BT) 8/
ER-EAERH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Pursuant to the PRC corporate income tax law,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

Pursuant to the UK profits tax law, a 20%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in the UK. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
UK.

Pursuant to the USA corporate income tax law,
a 30% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the USA.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the USA.

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China,
the UK and the USA (2017: Nil). In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Mainland China, the UK and
the USA for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognised was HK$99,223,000 (2017:
HK$22,479,000) in aggregate as at 31 December
2018.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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30.

BERIFAR(HE)

Hiat -

(b)

(%)

BERBECEMESHE  RPEH
KB B S ) SN 3R A 1 EE 1) R A
HEESHIRERBEBI10%
EMH - R ERB T NF—
A—BR4% VEANR=-ZZ
tEF_AZ+—BHENEAEF -
fis) B R B K BE B SE HNR A & 1 A
EEERBBGIEL - AIAE
AREMENRE -SALEM
= BEARERAE10% - At 0 &N
EE N N VAo )
AABE-EENF—A—ARE
A E R BT R B A% BB B 0
oo

RBREMNEHEL  EEBEKIL
BN ERERIIEREES
& BB R B U 20% 8 FE Y -
REBRFE AR EEREE KL
B B8 A PR 0 IR Y A B A TR A
Bi e

BREBEXECEMFHE  RNEE
BRI ERECERFRINEE
& B K 3 I B 72 B 30% TR 41
oo Btk - A E B ALK B K
ST EY Y B I R PT  R B AR BT
BHH -

R—ZE—-NF+—_A=+—8"
MESETE A HERER
BR ST FE SN AN TE AN B 00 AR E KT B
RAMKENBHNEHBMH
MERATWELEHRE(ZZT—+
Fo\E) - BEERE EARX
K ZEWBRRT KA EDIK
WEEZHB R_TE—NF+=A
=t+—H HWAMRBELCHEA
BB R RE - HE &R
BRABIRENETRxEMHAHR
£99,223,0008 L (= —+F ¢
22,479,000/ L)

RRAB I BRE B S EMSH

=
= °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R
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SHARE CAPITAL 31, &
Shares B
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Issued and fully paid: BEBEITRERE
3,191,873,987 3,191,873,987 %
(2017: 1,546,934,454) ordinary —E -t F
shares 1,546,934,454) i%
AR 3,146,571 1,780,663
A summary of movements in the Company’s share HE-_ZEZE-—-N\EEK-_ZE—+F+_-HA
capital during the years ended 31 December 2018 T+ —HLEFE  ARAFAREANEH
and 2017 is as follows: AR T -
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
BRI
RANWEE [
Notes HK$ 000
i FAET
At 1 January 2017: R-ZE—+&
—A—H: 897,420,738 1,219,965
Issue of shares upon exercise of 7 B Bk #E 1%
share options BTl M (a) 5,000,000 6,417
Issue of shares for the acquisition of 2 17 i {7 LA U B
a subsidiary —EHBLA (b) 540,000,000 464,400
Issue of shares upon conversion &5k & A] # ik
of perpetual convertible bonds BHERETRD 33(a) 104,513,716 89,881
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—+F
1 January 2018 +tZA=T—HBEk
—E-NF—-A—H 1,546,934,454 1,780,663
Issue of shares upon conversion &4 5k /A 7] # ik 33(a) and (b)
of perpetual convertible bonds BEHBETRG 33(a) k(b) 102,946,724 88,084
Issue of shares pursuant to REHETHKE
subscription agreements BTk (c) 179,484,147 179,484
Issue of shares pursuant to AHBEETHA
an open offer BIR M (d) 910,932,662 728,746
Issue of shares for the acquisition 17 B% {7 LA UK B&
of a subsidiary —MBAA 35(b) 451,576,000 370,292
Share issue expenses BOBTRX — (698)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F
+-ZA=+-H 3,191,873,987 3,146,571
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

31.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The subscription rights attaching to 5,000,000
share options issued under the Share Option
Scheme (as defined in note 32) were exercised
in May 2017 at the subscription price of HK$1.05
per share, resulting in the issue of 5,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company for a total cash
consideration of HK$5,250,000. An amount of
HK$1,167,000 was transferred from the share
option reserve to the share capital account upon
the exercise of the share options.

Pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement
entered into with Winluck Global and Silky Apex
(collectively referred to as the “Vendors”, related
parties of the Group in which two directors of
the Company have beneficial interests) on 7 July
2017, the Company issued a total of 540,000,000
ordinary shares to the Vendors on 31 August
2017 for the acquisition of 100% equity interest in
Wholly Express Limited (“Wholly Express”). Further
details of the acquisition are set out in note 35(a)
to the financial statements and the Company’s
announcements dated 7 July 2017 and 31 August
2017, and a circular dated 8 August 2017,
respectively.

Pursuant to another sale and purchase agreement
entered into with the Vendors, on 30 May 2018, the
Company issued a total of 451,576,000 ordinary
shares to the Vendors on 17 August 2018 as partial
consideration for the acquisition of 95% equity
interest in Wise Expert Investment Limited (“Wise
Expert”). Further details of the acquisition are set
out in note 33(b) to the financial statements and
the Company’s announcements dated 30 May 2018
and 17 August 2018, and a circular dated 20 July
2018, respectively.
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31.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Pursuant to subscription agreements entered
into with certain independent third parties on
26 January 2018, the Company issued a total of
179,484,147 ordinary shares at the subscription
price of HK$1.00 per subscription share to the
independent third parties on 22 February 2018
for a total cash consideration before any related
issuance expense of HK$179,484,000. Further
details of the subscription agreements are set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 26
January 2018 and 22 February 2018, respectively.
The purpose of the issue of new shares under
the subscription agreements is to raise funds for
repayment of certain loan liabilities of the Group
and providing additional general working capital to
the Group.

On 24 May 2018, the Company made an open
offer (the “Open Offer”) of new shares at the
subscription price of HK$0.80 per offer share
on the basis of one new ordinary share of the
Company for every two ordinary shares of the
Company held by qualifying shareholders whose
names are registered on the register of members
of the Company on 13 June 2018. The purpose of
the Open Offer is to raise funds for repayment of
certain loan liabilities of the Group and providing
additional general working capital to the Group.

The Open Offer became unconditional on 17 July
2018 and 910,932,662 new ordinary shares of the
Company were issued under the Open Offer. Total
proceeds from the Open Offer, before any issuance
expenses, amounted to HK$728,746,000.

Further details of the Open Offer are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 24 May
2018 and 23 July 2018 and the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 June 2018, respectively.

Share options

Details of the Company's share option scheme and
the share options issued under the scheme are
included in note 32 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on 7 November 2016 (the
“Adoption Date”) for the primary purpose of (i)
incentivising and rewarding those who have
contributed or may contribute to the development
of the Group; and (ii) attracting and retaining skilled
and experienced personnel (“Eligible Participants”)
and motivating them to strive for the future
development of the Group by providing them with
an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in
the Company thereby linking their interest with that
of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on
the Adoption Date and shall expire on 6 November
2026, subject to early termination provisions
contained in the Share Option Scheme. The board
of directors of the Company may grant options to
Eligible Participants to subscribe for shares in the
Company subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted at any time under the Share
Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at the Adoption
Date, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Further, the total maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time. Options granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, or to any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date
of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period up to and including the date of
grant, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

\
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32.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 5 < BT =
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. FEBxMERTEI(#E)
(continued)
The following share options were outstanding under RAEE @ BRESTSIENEKRITE
the Share Option Scheme during the year: MERENT -
2018 2018 2017 2017
“2-\f ZB-\f CE-t§ CT—+%
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price exercise price
(HKS per Number of (HKS per Number of
share) options share) option
MEFLHTREE MEFITERE
(BRET) BREHE (BRET) EREHE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE% TEx FET TET
(note (b)) (note (b))
(M) (Hi#wb)
At 1 January R-A—8 N/A
- - TEHA —
Granted during the year (note (a)) AFE B & (/i (a) 0.827 5,020,500 1.05 5,000,000
Exercised during the year KEEBIHE - - 1.05 (5,000,000)
At 31 December R+ZA=1+—H N/A
0.827 5,020,500 TEA —

Notes:

5,000,000 (2017: 5,000,000) share options were
granted to a director of the Company (2017: a
consultant of the Group) without a vesting period
on 20 June 2018 (2017: 20 April 2017) under the
Share Option Scheme with an original exercise
price of HK$0.83 (2017: HK$1.05) per share. The
fair value of the share options granted during the
year was HK$1,730,000 (HK$0.3461 each) (2017:
HK$1,167,000 (HK$0.2333 each)), which was fully
recognised as a share option expense in profit or
loss during the year.

Mrat

R-_ZE—-—NFXNA-_F+B(ZZ
—tF: -t FMWA =+
B) ARAESR(ZT—LF:
AEBH—RER)BIEEBRET
BIARTEESREIBT(ZF
—+ & :1.05% 7T ) #1%5,000,000
(ZZ—+4 :5,000,000) 7 8 B%
E OV ESBH RAFEERD
2 R HE 2 A F1E A1,730,00058
T(E7H03461 B L)(ZF —+
% 1,167,000/ 7T (F150.2333/8
L)) RERAFEZIEETE
RAEBRERS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

(a)

32. MERHEst®I(4E)

Notes: (continued) BiaE - (&)
(continued) (a) (8)
The fair value of the equity-settled share options REARHOAESEENER
granted during the year was estimated as at the BHAFERERAM N R-ATRE
date of grant using the Black-Scholes model, BRELZ BEE &5 EELR
taking into account the terms and conditions upon BREZ IR RES - TERE
which the options were granted. The following table FrAER g A -
lists the inputs to the model used:
2018 2017

—E-N\F —tF
Dividend yield (%) AR B U 26 2R (%) 0% 0.00007%
Expected volatility (%) TEETE B X (%) 65.1850% 61.820%
Risk-free interest rate (%) f 3 B A 2K (%) 2.80% 1.11%
Expected life of options (year) ERE B EH(E) 5 1
Forfeiture rate R U 0% 0%
The expected life of the options is the time to B 2 At FH AR B R R
maturity of the options granted under the Share HEASHEBRE DR -
Option Scheme. The expected volatility reflects the TEERE R KM T RA R E K
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative RARK B ﬁbz BE HERkpRE
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be BRER
the actual outcome.
No other feature of the options granted was MESHERE AEmEHRe S
incorporated into the measurement of fair value. RAFETE -
In accordance with the terms of the Share Option (b)  %E ’u’ ﬁﬁﬁ REET B R R R B AT

Scheme and the supplementary guidance issued
by the Stock Exchange on 5 September 2005
regarding the adjustments to share options
under rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules, the
exercise price and the number of the 5,000,000
share options granted during the year ended 31
December 2018 under the Share Option Scheme
and outstanding immediately before the completion
of the Open Offer were adjusted to HK$0.827 per
share and 5,020,500 share options with effect from
24 July 2018. In the opinion of the directors, the
adjustments to the exercise price and the number
of the options did not provide additional benefits
to the relevant share option holder and so there
were no additional equity-settled share option
expense incurred by the Group as a result of the
adjustments.

The weighted average exercise price and the
number of the options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December
2018 disclosed in the above table have taken into
consideration the above-mentioned adjustments.

\
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33.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company had two batches of perpetual
convertible bonds outstanding during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the summary
information of which is set out as follows:

33.

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

KANBKRSF
RBEE-ZT-N\ER-T—+&F+=
A=+—HLEFE ARalEmiLE
TEZKAFBRES  HXTEEHR
FHHmT

Batch one Batch two

#£—#t FoHE

(note (a)) (note (b))

(K 7#(a)) (K1 7# (b))

Issuance date 1T H H 31 August 2017 17 August 2018
—T—+tF —E-N\F

NA=+—H NA+tH

Maturity date EIH A No maturity date No maturity date
mIEA mIE A

Original principal amount RIAE S5 HK$181,864,000 HK$1,102,993,200
181,864,000/ 7T 1,102,993,2007% 7T

Coupon rate EmEAE Zero 1% per annum and

ARAGRE AR
RRBOET)

Conversion price per ordinary
share of the Company (HK$)

will cease to bear any
coupon after the fifth
anniversary of the date

of issue
FF1%W R ET
BHERG)RFR
BIEEREEARER

At

0.91 0.80

These perpetual convertible bonds were accounted
for as equity instruments or were bifurcated into a
liability component and an equity component for
accounting purposes, as further described in the
accounting policy for “Perpetual convertible bonds”
set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
following tables summarise the movements in the
principal amounts, the number of conversion rights
outstanding, the liability and equity components of
the Company’s perpetual convertible bonds during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017:

RETEREME @ A5 KABRKE
FEBEZTEAR D BARE
DRIEREID  E—THFBRY R
KW 24 E [k AT RES
FEBKB c TRBIENREBEEZ
—NErRZE—tF+=ZA=+—H
IEFERRBKRATBBRES Z A S
B ARTECHRBEHBEUREBER
XA 28 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

33. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33. kAN EH (&)
(continued)

Principal amount outstanding KREBZEAEH
Batch one Batch two Total
it EH &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F
Issue of perpetual BT KA BRBRES
convertible bonds 181,964 — 181,964
Conversion into ordinary 3,18 & T @ik
shares (95,107) — (95,107)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—LF
and 1 January 2018 +ZA=+—8XK
—E-N\F
—H—H 86,857 — 86,857
Issue of perpetual BT KA BRBRES
convertible bonds — 1,102,993 1,102,993
Conversion into ordinary 3 18 & T @i
shares (86,857) (6,000) (92,857)
At 31 December 2018 RZFE—NF
+-—A=+—4H — 1,096,993 1,096,993
Number of conversion rights outstanding RITEZHRREHE
Batch one Batch two Total
#=—it EH a&t
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F
Issue of perpetual BT RKAABRRKRES
convertible bonds 199,960,440 — 199,960,440
Conversion into ordinary 3,1 /& & 8 i%
shares (104,513,716) — (104,513,716)
At 31 December 2017 RN-ZE—+F
and 1 January 2018 +TZA=+—HRK
—E-N\F
—H—H 95,446,724 — 95,446,724
Issue of perpetual BT RKAABRRKRES
convertible bonds — 1,378,741,500 1,378,741,500
Conversion into ordinary 3,1 /& & i %
shares (note 31) (K717£31) (95,446,724) (7,500,000) (102,946,724)
At 31 December 2018 MNZZTE—N\F
+=-—A=+—H — 1,371,241,500 1,371,241,500
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33. kA TI#MRESH (&)
(continued)
Liability component EEMD
Batch one Batch two Total
=it Eit &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEIT
At 1 January 2017, RZE—+F
31 December 2017 —HA—H"
and 1 January 2018 T+ F
+TZA=+—8K
—E-N\F
—H—H — — —
Issue of perpetual BT KABRBRES
convertible bonds — 40,555 40,555
Interest expense (note 7) #| B R (#f:%7) — 8,374 8,374
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F
+=-A=+—8 — 48,929 48,929
Equity component EEHD
Batch one Batch two Total
it Fit &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT FET
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F
—H—H — — —
Issue of perpetual BT RKATBRRKRES
convertible bonds 171,965 — 171,965
Transfer to share capital R 58 & I % 65 8
upon conversion into BERAK (K @)
ordinary shares 31)
(notes (a) and 31) (89,881) — (89,881)
At 31 December 2017 MN-ZT—+4F
and 1 January 2018 +-A=+—8kK
—ZFE-N\F
—H—H 82,084 — 82,084
Issue of perpetual BITRKAABRRKRES
convertible bonds — 1,090,013 1,090,013
Transfer to share capital 7 i # & & i I8 B
upon conversion into ERERAKN (N F
ordinary shares (a) ~ (b)%31)
(notes (a), (b) and 31) (82,084) (6,000) (88,084)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F
+=-A=+—H — 1,084,013 1,084,013
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

33. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33. kA niBR{EH ()

(continued)

Equity component (continued) EHE D (&)

Notes: Mt

(a)  These perpetual convertible bonds were issued to (a) ZEXAAMBABREFERER

the Vendors (as defined in note 31(b)) pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement dated 7 July
2017 for the acquisition of Wholly Express (as
defined in note 31(b)), further details of which are
set out in note 35(a) to the financial statements.

For accounting purpose, the fair value of
these perpetual convertible bonds issued as
consideration for the acquisition of Wholly Express
as at the date of completion of the acquisition
amounted to approximately HK$171,965,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual
convertible bonds are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 8 August 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain
of these perpetual convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$86,857,000 (2017: approximately
HK$95,107,000) were converted by bondholder
into 95,446,724 (2017: 104,513,716) ordinary
shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.91 per share. The carrying amount of the
equity component of these perpetual convertible
bonds at the date of conversion, which amounted
to HK$82,084,000 (2017: HK$89,881,000), was
transferred to the share capital account of the
Company.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(continued)
Equity component (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

These perpetual convertible bonds were issued
to the Vendors pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement dated 30 May 2018 for the acquisition
of Wise Expert (as defined in note 31(b)), further
details of which are set out in note 35(b) to the
financial statements.

For accounting purpose, the fair value of
these perpetual convertible bonds issued as
consideration for the acquisition of Wise Expert
Investment Limited as at the date of completion
of the acquisition amounted to approximately
HK$1,130,568,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual
convertible bonds are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 20 July 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain
of these perpetual convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$6,000,000 were
converted by bondholder into 7,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.80 per share. The carrying amount of the
equity component of these perpetual convertible
bonds at the date of conversion, which amounted
to HK$6,000,000, was transferred to the share
capital account of the Company.

The conversion of the perpetual convertible bonds
is subject to, amongst others, the condition that
any conversion will not result in the public float of
the Company’ shares being less than 25% of the
issued shares of the Company.

33.

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

KA BB RE (&)

ko ()
et (4)
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T \FHA=+HKEWIse
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REFEEMET REERK
B B H {E A I BEWise Expert
Investment LimitedZ X & i % 17
ZHREXAANBRBKESZ AFE
#)/41,130,568,000/%8 T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=4+—H

34. RESERVES

(a)

(c)

\

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
the movements therein for the current year
and the prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Capital reserve mainly arose from deemed
contributions from non-controlling shareholders
of the Company as a result of certain liabilities
of the Group of approximately HK$161,035,000
in total being waived by two shareholders of the
Company in February 2014.

Merger reserve represented the difference
between (i) the amounts at which the assets
and liabilities are recorded under a business
combination under common control, net
of any reserves of the acquired entities;
and (ii) the cost of acquisition (fair value of
consideration paid).

Property revaluation reserve represents
cumulative revaluation surplus, net of
deferred tax effect and any annual transfers to
accumulated losses, of the building, which is
located in Beijing, the PRC.

The PRC statutory reserve is the reserve set
aside in accordance with the PRC Companies
Law as applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. None of
the Group’s PRC statutory reserve as at 31
December 2018 were distributable in the form
of cash dividends.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Business combination under common
control

on 7 July 2017, the Group entered into a
purchase and sale agreement with the Vendors
(as defined in note 31(b)), which are related
parties of the Group in which two directors
of the Company have beneficial interests, to
acquire the entire interest in Wholly Express
(as defined in note 31(b)) at an aggregate
consideration of HK$673,364,000, satisfied as
to (i) HK$491,400,000 by the allotment and
issue of 540,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company to the Vendors; and (ii) as to
the balance of HK$181,964,000 by the issue
of the perpetual convertible bonds in an
even principal amount to the Vendors. The
acquisition was completed on 31 August 2017.

For accounting purpose, the fair values of the
ordinary shares and the perpetual convertible
bonds issued as consideration for the
acquisition as at the date of completion of
the acquisition amounted to HK$464,400,000
and HK$171,965,000, respectively, resulting
in a total consideration of HK$636,365,000
transferred to the Vendors for the acquisition
of Wholly Express. This acquisition transaction
constitutes a connected transaction as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Wholly Express and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Wholly Express Group”)
are principally engaged in the operation of
the Recreational Centre in Beijing, the PRC.
Given the Wholly Express Group is controlled
by Mr. Wei before and after the acquisition,
the acquisition of Wholly Express was
accounted for as a business combination
under common control using the principle of
merger accounting in accordance with AG 5
issued by the HKICPA in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Further
details of the acquisition are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 December
2017.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

(b)

\

\

Acquisition of assets and liabilities

Pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement
entered into with the Vendors on 30 May 2018,
the Company issued 451,576,000 new shares of
the Company and perpetual convertible bonds
in a total principal amount of HK$1,102,993,200
(1,378,741,500 conversion rights embedded)
for the acquisition of 95% shareholding in Wise
Expert (as defined in note 31(b)), which was
completed on 17 August 2018; and, subject
to the fulfillment of certain conditions in future,
the Company shall issue another tranche of
perpetual convertible bonds in a total principal
amount of HK$77,066,000 (96,332,500
conversion rights embedded) for the acquisition
of the remaining 5% shareholding in Wise
Expert, which has not been effected as at the
date of approval of these financial statements.

Other than entering into conditional sale and
purchase agreements with a related company,
in which Mr. Wei (a director of the Company)
has a beneficial interest, in May 2017 to
purchase a commercial building located in
Beijing, Wise Expert and its subsidiary (the
“Wise Expert Group”) did not actively engage
in any business at the completion date of the
acquisition of 95% shareholding of Wise Expert.
Accordingly, the acquisition is not considered
as a business combination under HKFRS 3 but
as an acquisition of assets and liabilities.

This acquisition transaction constitutes a
connected transaction as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
(b) Acquisition of assets and liabilities (b) WBEEREE(E)
(continued)
For accounting purposes, the cost of acquisition REHEREMES  RKEA
for the acquisition has been allocated to the HY - 5 Bd ZWise Expertfs
identifiable assets and liabilities of the Wise AHAEERBBEZREEIE
Expert Group as at the date of acquisition as ZWERARET
follows:
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FET
Net assets acquired: TR & =R E -
Deposit paid for the acquisition ERNKEMEZES
of a property 1,524,354
Prepayments and other receivables B A IR B H e MR IR 407
Other tax recoverable E fth AT 4y =1 7% 18 1
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHEER 547
Other payables and accruals EMmENRKEERER (6)
Due to a related company e —E R E R R FIA (1,305)
Non-controlling interest FE1E R = (23,138)
1,500,860
Satisfied by: AT A
Issue of new ordinary shares of the ERAFEETERARA
Company, at fair value g Bk 370,292
Issue of perpetual convertible bonds of R A F{H 1T AR A
the Company, at fair value KA AT 2 R AE 5 1,130,568
1,500,860
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35. WrRBPHE 2% (&)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of

BRAWEE B AR (5 1E U
BERABINRERASSF

subsidiaries that was accounted for as an BYWERADFTBT
acquisition of assets and liabilities is as follows:
2018
—E-N\EF
HK$°’000
FET
Cash and bank balances acquired and BREAWEKE QR (7 el E
net inflow of cash and cash equivalents Z&ZERBE) ZFWERES
in respect of the acquisition of RERATHSBIARIR & K&
subsidiaries that was accounted for REZEBWFRA
as an acquisition of assets and liabilities

547
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 R < BT =
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

36. REHGRERME

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFBEEXRZF
Save as disclosed in notes 32(a), 33 and 35 R B 7% 2k K B £ 32(a) * 33 &%
to the financial statements regarding granting 5T BAARR AWE
of share options, conversion of perpetual Wise Expert&Wholly Express
convertible bonds and issue of new ordinary i IS AR i - oK A AT
shares and perpetual convertible bonds of the BEFARBETZHEBRK
Company for the acquisition of Wise Expert XA BBEESFIN REER
and Wholly Express, the Group has no other BE_Z—N\FERZT—+tF
major non-cash transactions of investing and +ZA=t+—HILFEZKRE
financing activities during the years ended 31 Kt & )G eI EE i &E KIER
December 2018 and 2017. X5 o
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) EXBERMETHNEES
financing activities )
Other Due to Preference Loans
payables and Duetoa related Bank shares of a froma
accruals shareholder companies borrowings  subsidiary shareholder
HpERR  Ef-% Eft WEARZ RE-%
RBERER REXE BEAY  ROER BER REMER
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
TET TET T#T TET FET FET
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+%
-A-H 59,850 1,376 24,708 137,532 15,376 61,458
Changes from financing  BEREHE2
cash flows 68,936 — 44,342 50,134 (1,112) 559,941
Changes from operating %8R4 HE2
cash flows 7,041 — 1,142 — — —
Interest expense MERX 3,937 2,211 1,202 — 1112 —
Exchange realignment ERAE 3,438 191 5,505 13,811 1,158 3,881
At 31 December 2017 and W=F—+ %
1 January 2018 +-A=1t-BR
ZE-N\§
-A-H 143,202 3,778 76,899 201,477 16,534 625,280
Changes from financing  BEREREZE
cash flows (59,300) - 17861 865815 (1,143)  (613,489)
Changes from operating  £E8HEHEET
cash flows 3,888 (8,723) 5,679 — — —
Interest expense b 30,721 6,615 — — 1,143 —
Exchange realignment  [E % 8% (5,344) (233) (5,297) (44,198) (863) (11,791)
At 31 December RZE-N\E
2018 +-A=1+-H 113,167 1,437 95,142 1,023,094 15,671 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties
(note 14) and certain portion of a building
(note 13) to third parties and a related party
in which two directors of the Company have
beneficial interests under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging between 1 and 10 years (2017:
between 1 and 3 years). The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic
rent adjustments according to the contract
terms.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

37.

B 35 5 < BT =

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

EEHaERH

(a)

ERHHAA
AEBRBLKEHERHERNSE
ZHARARBMEBEERRE
HEROBERTEEEREY
E(ME14) REFZE T
o (MEE13) @ K - HEH
B—FE+F(ZT—LF:
—FE=ZF)T%F - ZFHE
B R — AR B SR P XA R &
& WA AR IR A #1RUE 1
HAEBEHS -

RZEB-NF+ZA=+—
B AEEREBEEEEP R
MARTHHEEHE AR
TFE R B YR E) R R &K
HeBmEm :

2018 2017

—E-N\E§ —EF—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Within one year —F R 74,167 9,726
In the second to fifth years, F_FEERF

inclusive BREEEMSF 117,963 19,574

After five years HEFEME 50,961 —

243,091 29,300

/ [
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR

31 December 2018 —ZE—\F+=HA=+—H

37. OPERATING LEASE 37. BEHARH(HE)

ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(b) As lessee (b) EBEMEA
The Group leases office premises, staff AEERBLEHELHES
quarters and a fitness centre from a related #)J#“*ff%i BEIBEEREAR
party, in which a director of the Company has NRABESHEEER =N
a beneficial interest, under operating lease ﬁfs‘E?F E—EfRF L o KL
arrangements. Leases for properties are B MERESRR—FEMF
negotiated for terms ranging between 1 and 2 (Z2—+tF : ZFE2RHF) °

years (2017: between 2 and 5 years).

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total RZE-—NF+ZA=+—
future minimum lease payments under non- B AEBEREBETAHELE
cancellable operating leases falling due as HE RUTFERHAER
follows: MARRFERSBLEOT -
2018 2017
—E2-NF —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —F R 5,919 7,316
In the second to fifth years, F_FEERF
inclusive BHEEEMF 9,183 6,535
15,102 13,851

38. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 38. B & K H fth 7k 55

In addition to the operating lease commitments B b SCH 5E37(b)FF il 1Y 4% & 1 &
detailed in note 37(b) above, the Group had the N RRMEBR - NEEBEELUT
following capital and other commitments as at the B R H b A G

end of the reporting period:

2018 2017
—E-N\E§ —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Contracted, but not provided for: 2 2 #){8 R %4 -
Purchase of items of plant and BERENFZHEIEE
equipment 2,879 3,038
Purchase of an investment BEREME
property 184,040 1,358,420
Acquisition of 5% equity I BEWise Expert 5% 2
interest of Wise Expert R 77,066 —
Construction of properties under ZEEZREFRYWEN
development and investment "EYHE
properties 26,033 103,548
Total & & 290,018 1,465,006

\
\
\
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR B R

31 December 2018 —F—/)\F+=HA=+—H

In addition to the transactions detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the year:

Company name
NEER

Nature of transactions

XHHE

(a)

Notes

k3

39. MBAHE

RAFER  BREVHEERE

g =t 2 X S5

Z e it

BB TBEEATEARS ¢

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
FHET

2017
—ET—tF
HK$'000
FAET

Directors—controlled
entities:

E=gfER

Guorui Property
Development

B 355 55 i 7= A %

LR PR R ER
AR AT

Property management
fee income
MEERERA
Heat supply and
maintenance fee
income
HEEREBEERA
Car park management
fee income
FEZEEERA
Steam supply fee
income
EREBEWRA
Rendering of services in
relation to operation
of the Recreational
Centre
IR O BT A
R %5
Rental income
HelA
Rental expense of a
fitness centre

BerLEERX

Property management
fee income

MEERBRA

Car park management
fee income

FESEEERA

Property decoration fee
income

MEEKEBRA

(iif)

(iv)

27,009

5,682

299

2,375

2,847

2,995

1,674

14,178

722

1,866

1,478

927

4,330

235

235

1,578
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 SRR PR
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 39. FABKS HEEE (4)
(continued)
(a)  (continued) (a) (#&)
2018
—B2-N\F
Company name Nature of transactions  Notes HK$°000

DAL XHHE it FET

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
TR

Beijing Guolong Property management
R ERE fee income
MEERERA (i 3,590
Heat supply and
maintenance fee
income
HEEREBEERA (i) 4,404

tREf N NEERERA

el

Rendering of services in
relation to operation
of the Recreational
Centre
RERBHOMEHRD (iif)
e 7% —
Interest paid and
payable
ENREMNFE (vii) —

Guorui Holding Office rental expense
B 35 1 iR BREMEMAX (vi) 460
Repair and maintenace
expense

BERRERAX (vi) 185

Wintime Interest paid and
payable
BT R EMHE 29 6,615

BEOLR)IREESEE  Dividend of preference
BR A shares of a subsidiary
paid and payable
ENRES—HENBAR 28
&l 2 B B 1,143

2,477

1,993

1,431

1,202

567

2,211

1,112
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(a)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(continued)

The Group provides property management
services to landlords of certain properties
managed by the Group, in which two
directors of the Company have beneficial
interests. In return, the Group receives
property management service fees, heat
supply and maintenance service fees and
car park management service fees which
were charged at rates mutually agreed
between the Group and the landlords.
During the year ended 31 December
2018, the total fees received by the
Group from landlords in respect of these
services amounted to HK$40,984,000
(2017: HK$21,236,000). These related
party transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group received property management
fee income, car park management fee
income, steam supply fees and property
decoration fees of HK$1,674,000 (2017:
HK$3,526,000) in aggregate, which were
charged at rates mutually agreed between
the Group and the landlords, in which two
directors of the Company have beneficial
interests. These related party transactions
constitute exempted connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group received service fees in relation
to the operation of the Recreational Centre
of HK$2,375,000 (2017: HK$1,431,000) in
aggregate, which were charged at rates
mutually agreed between the Group and
the related parties, in which two directors
of the Company have beneficial interests.
These related party transactions constitute
exempted connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Rental expense was charged to this
related company for the lease of an office
premise at RMB2,400,000 (equivalent
to HK$2,847,000) (2017: RMB803,000
(equivalent to HK$927,000)) during the year
ended 31 December 2018, on a mutually
agreed basis, which, in the opinion of the
directors, approximated to market rates.
This related party transaction constitutes an
exempted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(a)

\

\ \
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(continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Rental expense was incurred by the Wholly
Express Group and charged by this related
company for the lease of a fitness centre at
RMB2,525,000 (equivalent to HK$2,995,000)
(2017: RMB3,755,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,330,000)), on a mutually agreed
basis, which, in the opinion of the directors,
approximated to market rates, constitute
a continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Office rental expense and repair and
maintenance expense was charged by
this related company for the lease of
office premise at RMB543,000 (equivalent
to HK$645,000) (2017: RMB492,000
(equivalent to HK$567,000)) on a mutually-
agreed basis, which, in the opinion of the
directors, approximated to market rates.
This related party transaction constitutes
exempted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Pursuant to a related party's loan
agreement dated 12 March 2017, a related
party’s loan facility of RMB94,000,000 was
granted to a subsidiary of the Group in the
prior year. The related party’s loan bore
interest at the rate of 4.35% per annum,
and was repayable in 12 months from the
date of drawdown of the related party’s
loan or such other date agreed between
the subsidiary and the related party of the
Group in which a director of the Company
has a beneficial interest.

On 16 March 2017, the subsidiary drew down
a total amount of RMB94,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$109,810,000) and on 2 June 2017, the
Group’s fully repaid the related party’s loan.

30. FABAHE ()

(vii)

ZRAEARIREER A
MHEEEEENERB
TE & % FtWholly Express
EBESAHHEE B
B OWEAESHEETA
R ¥ 2525000 7T (18 &
2,995,000 78 ) (= &
—t & AR¥3,755,000
T & » 4,330,000 /&
L)) o BB LW EAE
YAZE 2 REBK —EH
BRERS -

ZMERAR G AE —
DEWEMBEANHEAE
HeBRB R#FEURR
EEH A AR 543,000
T % R 645,000 7
TI(ZFE —+F A
R # 492,000 7T (18 & »
567,000 L)) + H Ty 1%
EHhHEMBET  EER
AEHEMISEEEE - Z

BB X S AR Al
FETHAZEZWER R

FEMERS -

BEBHA-_T—LF=
A+ —-—HK BB HEX
WE RBAEFEASEHE
—EB AR ER—B
BEAERMEARE
94,000,0007T - BBt 7 B
HER R B435% 0 BA
PRI EE: BB # sk
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39.

40.

41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)
(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties

Save as disclosed in notes 19(a), 21, 26,
28, 29 and 33 to the financial statements,
the Group had no other material outstanding
balances with related parties as at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

(c) Key management personnel of the Group are
directors of the Company, whose emoluments
are included in note 9 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

Except for a debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income being classified
as a financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as further detailed in note
16 to the financial statements, all financial assets
and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 were financial assets and financial
liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
which are due to be received or settled within
one year approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments, therefore, no disclosure of the fair
values of these financial instruments is made.

For other non-current financial assets and liabilities,
in the opinion of the directors, since their carrying
amounts are not significantly different from their
respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair
values of these financial instruments is made.

39.

40.

41.
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(b) EEBEET Z AKX A8
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B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

42,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments
comprise cash and cash equivalents, a pledged
bank deposit, debt investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income, loans from a
shareholder, bank borrowings, preference shares
of a subsidiary and perpetual convertible bonds.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is
mainly for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, other payables and receipts in
advance.

The main risk arising from the Group’s financial
instruments is foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. Since HKS$ is
pegged to US$, the Group does not have significant
foreign exchange risk in respect of its operations
in the USA. However, owing to its significant
investments and operations in Mainland China and
the UK, the Group’s financial position and operating
performance can be affected significantly by
movements in RMB/HK$ and £/HK$ exchange rates.

\

\ \
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42,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB and £ exchange rates,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax (due to changes in fair value
of monetary assets and liabilities).
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42, MEREEBEEEREREEK
($8)

S B ()
TRFATRME I RE M BURE
g MARERREEERERGIE
AREKBNERT  AEEB B
J(BER)(AEREERABATHE
HIR B BX B GURNE -

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in foreign (decrease) in
exchange rate profit before tax
Fh B 2R A0 FE
EH(FE) 2, G )
% HK$000
TFET
Year ended 31 December 2018 HE—-Z—N\&
tZA=+—-BLFE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens WaEBTLARKEE
against RMB 5 19,240
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens M E&EBTHE ARE A
against RMB (5) (19,240)
If Hong Kong dollar weakens W& BT R RERE
against £ 5 (43,601)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens & & T X EHEF{E
against £ (5) 43,601
Increase/
(decrease) Decrease/
in foreign (increase) in
exchange rate loss before tax
SN BE = HAEBE
EHA (TR WA, (48 hn)
% HK$'000
FET
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE-ZT—+t &
TZA=+—BLEE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens WEBITEARKEE
against RMB 5 (4,940)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens &8 T H A REFAE
against RMB (5) 4,940
If Hong Kong dollar weakens WMEBTRREERE
against £ 5 (9,134)

If Hong Kong dollar strengthens
against £

i %5 BT R T A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. MERBEEEREEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(continued)
Credit risk = AR B
Credit risk arises from the potential failure of the EHERERNER XS % 5 A6
Group’s counterparties to meet their obligations EEETRENYMEEERS HE LM
under property management services agreements CHETZ2EAMEE - AEBEB
and rental agreements. Credit risk exposure is ARG HENTR SR EER
minimised by undertaking transactions with a large FHTEHRES  SEHRRABAESR
number of counterparties and conducting credit Kot AEBETFTHEHRWES
reviews on prospective tenants. In addition, the BRR Z AT B & 58 A RER B T AT Uk [
Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount ST IERAREEEREG - A5 E
of trade receivables to ensure that adequate THEEERETERARRBRAMRE -
provision for impairment losses is made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk.
With respect to credit risk arising from other AREBEMSRMEETERIERE R
financial assets of the Group, which mainly SRITESREEMERZIE  AEEA
comprise cash and bank balances and other el EENERARRREAER
receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk SETEA  HXRXEREOZNE L
arises from default of the counterparty, with a TEMKE@DSE -
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.
The table below shows the credit quality and the TRITERAEEEERRNEE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the TERTEENEAEERR @ =2
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past AR @B ER (BRIFEMERAIESD
due information unless other information is available BIEBETNVENRARRBINIERTE
without undue cost or effort, and year and staging BIER—_E—NF+_A=+—H
classification as at 31 December 2018. The amounts MEEREDIE - A2V ESZEAS
presented are gross carrying amounts of financial MEEMNKRmMAAR -
assets.
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
TZHAR
HEEFS FEARRIGERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
E-KB E-RER #=ER ftri it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET TET TET TET
Trade receivables [EYE 5 &5 - - — 24,629 24,629
Financial assets included prepayments, st ATERZE 514 K
deposits and other receivables Hth R IAM
THEE 68,972 - - - 68,972
Due from related companies EWBEEARFE 13,357 — — — 13,357
Debt investment at fair value through R AFEFAEHEE
other comprehensive income WamEBRE 23,113 - - — 23113
Pledged bank deposit, not yet past due  EEEFFHET(HAEHE) 39,230 — — — 39,230
Cash and cash equivalents, not yet past B4 RBE 4L EBM(H A
\7 due g 345,163 — — — 345,163
\ ~
\ N 189,835 - — 24629 514464

N\
\
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42,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For trade receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information
is disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are
not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise amounts due from related parties
and other receivables, debt investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income and
cash and bank balances, arises from default of the
counterpart, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.

Liquidity risk

In light of the future business expansion of the
Group, the Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity
requirements and the estimated future construction
cost of the US Complex. The Group’s objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding
and flexibility through cash receipts from the issue
of shares, as well as the strict control over its daily
operating expenses. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, proceeds from a share placement
obtained and capital contributed by shareholders
by means of cash during the prior year and the
current year, respectively to finance certain of the
abovementioned capital commitments are expected
to be fulfilled by the Group after 2018. Accordingly,
the Group expects to have adequate sources of
funding to finance the Group’s operations and
manage its liquidity position.

42,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. MEREEEEERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) B R b ()
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial RIMERR  BEASITEO SR
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, R ASE SR B ER D H AR A
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, W
is as follows:
Within
On demand 1 year 1-5 years Total
REX —EN0R —Z5F &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
31 December 2018 -
T=RA=t-H
Trade payables g5 EMNFE 15,505 50,424 - 65,929
Other payables H i fE 5 3R 99,310 —_ — 99,310
Due to a director BN —REEHAE 2,557 —_ —_ 2,557
Due to a shareholder e — B R A 1,437 - - 1,437
Due to related companies B @& N A1 38 95,142 — — 95,142
Bank borrowings (note) RITER(W ) 125,564 121,446 776,084 1,023,094
Preference shares of a —HWBARN
subsidiary B R’ — 15,671 - 15,671
Liability component of KAARBRESH
perpetual convertible bonds & &2 — - 48,929 48,929
339,515 187,541 825,013 1,352,069
Within
On demand 1 year 1-5 years Total
REX —FH0R —ZERE &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
31 December 2017 —E—tfE
+=ZA=+-H
Trade payables B 5 ENFE 37,185 26,539 — 63,724
Other payables H At & 50 73,208 60,300 — 133,508
Due to a director ER—RESHE 862 — — 862
Due to a shareholder BN —BRREFKE 3,778 — — 3,778
Due to related companies XNl NGIE S| 76,899 — — 76,899
Bank borrowings (note) BATER(WiZ) 149,957 57,900 — 207,857
Preference shares of a —RMNBRAH
subsidiary BER — 1,157 18,655 19,812
Loans from a shareholder ~ REB—&ZREHEHK — 12,506 636,652 649,158

341,889 158,402 655,307 1,155,698
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42,

43.

44.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Note: One of the loan agreements contains a

repayment on demand clause giving the bank an
unconditional right to call in the loan at any time
and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount was classified as “on
demand” as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. In
accordance with the terms of the loan agreement,
the contractual undiscounted payments of this
bank borrowing amounted to HK$125,564,000
(2017: HK$149,957,000) which were repayable
within 1 year as at 31 December 2018.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 14 September 2018, the Group entered into a
purchase and sale agreement with independent third
parties to acquire the entire partnership interests
in a company which owns a residential property in
Culver City, the USA for a total cash consideration of
US$24,000,000. The transaction was completed on
27 March 2019.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to confirm to the current year’s
presentation and disclosures.

42,

43.

44,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 385 R R BT

31 December 2018 —F—\F+=-H=+—H

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 45.
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

FLOFHMBRRAR

BRAARBRNREBRNP AN K

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is MERIMT :
as follows:
2018 2017
—EB-N\EF —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment /S N 314 507
Investments in subsidiaries REBRRIMIKEE 2,062,561 591,349
Due from subsidiaries A NGRS 180,490 180,490
Non-current deposit FERBET & — 429
Total non-current assets EREBEERT 2,243,365 772,775
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Loans to subsidiaries RETFHBARMNER 390,441 337,910
Due from subsidiaries Al NI B 658,783 665,484
Due from related companies JfE Uk 38 3& A B FRIE 360 —
Prepayments, deposits and other FEfFIE - 5] & &
receivables H b & IR 2,897 1,318
Pledged bank deposit EEFRITFR 39,230 39,636
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 161,053 20,604
Total current assets MEEESE 1,252,764 1,064,952
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals EMmENRLEREA 2,773 62,455
Due to a shareholder B — R R A 1,437 3,778
Due to subsidiaries FE A B A B 5B 318 318
Total current liabilities MBBESS 4,528 66,551
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHR 1,248,236 998,401
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEABERRE
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R 3,491,601 1,771,176
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Loans from a shareholder KE—BRENER — 625,280
Due to subsidiaries FEAH I B A B 5B 391 391
Liability component of perpetual 5k A B] # i% (& % &)
convertible bonds BEHXD 48,929 —
Total non-current liabilities IEmB A EEE 49,320 625,671
Net assets BEFHE 3,442,281 1,145,505
EQUITY i
Share capital [N 3,146,571 1,780,663
Perpetual convertible bonds KA AR E S — 82,084
Equity component of perpetual KA AR AR 5 &Y
convertible bonds WD 1,084,013 —
Reserves (note) s (at) (788,303) (717,242)
Total equity B 3,442,281 1,145,505
Wei Chunxian Liu Shuhua
MaE 2=
Director Director
h EF E

\
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

46.

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

B 35 5 < BT =
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45. FLOTFHMBRRE (&)

(continued)
Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as Biit - ARBIREERZENAT
follows:
Capital ~ Share option Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
EXRfE  BRERRE 2itEE &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2017 WZE—+5-F-8 10,868 - (693371)  (682,503)
Loss for the year and TEEBER
total comprehensive loss for the year FEE2EBRAR - - (34,739) (34,739)
Equity-settied share option arrangement W& EBREG 2 - 1,167 - 1,167
Exercise of share options TiEERE - (1,167) - (1,167)
At 31 December 2017 R-E-+t5+-A=1+-H
and 1 January 2018 RZZ-N5-A-H 10,868 - (728,110) (717,242)
Loss for the year and FEEBER
total comprehensive loss for the year AEEREBRLESE - - (72,791) (72,791)
Equity-settled share options arrangement W E# & Z B R E = - 1,730 - 1,730
At 31 December 2018 R-E-NE+-A=+-E 10,868 1,730 (800901)  (788,303)
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 46. MEBEHREOH HE

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on
29 March 2019.

KMBBRRN_F-NF=ZA=-t+N
FHREZRABLIEEM -

/
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
MEFR

Attributable
interest of the

Location Use Lease term Group
BER

i B AR HEH rEBHER

Completed investment properties

EEBREDHE

Boundary House, Commercial Medium term lease 100%

7-17 Jewry Street, [EES R ERTE 4Y

London EC3N 2EX

Juxon House, Commercial Long term lease 100%
100 St Pauls Churchyard, [EES = B 49

London,

EC 4M 8BU,

the United Kingdom

Investment properties under construction

EREPREME

2300-2320 Wilshire Blvd., Residential/ Not applicable 100%
Santa Monica, Commercial A48 A

CA90403, T/ HE

the USA

A building included in property, plant and equipment
BEDE BERIREZETF

Building No. 3 of Kingdom Guorui, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
1 Ronghua South Road, EE3 HERAE 4V

Beijing Economic

Technological Development Area,

Beijing, the PRC

B4 R

A Bl A 3% [

RER 15

BlEi e &8

R E35%
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities
and total equity of the Group for the last five financial
years/period, as extracted from the published annual
report and audited financial statements, is set out below:

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RAFHGHE

AEBEBEREAMBFEE HEEEEE T
ENFREIRERMBRROKLERME
EE RABEVNEZAOBENT :

RESULTS E 4|
Eleven
months
ended
Year ended 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
B2
—E-|mF
+=A
BE+-A=1+-HLEE =t-H
“2-\f -t ZZ-RE ZZ-nf |tT-{@A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FHET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BESEER
Revenue A 361,282 229,822 216,392 76,809 5,937
Profit/(loss) before tax from BELEEBELN
continuing operations BAAE/ (EB) 7,928 (67,633) (67,395) (18,414) (13.252)
Income tax FEH 1,502 2,619 2,032 262 (202)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE KEE/HEBE
YEAR/PERIOD FROM REEBEEN
CONTINUING OPERATIONS B/ (BB 9,430 (65,014) (65,363) (18,152) (13,454)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BREGEER
Profit for the year/period REE/BEBERE
from discontinued operation BEEBEEN
ik - — — — 5,106
LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD &£ E /HE & B - (65,014) (65,363) (18,152) (8,348)
Attributable to: BER:
Shareholders of the Company ADEIRE 9,579 (65,014) (62,798) (18,152) (8,348)
Non-controlling interests RIS (149) — (2,565) — —
9,430 (65,014) (65,363) (18,152) (8,348)
fj/ff/
/"// ///
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RAFHGHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL
EQUITY

BE RARAMHERSE

At 31 December

Rt=AR=t-8H

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

ZE-N\§ ZZ—t+f ZE-Rf ZZ-Hf ZT-@E%

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET FET FHET FHET

Total assets EEBT 5,030,079 2,415,782 1,657,683 1,227,733 161,644

Total liabilities BERE (1,575,564)  (1,306,958) (502,927) (247,864) (22,304)

NET ASSETS BERH 3,454,515 1,108,824 1,154,756 979,869 139,340
Equity attributable to: FENATEI0ES -

Shareholders of the Company ARAIRE 3,431,736 1,108,824 1,160,983 987,199 139,340

Non-controlling interests FEbl R 22,779 — (6,227) (7,330) —

TOTAL EQUITY B#HAE 3,454,515 1,108,824 1,154,756 979,869 139,340

O\
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